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our Vision 

Our vision is to be the 

customer’s first choice for 

insurance, retirement and 

financial services. We are 

committed to providing 

our customers with financial 

security and peace of mind 

through innovative solutions, 

which provide excellent value.

The Argus Group 

Building on decades of experience and a strong 

capital base, Argus provides a broad range of 

insurance, retirement and financial services to 

meet the needs of both businesses and individuals.

our Mission

We will achieve our vision by: 

• Focusing first on the needs of the market 

 segments we choose to serve

• Building upon the strength of the Argus name

• Introducing innovative products and 

 enhancements

• Continuing to focus on direct distribution 

 as our primary channel, while developing 

 alternative channels such as intermediaries, 

strategic partnerships and technology

• Recruiting and retaining the very best people

• Developing knowledgeable people who 

 provide fast, friendly and convenient service 

 to our customers

• Developing our ability to perform as one 

 cross-functional team

• Exploring opportunities to exploit our leading 

financial performance and  capital position
   

In addition, Argus will look for growth 

opportunities by expanding into related business 

products and services.

our PhilosoPhy And VAlues 

As we interact with our colleagues and 
meet our responsibilities to our customers, 

shareholders and the community, we 

welcome the challenge inherent in change, 

while adhering to values that remain 

constant.  

• We do not compromise on individual 

 or corporate honesty or integrity

• We respect every person as an individual

• We actively promote competence and 

 professionalism within our organisation

• We achieve higher levels of performance 

through teamwork

• We recognise that fairness is critical 

 in reaching decisions

• We promote and acclaim creativity 

 as we strive to achieve our goals
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Integral to our philosophy and values is the commitment of our resources to helping the community. We do this by 
making donations and providing volunteers to support numerous charities and fundraising events throughout the 

year. A timeline of these efforts runs through the course of the Report to Shareholders. 
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FinAnCiAl And sHAreHolder dAtA 

Five yeAR summARy

	  (Restated)   
 2014* 2013*	 2012	 2011	 2010 

FoR the yeAR (In $ thousands) 

total revenue  163,157	 171,574	 154,787	 138,188	 131,679

earnings/(loss) for the year attributable
to shareholders of the Company  13,245 12,839	 1,696	 (6,092)	 (18,435)

Cash dividends  2,522	 -	 -	 8,414	 12,187

At yeAR end (In $ thousands) 

total general Fund Assets  430,090 431,391	 386,423	 533,459	 533,887

shareholders’ equity 106,866 94,391	 83,794	 82,406	 96,415

FinAnCiAl RAtios

earnings per share – fully diluted  $0.63 $0.61	 $0.08	 $(0.29)	 $(0.88)

return on average shareholders’ equity 13.2% 14.5%	 2.0%	 (6.8%)	 (17.5%)

shAReholdeR dAtA

shares in issue  21,525,159 21,511,163	 21,511,163	 21,511,163	 21,511,163

Book value per share  $4.96 $4.39	 $3.90	 $3.83	 $4.48

numbeR oF employees  203 202	 201	 199	 171

*Effective April 1, 2013, Argus Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries adopted the new and amended accounting standards as discussed in Note 2.19. 
The 2013 comparatives were restated for the adoption of these new and amended accounting standards.     
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our commitment to our stakeholders is to foster strong, long-term, one-on-one 

relationships built on loyalty, service and trust, and we accomplish this by behaving 

with honesty, openness and transparency in everything we do. By leveraging 

industry-leading knowledge from dedicated, caring and respected professionals, 

we make sure we put the needs of clients and staff first.

We feel our new brand position, ‘our interest is You’ nicely sums up our innate desire 

to take care of people and our commitment to our staff, our clients, our shareholders and 

our community. And that’s what we believe makes Argus unique.  

our focus is on 
our stakeholders. 
Because they 
are what makes 
us succeed.
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RepoRt to shAReholdeRs

Argus selected SCARS Bermuda as one of its key community 
partners, helping the charity reach more adults with its 
‘Darkness to Light Stewards of Children’ training programme. 
Support was given in the form of a financial donation and 
by providing conference room facilities where the training 
takes place.

J
A

n
u

A
R

Y Argus again teamed up with the Centre on Philanthropy for 
the Argus Walks the Walk event – the only charity walk where 
participants choose which charity receives their entry fee 
as a donation. Also this month, Argus was the title sponsor 
for the expanded Jump 2b Fit campaign, organised by the 
Bermuda Heart Foundation.

f
E

B
R

u
A

R
Y

tHE YEAR in REViEW

net earnings for the Argus group were $13.2 million 

for the year ended march 31, 2014 compared to $12.8 

million in the prior year.  

these earnings have been achieved against a back-

drop of global economic challenges that have lingered 

for several years and continued volatility in invest-

ment markets. these positive results are underpinned 

by strong business fundamentals, primarily: 

• continued strong performance from our core 

business operations, 

• very high client retention levels despite fiercely 

competitive markets,

• efficient management of operating expenses,

• strong governance and risk management 

 processes, and 

• sustained efforts to optimise the Balance sheet 

and capital structure in a considered and orderly 

fashion. 

management and your Board believe that there are 

signs that the economic downturn in Bermuda and 

elsewhere may have bottomed out, but economic 

recovery will be slow. the group continues to make 

progress with its strategic goal of focusing on mar-

kets where Argus can grow and earn higher returns 

within acceptable risk tolerances. Accordingly, we 

remain confident that the Argus group is well posi-

tioned for the future.

shareholders’ equity now stands at $106.9 million, up 

from $94.4 million one year ago, and remains sub-

stantially in excess of the minimum statutory capital 

required to conduct the group’s various insurance  

and investment related businesses. the result for the 

year represents a return on average shareholders’                     

equity of 13.2 percent compared to 14.5 percent for 

the previous year.

during the year under review the Company resumed 

the payment of dividends to shareholders in accor-

dance with the group’s revised dividend policy. As  

reported last year, this policy anticipates that divi-

dends will be considered on a semi-annual basis to 

coincide with the six-monthly reporting cycles to 

which the group adheres. in normal circumstances, it 

is intended that this will consist of an interim and final 

dividend for each financial year and be based upon 

the results as declared for the prior financial year.

thus in July 2013 and January 2014, the Board de-

clared interim and final dividends each of six cents                            

per share. Based upon the audited financial results 

of the group for the year ended march 31, 2014, the 

Board has declared an interim dividend of seven cents 

per share payable on september 15, 2014 for share-

holders of record on August 11, 2014.
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In partnership with the Bermuda Dietitians Association (BDA), 
Argus launched the inaugural ‘School Nutrition Champions’ 
competition as part of the BDA’s Nutrition Month activities 
to help inform children and their families about healthy eating 
and to increase public awareness of Bermuda’s daily dietary 
and physical exercise guidelines.

M
A

R
C

H Argus teamed with the Bermuda National Athletics Association 
and Bermuda Olympic Association to organise the inaugural 
Women In Sports Expo at the Fairmont Hamilton Princess Hotel. 
The event brought together women ranging from elite status, 
to para-athletes and amateur athletes for a discussion on 
women’s issues and how the community can become more active.

A
P

R
iL

the Company’s share price moved during the year 

from a low of $3.20 to a high of $4.70 per share. 

Based upon the average price in the year of $3.90 

per share, the dividends paid provided an annualised                                           

yield of 3.1 percent. 

during the year, management successfully launched 

the dividend reinvestment programme or “drip”, 

whereby shareholders are afforded the opportunity 

to use their cash dividends to buy more shares in the 

Company, thereby compounding the returns for those 

shareholders that choose to do so. We are pleased 

to note that 160 shareholders, representing over 1.1 

million shares have signed up for this programme.

during June 2014, the ratings agency A.m. Best con-

firmed the group’s outlook as “stable” and affirmed 

the financial strength of B++ (good) and issuer credit 

rating of bbb.

finAnCiAL RESuLtS

Net Earnings for the Year attributable to Sharehold-

ers of the Company were $13.2 million for the year 

ended march 31, 2014 compared to $12.8 million for 

the previous year. the Earnings per share was $0.63 

compared to $0.61 last year.

As at march 31, 2014, Total Assets, including Segregat-

ed Fund Assets, stood at $2.1 billion and Shareholders’ 

Equity increased to $106.9 million from $94.4 million 

one year ago.

Net premiums written increased by $3.0 million, or 

two percent, arising from a combination of new busi-

ness and very high client retention levels. overall, Net 

Benefits and Claims decreased by seven percent as 

the group experienced a benign claims year in our 

health, and property and casualty portfolios.

Investment income and Share of earnings of associ-

ates decreased significantly when compared to the 

prior year. the accounting policy under international 

Financial reporting standards (iFrs) requires the  

valuation of the majority of our investments at fair 

value which can and often does lead to significant 

volatility of financial results, especially in our life and 

annuity businesses. As a result, the group reported an 

unrealised loss on our fixed income portfolio of $5.3 

million compared to a $2.7 million gain in the prior 

year. this arose as the increase in interest rates in the 

year served to decrease the fair value of the group’s 

extensive fixed income portfolios.

Commissions, management fees and other fell two 

percent compared to the prior year due to decreased 

profit commissions offset by an increase in manage-

ment fees commensurate with the rise in assets under 

management.

Operating expenses have decreased three percent 

over the previous year reflecting the tight budgetary 

control and monitoring processes exercised by man-

agement.

PRoPERtY AnD CASuALtY, BERMuDA 

despite intense and overtly aggressive competition 

in the marketplace, the division continues to maintain 

its disciplined approach to underwriting. this coupled 

with the group commitment to proactive customer 

service has resulted in high levels of retention and 

produced a solid result for the year.

overall, gross premiums for the division were slight-

ly down on the prior year reflecting the recession in                                                                                            

Bermuda as clients constantly seek ways to econo-

mise by reducing their insurance spend to an absolute 

minimum. 
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the fire portfolio, which protects our insureds from 

fire and windstorm damage, among other perils, has 

once again performed satisfactorily due to several 

factors. these include a catastrophe-free year, for 

which we are thankful, combined with various cost 

containment measures principally driven by the con-

tinued streamlining of processes.

the accident and marine portfolios performed within 

planned parameters and continue to contribute to  

the overall profitability of the division.

PRoPERtY AnD CASuALtY, EuRoPE 

once again it has been a challenging year in both  

our european jurisdictions of gibraltar and malta.                                                

Aggressive competition abounds and the effect of 

the downturn in economic activity and contraction 

in spending on capital projects has continued to slow 

premium growth. As a consequence, management 

has remained focused on client retention and rein-

forcing client relationships to protect our accounts.

in malta, further progress was made in diversifying 

the portfolio away from being overweight in motor 

risks. Action has been taken to re-engineer the port-

folio through withdrawal from loss-making sectors 

and further increases in rates where appropriate. 

strong growth in the home and also commercial port-

folios was achieved as a result of the launch of up-

graded products and a revised distribution strategy.  

non-motor business now accounts for 25 percent of 

the portfolio and this is expected to increase to 30 

percent by the end of 2015. 

in both jurisdictions the finance and commercial                                            

departments were strengthened by added resources 

and reorganised to further improve internal controls 

and processes to cater for new systems.

Following mr. Andrew Baker’s retirement earlier in the 

year, dr. vanessa Borg was appointed Chief executive 

in malta. 

gRouP inSuRAnCE 

the group insurance division, comprised of group 

health, life, long-term disability and workers’ compen-

sation products in Bermuda, has once again performed 

well in spite of challenging economic conditions. 

Whilst retention levels have remained high for group 

insurance business, the average insured headcount 

over the year has decreased, indicating that the  

total number of employees insured within groups has 

continued to fall as employers reduce staff in the face 

of a weak economy. We have also seen an increasing 

number of employers reducing their level of benefit 

coverage and switching to lower cost plans. As more 

employers opt for lower cost plans, the restricted 

benefits available under these plans have led to some 

containment of incurred claims.

the division has seen success over the past year  

in the expansion of the preferred provider network, 

an overseas network of selected medical facilities  

focused on quality patient care at excellent value. the 

expansion of the preferred provider network high-

lights the continued success in cost containment for 

overseas claims.

We are committed to collaborating with the ministry 

of Health, seniors and environment and the Bermuda 

Health Council to improve the local healthcare sys-

tem. the budget reduction for the ministry of Health 

and subsequent transfer of certain health costs from 

government to private health insurers and their cus-

tomers represents most of the increase in premium 
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As part of a new Business Partnership Initiative of mentoring 
students at West Pembroke Primary School through YouthNet, 
volunteers from Argus have been visiting the school on a 
weekly basis to read to and mentor two classes of P2 students 
as well as making a financial donation to cover the cost of 
books used.

M
A

Y In partnership with the Bermuda Diabetes Association, Argus 
hosted the highly successful, free seminar entitled ‘Sugar: 
The Bitter Truth’ with guest speaker, Dr. Robert H. Lustig, MD, 
a worldwide authority on obesity and the underlying causes – 
principally that of added sugar in food and drink.

J
u

n
E

for 2014–2015 year. the additional cost of the services 

transferred from the Bermuda government is approx-

imately seven percent premium inflation. Were it not 

for these changes in legislation, the health insurance 

premiums for our clients across the entire portfolio 

would have been less than the current general rate 

of inflation. 

A key challenge for Bermuda’s health care system 

continues to be the rise in chronic non-communicable 

diseases. preventing and managing these diseases is 

critical to managing health care costs for the future. 

over the upcoming year, we will be piloting a focused 

patient advocacy programme in collaboration with 

Johns Hopkins medicine international. the goal of 

this programme is to assist with the management and 

coordination of care for our clients with chronic ill-

nesses with the goal of improving health outcomes 

both for our clients and the community as a whole.

PEnSionS 

We are pleased to report that pension assets under 

management have continued to increase and the                                             

client base has remained stable over the year. in addi-

tion, the Argus select Funds that offer a broad range 

of investment options and styles to suit the needs of 

all of our plan members, have performed well during 

the year.   

With increasing life-expectancy and lower birth rates, 

our client base is ageing in line with population pro-

jections.  this is compounded by the recent reduction 

in the guest-worker population of mostly younger 

people. Accordingly, through educational workshops, 

we continue to emphasise the importance of planning 

for retirement to ensure that residents have sufficient 

funds to sustain them in their retirement years.  

in February 2014, our 401k plan was expanded to  

include American spouses of Bermudians and those 

with dual citizenship. Argus is the only financial insti-

tution to offer a solution for American employees that 

complies with internal revenue service (irs) require-

ments as well as both Bermuda and us pension and 

tax legislation. 

intERnAtionAL LifE 

our international life division offers insurance solu-

tions to high net worth clients globally. Building on  

the success of 2013, the international life division 

added a further $106 million of new business during 

the 2014 financial year. several new distribution chan-

nels were established and, as a result, a number of 

new investment-linked life and annuity products have 

been developed and added to our existing suite. We 

are confident for the future and believe that interna-

tional life will continue to make a meaningful contri-

bution to the Argus group.

AfL inVEStMEntS 

AFl enjoyed a satisfactory year with high client reten-

tion driven in large part by its focus on delivering a 

high level of servicing to its client base. in addition, 

the changes that were implemented in the Argus                                      

select Funds the previous year have now had a period 

of time to demonstrate that the adjustments were 

positive to performance, something that our clients 

greatly appreciated. 

in march 2014, there was a transition of senior  

management as mrs. Cindy Campbell moved to be 

appointed executive vice president, strategic devel-

opment and mr. Joel schaefer, a 20 year veteran of 

the Bermuda investment community, joined AFl as 
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Home essentials, a home and property protection insurance policy, was designed 

to meet the changing lifestyle of Bermuda’s increasing senior population. 

to make the offer more accessible, we lowered the age of eligibility for the offer to 

60 years, five years younger than the original age eligibility. A move like this helps 

to bring peace of mind to a lot more people.

Argus is committed to delivering value to our stakeholders, which is why we continually 

think of ways to deliver unique products to help our clients solve their financial and 

insurance needs.

We want more 
seniors to have 
peace of mind. 
now they can 
at age 60 
instead of 65.
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each year the people-based survey endeavours to fi nd out which of the island’s companies 

offer the most rewarding work environment across a number of key employment areas 

including: corporate culture, staff benefi ts, internal communication and overall satisfaction, 

among others. We are so pleased that the Argus group has been recognised as one of the 

best companies to work for on the island, and has placed fi fth in the 2013 survey!

At Argus, we believe in a healthy work/life balance. By injecting a bit of fun into the work 

environment, employees are more engaged and have a greater sense of job satisfaction, lead-

ing to better customer service, increased productivity, and a better workplace atmosphere.

our work is important.
Which is why we believe 
the people who work 
here are too.
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Argus, in collaboration with the Argo Foundation, supported 
the Bermuda Cricket Board’s 2013 Summer Clinic, making it 
more accessible to the local youth community at a subsidised 
rate. This helped to keep Bermuda’s children active over the 
summer months playing a sport they love.

J
u

LY A long-time supporter of the Adult Education School, due to 
their work with the community in increasing education and job 
skills, Argus made a financial donation to help the organisation 
prepare for the new GED test format, in line with new adult 
education standards introduced by the U.S. Department of 
Education. 

A
u

g
u

S
t

president & Chief executive officer. We believe that 

mr. schaefer’s arrival will provide an opportunity to 

grow the business and strengthen our investment                                                    

expertise still further. 

SALES AnD MARKEting 

mrs. Wanda richardson transferred into the new  

position of Head of Client solutions, effective August 

2013, and is responsible for leading and developing 

cross functional design, delivery of holistic client                                                             

solutions and brand channel management strate-

gies that maximise sales and business development                           

opportunities.

our commitment to our stakeholders is clear: we aim 

to foster strong, long-term, one-on-one relationships 

built on loyalty, service and trust. We deliver on our 

promise to our stakeholders by behaving with hon-

esty, openness and transparency in everything we do. 

We leverage industry-leading knowledge from dedi-

cated, caring and respected professionals, putting                               

the needs of clients and staff at the centre of our 

decision-making. We believe our new brand position 

‘our interest is You’ sums up our commitment, that 

Argus is a company that cares deeply about our staff, 

our clients, our shareholders and our community. 

And it is this innate desire to take care of people that 

makes Argus the unique company that it is. under this 

new brand positioning, ‘our interest is You’, we have 

created a new logo, which will be used to present ‘Why 

we do what we do … and who we do it for’.

infoRMAtion tECHnoLogY (it) 

the group it function continues to focus on the de-

velopment of infrastructure platforms that provide 

improved service delivery across multiple business 

units. group insurance is a particular emphasis, as we 

bring new systems on line during the coming fiscal 

year to give our clients significantly greater function-

ality and flexibility.

these new systems will allow the group to leverage 

the same software platforms in differing jurisdic-

tions, which helps to position us as an efficient service                                       

provider.

We are entering the core stages of removing obsolete 

legacy systems and hardware, which will lower our 

operational costs and increase efficiency. it will also 

allow us to focus further on providing on-line transac-

tional capabilities. this is supported by the standardi-

sation of our web platform, which is now being used in 

all jurisdictions.

We continue to work on the development of multi 

country support capability leveraging commonality 

of systems. these it activities are creating the opera-

tional platform to support our longer term strategic 

aims.

RiSK AnD CoMPLiAnCE

the group’s risk management framework and risk 

appetite policy were developed by management and 

formally approved by the Board of directors over the 

past year. the framework and policy form the basis of 

a robust system of internal control and provides guide-

lines on how to identify and mitigate material risks to 

which we may be exposed. details of the group risk 

management framework are fully described in note 14 

to the consolidated financial statements.

during the fiscal year, we remained in compliance with 

the Bermuda monetary Authority’s insurance Code 
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R Through a financial donation, Argus supported Chain Reaction 
Bermuda, a voluntary programme aimed at disarming bullying 
and preventing violence through kindness, respect and 
understanding in schools. The programme was offered to 
students aged 11 to 18 at Sandys Secondary Middle School in 
the Fall 2013 semester at no cost. 

of Conduct, the Bermuda solvency Capital require-

ments (BsCr), and the requirements of our regula-

tors in malta and gibraltar. We are actively implement-

ing the requirements of the united states Foreign                                    

Account tax Compliance Act (FAtCA). to that end, we 

have identified the products and clients that will be 

impacted by FAtCA and have completed the online 

registration with the irs.

HuMAn RESouRCES (HR)

in november 2013, ms. kellianne smith joined the 

group and replaced mrs. Wanda richardson as Head 

of global Human resources and organisational  

development. in this position ms. smith manages                               

and directs the strategies that build upon the com-

petencies of employees, promotes accountability, and 

ensures maximum levels of employee productivity 

and creativity. 

this year we continue to focus on the europe Hr 

integration plan, by standardising and aligning Hr                                       

policies, practices and benefits between corporate 

and overseas offices.  

                       

in november 2013, Argus participated for the first 

time in the Bottom line magazine’s annual survey to 

identify the top 10 employers in Bermuda and was 

awarded fifth place. At Argus group, we strongly be-

lieve that we provide a rewarding work environment 

across a number of key employment areas including: 

corporate culture, staff benefits, internal communica-

tions, workplace safety and conditions, and overall 

employee satisfaction. 

 

the Argus group was awarded the investors in people 

(iip) gold standard last year, and we continue to build 

upon the development of our people and strength-

ening overall staff engagement. We are excited that  

Argus was selected by iip as a case study for man-

aging change for inclusion on their international iip 

website.  

CoMMunitY 

the group actively supports organisations and com-

munity events for the benefit of all in Bermuda. our 

corporate giving programme continues to focus on 

the theme of “prevention” as Argus is in the business 

of helping our clients prevent financial and physical 

misfortune. Argus has supported a selection of chari-

ties that are making a positive difference in the com-

munity and to the lives of young people in particular. 

the charity partnerships forged during the year were 

with: the Family Centre, the Centre Against Abuse, 

the Chewstick Foundation, meals on Wheels, the eliza 

dolittle society, pride Bermuda and the Bermuda 

Zoological society.

in addition we supported a number of community 

events that are in line with our wellness philosophy 

including the very popular Bermuda national trust 

palm sunday Walk, the Argus Walks the Walk with the 

Centre on philanthropy Charity 5k Walk and the Argus 

Crime stoppers 5k road race & Walk. the group also 

continued to sponsor the Jump 2B Fit programme or-

ganised by the Bermuda Heart Foundation, where the 

emphasis is placed on improving the level of fitness 

of children in our schools. We also teamed up with 

the Bermuda national Athletics Association and the 

Bermuda olympic Association and held the inaugural 

Women in sports expo, designed to encourage equi-

table participation by girls and women in physical rec-

reation and sports. the event not only increased the 

profile of sports to females, it also drives awareness of 

the importance of physical activity for health reasons. 
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Argus understands the importance of gaining valuable life experience in the workforce at a 

young age and is dedicated to helping the next generation of Bermudians achieve that objective. 

By supporting the Family Centre’s “Building my Future” programme, 21 youths have been 

able to obtain work experience that taught them accountability and responsibility, which we 

believe will provide a new perspective as they continue their studies and strive for success.

Argus has always been a strong supporter of the Community. We believe in ‘doing well 

by doing good’ and we are very proud to be able to contribute to future generations of the 

island community. 

We know what 
it takes to get 
a great job. 
it’s our goal to 
help the next 
generation get 
one as well.
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Sheila E. nicoll 
CHAirmAn

Alison S. Hill 
CHieF exeCutive oFFiCer

o
C

t
o

B
E

R Argus joined forces with the Bermuda Diabetes Association 
to support Diabetes Awareness Month by sponsoring the 
organisation’s first ‘Moon Walk for Diabetes’ as well as a lunch 
seminar on ‘Healthy Living with Diabetes’. Both events were 
designed to raise awareness and support for diabetes education 
and outreach in Bermuda.

n
o

V
E

M
B

E
RIn association with Swan’s Running Club, Argus sponsored the 

annual Argus Crime Stoppers 5K Road Race and Walk and a 
Junior Walk. The event raises awareness for Crime Stoppers 
Bermuda, a civilian community service that enables anyone with 
details of criminal activity to report information anonymously 
through a confidential hotline phone number or website.

We partnered this year with the Bermuda diabetes 

Association and hosted a free seminar for the public 

entitled ‘sugar: the Bitter truth’. the speaker was                           

dr. robert H. lustig, md, who is known worldwide as 

the authority on obesity and its underlying causes – 

principally that of added sugar in food and drink.   

in July 2013, the natWest island games xv was held 

in Bermuda. more than 2,000 athletes from 24 island 

countries around the world competed in the largest 

multi-sport event ever held in our country. the Argus 

group was pleased to be one of a few local compa-

nies that supported this landmark event by becoming 

a ‘premier’ level sponsor for the games. As an added 

privilege we were also able to honour our relation-

ship with gibraltar by donating all the playing kits and 

track suits for the gibraltar team. We were delighted 

to be a part of the island games and happy we were 

able to contribute to its success.  

Finally we continue to assist the Bermuda sloop Foun-

dation by the provision of office space as a donation-

in-kind.   

foRWARD LooKing StAtEMEntS

Certain statements in this report may be deemed to 

include ‘forward looking statements’ and are based on 

management’s current expectations and are subject 

to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. Actual 

results may differ materially from those included in 

these statements due to a variety of factors includ-

ing worldwide economic conditions, success in busi-

ness retention and obtaining new business and other                                     

factors.

nEW DiRECtoR

on February 28, 2014, mr. timothy C. Faries was ap-

pointed to the Board to fill a casual vacancy.  mr. Faries 

is a partner of Appleby, the Bermuda group head of 

the Corporate and Commercial department and the 

insurance and reinsurance sector leader. mr. Faries  

has extensive experience with Bermuda insurance law 

and regulation, public and private insurance company 

capital raising and m&A activity, public listings on us, 

uk and european securities exchanges, the establish-

ment and licensing of alternative risk financing vehi-

cles, and captive insurance companies in established 

and emerging markets.  

notE of APPRECiAtion

on behalf of the Board and management, we would 

like to express our appreciation to mr. s. reginald                        

minors who will be retiring from the Board at the 

forthcoming Annual general meeting in september 

2014. We are grateful for his twenty years of service                               

as a director of the Company.

Finally we wish to thank our shareholders and clients 

for their continued support and acknowledge and 

commend the hard work and commitment of our staff.

July 17, 2014
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FinAnCiAl stAtements
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mAnAgement’s Responsibility FoR the FinAnCiAl stAtements

the accompanying consolidated financial statements and other financial information in this Annual report have been 
prepared by the group’s management, which is responsible for their integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. 
to fulfill this responsibility, the group maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to ensure that its 
reporting practices and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate to provide a high degree of assur-
ance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced and assets are safeguarded. these controls include 
the careful selection and training of employees, the establishment of well-defined areas of responsibility and account-
ability for performance, and the communication of policies and a code of conduct throughout the group. in addition, the 
group maintains an internal Audit department that conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the group’s operations. 
the internal Audit department reports directly to the Audit Committee.

these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with international Financial reporting 
standards and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment. the financial information 
presented throughout this Annual report is generally consistent with the information contained in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.

kpmg Audit limited, the independent chartered professional accountants appointed by the shareholders, have exam-
ined the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 18 through 79 in accordance with international standards 
on Auditing to enable them to express to the shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. their 
report is shown opposite.

the consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of directors acting 
through the Audit Committee, which is comprised of directors who are not officers or employees of the group. the 
Audit Committee, which meets with the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the 
Board of directors, oversees management’s responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal control systems.  
the auditors have full and direct access to the Audit Committee and meet periodically with the committee, both with 
and without management present, to discuss their audit and related findings.

these consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on July 17, 2014.   

July 17, 2014	

David W. Pugh
CHieF FinAnCiAl oFFiCer

Alison S. Hill
CHieF exeCutive oFFiCer
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independent AuditoRs’ RepoRt

Chartered professional Accountants

Hamilton, Bermuda

July 25, 2014

to tHE SHAREHoLDERS of ARguS gRouP HoLDingS LiMitED AnD SuBSiDiARiES
We have audited the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of Argus group Holdings limited (the “group”), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at march 31, 2014, and the consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash fl ows for the year ended march 31, 2014, and notes, comprising a 
summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

MAnAgEMEnt’S RESPonSiBiLitY foR tHE finAnCiAL StAtEMEntS
management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated fi nancial statements in ac-
cordance with international Financial reporting standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AuDitoRS’ RESPonSiBiLitY
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with international standards on Auditing. those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fi nancial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements. the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, 
we consider internal control relevant to the group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated fi nancial state-
ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of express-
ing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

oPinion
in our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated fi nancial 
position of Argus group Holdings limited as at march 31, 2014, and its consolidated fi nancial performance and its con-
solidated cash fl ows for the year ended march 31, 2014 in accordance with international Financial reporting standards.
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	 	 	 	 Restated*			
	 	 	 March	31		 MaRch	31
(In $ thousands)	 Note	 2014				 2013	

Assets
cash	and	short-term	investments		 	 31,340			 30,326
Interest	and	dividends	receivable		 	 3,930			 2,706
Investments		 3	 255,952			 250,518
Insurance	balances	receivable			 6	 13,057				 18,469
Reinsurers’	share	of:			
	 claims	provisions			 12	 13,992			 14,001
	 Unearned	premiums			 12	 9,422			 10,202	
Other	assets		 8	 9,019			 7,982
Deferred	policy	acquisition	costs		 9	 2,279			 2,182
Investment	in	associates		 5	 11,292			 10,830
Investment	properties			 7	 5,885			 6,936
Property	and	equipment			 10	 69,282			 71,719
Intangible	assets		 11	 4,640			 5,520

ToTal	General	Fund	asseTs			 	 430,090				 431,391
ToTal	seGreGaTed	Fund	asseTs			 28	 1,657,818				 1,476,685

ToTal	asseTs			 	 2,087,908				 1,908,076

liAbilities
Insurance	contract	liabilities	 12	 200,910				 198,144
Insurance	balances	payable	 16	 14,185				 10,772
Payable	for	investments	purchased	 	 558			 21,530
Investment	contract	liabilities	 13	 86,413				 83,932
Taxes	payable	 	 66				 61
accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities			 	 15,444		 16,580
Post-employment	benefit	liability	 15	 4,218			 4,524

ToTal	General	Fund	liabiliTies			 	 321,794				 335,543
ToTal	seGreGaTed	Fund	liabiliTies			 28	 1,657,818				 1,476,685

ToTal	liabiliTies	 	 1,979,612				 1,812,228

equity
attributable	to	Shareholders	of	the	company				 	
	 Share	capital	 	 16,939				 16,742
	 contributed	surplus	 	 52,578				 52,615
	 Retained	earnings	 	 41,169				 30,467
	 accumulated	other	comprehensive	loss			 30	 (3,820)				 (5,433)

ToTal	equiTy	aTTribuTable	To	shareholders	oF	The	coMpany		 	 106,866				 94,391

attributable	to	non-controlling	interests			 	 1,430				 1,457

ToTal	equiTy	 		 108,296				 95,848

ToTal	equiTy	and	liabiliTies	 	 2,087,908					 1,908,076

*See Note 2.19.1

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.	 	

ConsolidAted bAlAnCe sheet
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ConsolidAted stAtement oF opeRAtions	

	 			 	 	 		 	 	 Restated*
For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands, except per share data)	 Note	 2014				 2013	

	 		 	 	
	
Revenue
Gross	premiums	written	 	 166,885			 162,167
Reinsurance	ceded			 	 (41,871)		 (40,179)

Net	premiums	written			 	 125,014					 121,988
Net	change	in	unearned	premiums	 20	 (700)	 	1,210

Net	premiums	earned						 	 124,314				 123,198
Investment	income	 3	 6,887		 	15,799
Share	of	earnings	of	associates	 5	 734			 714
commissions,	management	fees	and	other	 23	 31,222		 31,863

	 		 	 163,157		 	171,574

expenses
Policy	benefits	 	 14,406	 	13,196
claims	and	adjustment	expenses					 	 90,541					 88,253
Reinsurance	recoveries					 21	 (11,623)					 (5,890)
Gross	change	in	contract	liabilities					 22	 1,580					 9,649
change	in	reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions					 22	 342					 (2,595)

neT	beneFiTs	and	claiMs	 	 95,246			 102,613
commission	expenses				 	 4,895			 5,015
Operating	expenses			 24	 42,579			 43,729
amortisation,	depreciation	and	impairment	 10	;	11	 6,727			 6,827
Interest	on	loan	 	 -		 193

	 		 	 149,447			 158,377

earninGs	beFore	incoMe	Taxes				 	 13,710			 13,197
Income	taxes	 27	 60		 8

neT	earninGs	For	The	year	 	 13,650			 13,189

attributable	to:				 	 					
	 Shareholders	of	the	company			 	 13,245			 12,839
	 Non-controlling	interests			 	 405			 350

	 		 	 13,650	 13,189

Earnings	per	share:	 19	
	 basic			 	 0.63	 0.61
	 fully	diluted			 	 0.63	 0.61

*See Note 2.19.1

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.



2014 AnnuAl RepoRt          Argus group Holdings limited                    20 

ConsolidAted stAtement oF CompRehensive inCome 

	 			 	 	 		 	 	 Restated*
For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands, except per share data)	 Note	 2014				 2013

net eARnings FoR the yeAR				 	 13,650			 13,189

oTher	coMprehensive	incoMe/(loss)
Items	that	will	not	be	reclassified	to	net	earnings:			
	 Remeasurement	of	post-employment	medical	benefit	obligation	 15	 492	 (263)
Items	that	are	or	may	subsequently	be	reclassified	to	net	earnings:
	 change	in	unrealised	(losses)/gains	on	available-for-sale	investments	 	 (20)	 24	
	 Share	of	other	comprehensive	loss	of	associates			 5	 (2)	 (308)
	 change	in	unrealised	gains/(losses)	on	translating	financial	statements	
	 			of	foreign	operations	 			 1,143	 (698)

oTher	coMprehensive	incoMe/(loss)	For	The	year			 	 1,613					 (1,245)

coMprehensive	incoMe	For	The	year			 	 15,263					 11,944

oTher	coMprehensive	incoMe/(loss)	aTTribuTable	To:				 	 		
	 Shareholders	of	the	company		 	 1,613			 (1,245)
	 Non-controlling	interests			 	 -			 -

	 				 	 	 	 1,613					 (1,245)

coMprehensive	incoMe	aTTribuTable	To:				 	 		
	 Shareholders	of	the	company		 	 14,858			 11,594
	 Non-controlling	interests			 	 405			 350

	 				 	 	 	 15,263					 11,944

*See Note 2.19.1

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	 			 	 	 		 	 	 Restated*
For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands)	 Note	 2014				 2013	

	 	

shARe CApitAl
authorised:		 	 	

25,000,000	common	shares	of	$1.00	each	(2013	–	25,000,000)		 	 25,000			 25,000

Issued	and	fully	paid,	beginning	of	year	21,511,163	shares	
	 (2013	–	21,511,163	shares)	 	 21,511			 21,511
add:	Shares	issued	under	the	dividend	reinvestment	plan	13,996	shares	 18	 14	 -
Deduct:	Shares	held	in	Treasury,	at	cost	468,701	shares		
	 (2013	–	510,041	shares)	 	 (4,586)	 	(4,769)

ToTal,	neT	oF	shares	held	in	Treasury,	end	oF	year			 	 16,939				 	16,742

ContRibuted suRplus			 	 				 	
Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 52,615	 52,737
Stock-based	compensation	expense			 	 87				 44
Treasury	shares	granted	to	employees	 25	 (191)	 (166)
Shares	issued	under	the	dividend	reinvestment	plan			 18	 44				 -
Transaction	with	non-controlling	interests	 	 23	 -

balance,	end	oF	year	 	 52,578		 52,615

RetAined eARnings	
Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 30,467	 18,032
Net	earnings	for	the	year		 	 13,245		 12,839
Dividends	 18	 (2,522)	 -
Loss	on	treasury	shares	granted	to	employees	 	 (21)	 (404)

balance,	end	oF	year	 	 41,169	 30,467

ACCumulAted otheR CompRehensive loss	
Balance,	beginning	of	year			 	 (5,433)	 		(4,188)		
Other	comprehensive	income/(loss)	for	the	year	 	 1,613	 (1,245)

balance,	end	oF	year	 30	 (3,820)	 (5,433)

ToTal	equiTy	aTTribuTable	To	shareholders	oF	The	coMpany	 	 106,866	 94,391

AttRibutAble to non-ContRolling inteRests
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year			 	 1,457		 2,343
	 Net	earnings	for	the	year			 	 405		 350
	 Distributions	to	non-controlling	interests		 	 (409)		 (1,236)
	 changes	due	to	business	combination		 	 (23)		 -

balance,	end	oF	year			 	 1,430				 1,457

ToTal	equiTy			 	 108,296				 95,848

*See Note 2.19.1

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

ConsolidAted stAtement oF ChAnges in equity
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	 			 	 	 		 	 	 Restated*
For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands)	 	 2014				 2013

opeRAting ACtivities
Earnings	before	income	taxes	 	 13,710			 13,197
adjustments	to	reconcile	net	earnings	to	cash	basis	(Footnote	(i)	below)			 	 451		 (8,565)
change	in	operating	balances	(Footnote	(ii)	below)			 	 11,802			 23,580
Interest	income	received			 	 7,407			 4,297
Dividend	income	received			 	 1,794			 1,477
Income	taxes	paid			 	 (61)			 (130)

cash	GeneraTed	FroM	operaTinG	acTiviTies 		 	 35,103			 33,856

investing ACtivities
Purchase	of	investments			 	 (388,906)		 (756,789)
Sale	and	maturity	of	investments			 	 359,382		 718,808	
Purchase	of	property	and	equipment	 	 (3,148)	 (1,739)
Sale	of	investment	property			 	 925		 -	
Purchase	of	intangible	assets			 	 -		 (66)

cash	used	in	invesTinG	acTiviTies			 	 (31,747)			 (39,786)

FinAnCing ACtivities
Dividends	paid	to	Shareholders		 	 (2,464)	 -
Dividends	paid	to	non-controlling	interests	 	 (409)		 (1,236)
acquisition	of	shares	held	in	Treasury	 	 (29)		 (261)
Repayment	of	loan			 	 -		 (7,843)
Interest	paid	on	loan		 	 -	 	(193)

cash	used	in	FinancinG	acTiviTies			 	 (2,902)		 	(9,533)

eFFecT	oF	ForeiGn	exchanGe	raTe	chanGes	on	cash	
and	shorT-TerM	invesTMenTs	 	 560	 (338)

neT	chanGe	in	cash	and	shorT-TerM	invesTMenTs			 	 1,014		 (15,801)
cash	and	shorT-TerM	invesTMenTs,	beGinninG	oF	year	 	 30,326			 46,127

cash	and	shorT-TerM	invesTMenTs,	end	oF	year				 	 31,340	 30,326

Footnotes
(i)	 Interest	income			 	 (11,388)	 (9,724)
	 Dividend	income		 	 (1,797)	 (1,702)
	 Investment	income	related	to	the	Deposit	administration	pension	plans	 	 705	 830
	 Investment	income	related	to	Segregated	funds	with	guaranteed	return	 	 2,060	 2,517
	 Net	realised	and	unrealised	losses/(gains)	on	investments		 	 2,506	 (10,635)
	 amortisation	of	net	premium	of	bonds		 	 1,848		 1,160
	 Net	impairment	losses	 	 297	 2,615
	 Share	of	earnings	of	associates	 	 (734)	 (714)
	 change	in	fair	value	of	investment	property	 	 140	 24
	 Depreciation	of	property	and	equipment	 	 5,656	 5,638
	 amortisation	of	intangible	assets	 	 1,071		 1,031		
	 Impairment	of	intangibles	 	 -	 158
	 Interest	on	loan	 	 -		 193
	 Expense	on	vesting	of	stock-based	compensation	 	 87		 44

	 	 	 	 	 451		 (8,565)

(ii)	 Insurance	balances	receivable		 	 5,706			 3,512		
	 Reinsurers’	share	of:		 	
	 			claims	provisions		 	 338	 (2,595)
	 			Unearned	premiums	 	 997	 524
	 Other	assets		 	 (883)		 (573)
	 Deferred	policy	acquisition	costs		 	 42		 12
	 Insurance	contract	liabilities			 	 888	 8,346
	 Insurance	balances	payable		 	 3,252	 (1,879)
	 Investment	contract	liabilities			 	 2,481	 14,168
	 accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 (1,205)	 1,882
	 Post-employment	benefit	liability	 	 186	 183

	 	 	 	 	 11,802	 23,580

*See Note 2.19.1

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

ConsolidAted stAtement oF CAsh Flows 
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notes to the ConsolidAted FinAnCiAl stAtements
March	31,	2014																																																						

(In $ thousands except for per share amounts and where otherwise stated)	

1  oPERAtionS

	 	argus	Group	holdings	Limited	(the	company)	was	incorporated	in	Bermuda	with	limited	liability	on	May	26,	2005,	as	a	
holding	company	and	has	its	registered	office	at	the	argus	Building,	14	Wesley	Street,	hamilton	hM	11,	Bermuda.	The	
company’s	 shares	are	 traded	on	 the	Bermuda	Stock	Exchange.	at	March	31,	2014,	 it	has	1,315	shareholders;	85.32	
percent	of	whom	were	Bermudian,	holding	82.87	percent	of	the	issued	shares.

	 The	company	and	 its	 subsidiaries	 (the	Group)	operates	predominantly	 in	Bermuda,	Gibraltar	 and	Malta	underwriting	
life,	health,	property	and	casualty	insurance.	The	Group	also	provides	investment,	savings	and	retirement	products,	and		
administrative	services.	Refer	to	Note	17	for	details	on	the	composition	of	the	Group.	

2  SignifiCAnt ACCounting PoLiCiES

The	significant	accounting	policies	used	in	the	preparation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	discussed	below	
and	are	applied	consistently.

2.1  stAtement oF CompliAnCe

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	
(IFRS)	as	issued	by	the	International	accounting	Standards	Board	(IaSB)	and	in	accordance	with	the	provisions	of	the	Ber-
muda	companies	act	1981,	as	amended.		

2.2  bAsis oF pResentAtion 	

2.2.1		 basis	of	measurement

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	compiled	on	the	going	concern	basis	and	prepared	on	the	historical	cost	
basis	except	for	the	following	material	items	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet:
•	 Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL)	are	measured	at	fair	value;
•	 available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	measured	at	fair	value;
•	 Derivative	financial	instruments	are	measured	at	fair	value;
•	 Investment	properties	are	measured	at	fair	value;
•	 certain	segregated	fund	assets	and	liabilities	are	measured	at	fair	value;	and	
•	 Post-employment	benefit	liability	is	measured	at	the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation.

The	consolidated	Balance	Sheet	is	presented	in	order	of	decreasing	liquidity.	

2.2.2		 presentation	currency

all	 amounts,	 excluding	per	 share	data	or	where	otherwise	 stated,	 are	 in	 thousands	of	Bermuda	dollars,	which	 is	 the	
Group’s	presentation	currency	and	which	is	on	par	with	United	States	(U.S.)	dollars.	

2.2.3	 use	of	estimates	and	judgments

The	 preparation	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 requires	 management	 to	 make	 judgments,	 estimates	 and																																									
assumptions	that	affect	the	application	of	accounting	policies	and	the	reported	amounts	of	assets,	liabilities,	revenues	and	
expenses.	actual	results	may	differ	from	those	estimates.	

Estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	are	reviewed	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	recognised	
in	the	period	in	which	the	estimates	are	revised	and	in	any	future	periods	affected.

Information	about	critical	judgments	in	applying	accounting	policies	that	have	the	most	significant	effect	on	the	amounts	
recognised	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	is	included	in	the	following	notes:
Note	2.4	–	foreign	currency	translation;
Note	2.9	–	insurance	contracts	and	investment	contracts;
Note	2.16	and	Note	31.1	–	leases	and	operating	leases;
Note	5	–	investment	in	associates;	and
Note	7	–	investment	properties.
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Information	about	assumptions	and	estimation	uncertainties	that	have	a	significant	risk	of	resulting	in	a	material	adjust-
ment	within	the	next	financial	year	is	included	in	the	following	notes:
Note	2.7	–	impairment	of	assets;
Note	3	and	Note	13	–	investments	and	investment	contract	liabilities;	and
Note	12	–	insurance	contract	liabilities.	

2.3   bAsis oF ConsolidAtion

2.3.1		 business	combinations

The	Group	uses	the	acquisition	method	to	account	for	the	acquisition	of	subsidiaries.	at	the	date	of	acquisition,	the	Group	
recognises	the	identifiable	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	assumed	as	part	of	the	overall	business	combination	transaction	
at	their	fair	value.	Recognition	of	these	items	is	subject	to	the	definitions	of	assets	and	liabilities	in	accordance	with	the	
IaSB’s	Framework	for	the	Preparation	and	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements.	The	Group	may	also	recognise	intangible	
items	not	previously	recognised	by	the	acquired	entity,	such	as	customer	lists.

Transaction	costs	that	the	Group	incurs	in	connection	with	the	business	combination	are	expensed	as	incurred.

amalgamation	transactions

Under	a	business	combination	where	entities	under	common	control	are	amalgamated,	the	carrying	values	of	the	assets	
and	 liabilities	of	the	entities	are	combined.	Transactions	arising	from	the	amalgamation	of	the	entities	under	common	
control	are	eliminated	in	the	Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

2.3.2		 subsidiaries

Subsidiaries	are	entities	controlled	by	the	Group.	The	Group	controls	an	entity	when	it	 is	exposed	to,	or	has	rights	to,	
variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	entity	and	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	through	its	power	over	
the	entity.	The	financial	statements	of	subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	from	the	date	on	
which	control	commences	until	the	date	on	which	control	ceases.

The	Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements	include	the	financial	statements	of	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	after	
all	significant	intercompany	accounts	and	transactions	have	been	eliminated.	The	accounting	policies	of	subsidiaries	have	
been	changed	where	necessary	to	align	them	with	the	policies	adopted	by	the	Group.	

Losses	applicable	to	the	non-controlling	interest	in	a	subsidiary	are	allocated	to	non-controlling	interests	even	if	doing	so	
causes	the	non-controlling	interests	to	have	a	deficit	balance.

2.3.3		 non-controlling	interests

Non-controlling	interests	are	measured	at	their	proportionate	share	of	the	acquiree’s	identifiable	net	assets	at	the	acquisi-
tion	date.	changes	in	the	Group’s	interest	in	a	subsidiary	that	do	not	result	in	a	loss	of	control	are	accounted	for	as	equity	
transactions.

2.3.4		 investment	in	associates	

associates	are	those	entities	in	which	the	Group	has	significant	influence,	but	not	control,	over	the	financial	and	opera-
tional	policies.	Significant	influence	is	normally	presumed	to	exist	when	the	Group	holds	between	20	and	50	percent	of	
the	voting	power	of	another	entity.	

Investment	in	associates	is	initially	recognised	at	cost,	which	includes	transaction	costs.	Thereafter,	these	investments	are	
measured	using	the	equity	method.	Under	the	equity	method,	the	Group	records	its	proportionate	share	of	income	and	
loss	from	such	investments	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	and	its	proportionate	share	of	Other	compre-
hensive	Income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	comprehensive	Income.	certain	associates	have	different	accounting	
policies	from	the	Group	and,	as	a	result,	adjustments	have	been	made	to	align	the	associate’s	accounting	policies	with	
the	Group.

When	the	Group’s	share	of	losses	exceeds	its	interest	in	an	Investment	in	associates,	the	carrying	amount	of	that	interest	is	
reduced	to	zero,	and	the	recognition	of	further	losses	is	discontinued	except	to	the	extent	that	the	Group	has	an	obligation	
or	has	made	payments	on	behalf	of	the	associate.

2.4   FoReign CuRRenCy tRAnslAtion

2.4.1		 remeasurement	of	transactions	in	foreign	currencies

The	individual	financial	statements	of	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	are	prepared	in	the	currency	in	which	they	con-
duct	 their	 ordinary	 course	of	 business,	which	 is	 referred	 to	 as	 the	 functional	 currency.	Monetary	 assets	 and	 liabilities	
denominated	in	currencies	other	than	the	functional	currency	of	the	company	or	its	subsidiaries	are	remeasured	into	the	
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functional	currency	using	rates	of	exchange	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	Income	and	expenses	are	translated	at	average	
rates	of	exchange.	Foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	are	reflected	in	Operating	expenses	on	the	consolidated	Statement	
of	Operations.	

2.4.2		 Translation	to	the	presentation	currency

The	 financial	 statements	 of	 foreign	 operations	 are	 translated	 from	 their	 respective	 functional	 currencies	 to	 Bermuda		
dollars,	 the	Group’s	presentation	currency.	assets	and	 liabilities	are	 translated	at	 the	rates	of	exchange	at	 the	balance																																
sheet	date,	and	income	and	expenses	are	translated	using	the	average	rates	of	exchange.	The	accumulated	gains	or	losses	
arising	from	translation	of	functional	currencies	to	the	presentation	currency	are	included	in	Other	comprehensive	income	
on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	comprehensive	Income.

2.5  CAsh And shoRt-teRm investments

cash	 and	 short-term	 investments	 include	 cash	 balances,	 cash	 equivalents	 and	 time	 deposits	 with	 maturities	 of	 three	
months	or	less	at	the	date	of	purchase.	Interest	on	these	balances	is	recorded	on	the	accrual	basis	and	included	in	Invest-
ment	income.	

2.6  FinAnCiAl instRuments

2.6.1		 Financial	assets

2.6.1(a)	 Classification	and	recognition	of	financial	assets

The	Group	has	the	following	financial	assets:	(i)	financial	assets	at	FVTPL,	(ii)	held-to-maturity	financial	assets,	(iii)	loans	
and	receivables	and	(iv)	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	Management	determines	the	classification	of	financial	assets	at	
initial	recognition.

(i)		 Financial	assets	at	FvTpl

	 a	 financial	 asset	 is	 classified	 at	 FVTPL	 if	 it	 is	 classified	 as	 held-for-trading	 or	 is	 designated	 as	 such	 upon																																										
initial	recognition.	Financial	assets	are	designated	at	FVTPL	if	the	Group	manages	such	investments	and	makes		
purchase	and	sale	decisions	based	on	their	fair	value	in	accordance	with	the	Group’s	documented	risk	manage-
ment	or	investment	strategy.	

	 attributable	 transaction	costs	upon	 initial	 recognition	are	recognised	 in	 Investment	 income	on	the	consoli-
dated	Statement	of	Operations	as	 incurred.	FVTPL	 financial	assets	are	measured	at	 fair	value,	and	changes	
therein	are	recognised	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	Dividends	earned	
on	equities	are	recorded	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

(ii)		held-to-maturity	financial	assets

	 If	the	Group	has	the	positive	intent	and	ability	to	hold	debt	securities	to	maturity,	then	such	financial	assets	
are	classified	as	held-to-maturity.	held-to-maturity	financial	assets	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value	plus	any	
directly	attributable	transaction	costs.	Subsequent	to	 initial	recognition,	held-to-maturity	financial	assets	are	
measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method,	less	any	impairment	losses.	amortisation	of	
premiums	and	accretion	of	discounts	are	 included	 in	 Investment	 income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
Operations.	

	 any	sale	or	reclassification	of	a	more	than	insignificant	amount	of	held-to-maturity	investments	not	close	to	
their	maturity	would	result	in	the	reclassification	of	all	held-to-maturity	investments	as	available-for-sale,	and	
prevent	the	Group	from	classifying	investment	securities	as	held-to-maturity	for	the	current	and	the	following	
two	financial	years.	

(iii)		loans	and	receivables

	 Loans	and	receivables	are	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	
market.	Such	assets	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value	plus	any	directly	attributable	transaction	costs.	Subse-
quent	to	initial	recognition.	Loans	and	receivables	are	measured	at	amortised	cost	less	any	impairment	losses.	
Interest	income	from	Loans	and	receivables	is	recognised	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	
of	Operations	using	the	effective	interest	method.

	 For	the	purposes	of	this	classification,	Loans	and	receivables	are	comprised	of	Mortgages	and	loans,	Interest	
and	dividends	receivable	and	Other	receivables	in	Other	assets	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.		
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(iv)		available-for-sale	financial	assets

	 available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	financial	assets	that	are	not	classified	in	any	of	the	previous	categories.	
certain	equity	securities	of	the	Group	are	classified	as	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	These	equities	are	sub-
sequently	carried	at	fair	value	except	unquoted	equities,	which	are	carried	at	cost.	changes	in	fair	value	other	
than	 impairment	 losses	are	recognised	 in	Other	comprehensive	 income	and	presented	on	the	consolidated	
Statement	of	comprehensive	 Income.	When	an	 investment	 is	derecognised,	 the	cumulative	gain	or	 loss	 in	
Other	comprehensive	income	is	transferred	to	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	Dividends	earned	on	
equities	are	recorded	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

The	Group	initially	recognises	loans	and	receivables	at	their	date	of	inception.	all	other	financial	assets	(including	assets	
designated	at	FVTPL)	are	recognised	initially	on	the	trade	date	at	which	the	Group	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	pro-
visions	of	the	instrument.	Balances	pending	settlement	as	a	result	of	sales	and	purchases	are	reflected	on	the	consolidated	
Balance	Sheet	as	Receivable	for	investments	sold	under	Other	assets	and	Payable	for	investments	purchased.

2.6.1(b)	 Derecognition	and	offsetting	

The	Group	derecognises	a	financial	asset	when	the	contractual	rights	to	the	cash	flows	from	the	asset	expire	or	it	transfers	
the	rights	to	receive	the	contractual	cash	flows	of	the	financial	asset	in	a	transaction	in	which	substantially	all	the	risks	and	
rewards	of	ownership	of	the	financial	asset	are	transferred,	which	is	normally	the	trade	date.	any	interest	in	transferred	
financial	assets	that	is	created	or	retained	by	the	Group	is	recognised	as	a	separate	asset	or	liability.

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	and	the	net	amount	presented	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet	when,	and	only	
when,	the	Group	has	a	legal	right	to	offset	the	amounts	and	intends	either	to	settle	on	a	net	basis	or	to	realise	the	asset	
and	settle	the	liability	simultaneously.	

2.6.2		 Financial	liabilities

2.6.2(a)	 Classification	and	recognition	of	financial	liabilities

The	Group	has	the	following	financial	liabilities:	(i)	financial	liabilities	at	FVTPL	and	(ii)	other	financial	liabilities.	Manage-
ment	determines	the	classification	of	financial	liabilities	at	initial	recognition.

(i)		 Financial	liabilities	at	FvTpl	

	 The	Group’s	financial	liabilities	at	FVTPL	relate	to	deposit	accounted	annuity	policies	shown	under	Investment	
contract	liabilities	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	contracts	recorded	at	FVTPL	are	measured	at	fair	value	
at	inception	and	each	subsequent	reporting	period.	changes	in	fair	value	of	investment	contract	liabilities	are	
recorded	in	Gross	change	in	contract	liabilities	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	(Note	2.9.2).	

(ii)		other	financial	liabilities	

	 all	 remaining	 financial	 liabilities	are	classified	as	other	 financial	 liabilities	which	 include	 Investment	contract																					
liabilities	related	to	the	deposit	administration	pension	plans	and	self-funded	group	health	policies	(Note	2.9.2),	
Payable	for	 investments	purchased	and	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities.	Such	financial	 liabilities	are	
recognised	initially	at	fair	value	plus	any	directly	attributable	transaction	costs.	Subsequent	to	initial	recognition	
these	financial	liabilities	are	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method.

	 Payable	 for	 investments	 purchased	 and	 accounts	 payable	 and	 accrued	 liabilities	 are	 considered	 short-term	
payables	with	no	stated	interest.	

all	other	financial	liabilities	(including	liabilities	designated	at	FVTPL)	are	recognised	initially	on	the	trade	date	at	which	the	
Group	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	provisions	of	the	instrument.

2.6.2(b)	 Derecognition

The	Group	derecognises	a	financial	liability	when	its	contractual	obligations	are	discharged,	cancelled	or	expired.

2.6.3		 derivative	financial	assets	

Investments	in	derivative	instruments	are	measured	at	FVTPL	and	are	considered	to	be	held	for	trading.	Derivatives	are	
initially	recognised	at	estimated	fair	value	on	the	date	into	which	a	contract	is	entered.	The	attributable	transaction	costs	
are	 recognised	 in	 Investment	 income	on	 the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	as	 incurred.	These	 investments	 in	
derivative	instruments	are	subsequently	carried	at	estimated	fair	value.	changes	in	the	estimated	fair	value	of	instruments	
that	do	not	qualify	for	hedge	accounting	are	recognised	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Opera-
tions.	The	Group	does	not	hold	any	derivatives	classified	as	hedging	instruments.	Derivative	financial	assets	and	liabilities	
are	reported	net	under	Investments	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.
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2.6.4		 investment	income	

Interest	is	recorded	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	as	it	accrues,	using	the	effective	
interest	method.	Dividend	income	is	recognised	on	the	date	the	Group’s	right	to	receive	payment	is	established	which,	in	
the	case	of	quoted	securities,	is	normally	the	ex-dividend	date.

2.7  impAiRment oF Assets

2.7.1		 impairment	of	financial	assets	

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	Group’s	financial	assets,	except	those	classified	under	FVTPL,	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	
date	for	impairment	and	reversal	of	previously	recognised	impairment	losses.	These	assets	are	considered	impaired	if	there	
is	objective	evidence	of	impairment	as	a	result	of	one	or	more	loss	events	that	have	an	impact	that	can	be	reliably	deter-
mined	based	on	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	asset.	Objective	factors	that	are	considered	when	determining	whether	
a	financial	asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	may	be	impaired	include,	but	are	not	limited	to,	the	following:	
•		 negative	rating	agency	announcements	in	respect	of	investment	issuers	and	debtors;	
•		 significant	reported	financial	difficulties	of	investment	issuers	and	debtors;	
•		 actual	breaches	of	credit	terms	such	as	persistent	late	payments	or	actual	default;		
•		 the	disintegration	of	the	active	market(s)	in	which	a	particular	asset	is	traded	or	deployed;		
•		 adverse	economic	or	regulatory	conditions	that	may	restrict	future	cash	flows	and	asset	recoverability;		
•		 the	withdrawal	of	any	guarantee	from	statutory	funds	or	sovereign	agencies	implicitly	supporting	the	asset;	and
•	 significant	or	prolonged	decline	in	the	fair	value	of	an	investment	in	an	equity	instrument	below	its	cost.

2.7.1(a)	 held-to-maturity	financial	assets	and	loans	and	receivables

The	Group	considers	evidence	of	impairment	for	held-to-maturity	investment	assets	and	Loans	and	receivables	at	both	
a	specific	asset	and	collective	level.	all	individually	significant	held-to-maturity	financial	assets	and	Loans	and	receivables	
are	assessed	for	specific	 impairment.	Those	found	not	to	be	specifically	 impaired	are	then	collectively	assessed	for	any	
impairment	that	has	been	incurred	but	not	yet	identified.	held-to-maturity	financial	assets	and	Loans	and	receivables	that	
are	not	individually	significant	are	collectively	assessed	for	impairment	by	grouping	together	investments	with	similar	risk	
characteristics.	

In	assessing	collective	impairment,	the	Group	uses	historical	trends	of	the	probability	of	default,	the	timing	of	recoveries	
and	the	amount	of	loss	incurred,	adjusted	for	management’s	judgments	as	to	whether	current	economic	and	credit	condi-
tions	are	such	that	the	actual	losses	are	likely	to	be	greater	or	less	than	suggested	by	historical	trends.	If	there	is	objective	
evidence	that	an	 impairment	 loss	on	held-to-maturity	 financial	assets	or	Loans	and	receivables	has	been	 incurred,	 the	
amount	of	the	loss	is	measured	as	the	difference	between	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	and	the	present	value	of	estimated	
future	cash	flows	(excluding	future	credit	losses	that	have	not	been	incurred)	discounted	at	the	financial	asset’s	original																																		
effective	interest	rate.	The	impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Opera-
tions	and	reflected	in	an	allowance	account	against	the	held-to-maturity	financial	assets	or	Loans	and	receivables.		

When	an	event	occurring	after	the	impairment	was	recognised	causes	the	amount	of	impairment	loss	to	decrease,	the	
decrease	in	impairment	loss	is	reversed	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

2.7.1	(b)	 available-for-sale	financial	assets

When	there	is	objective	evidence	that	an	available-for-sale	asset	is	impaired,	the	loss	accumulated	in	Other	comprehensive	
income	is	reclassified	to	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	in	Investment	income.	The	cumulative	loss	that	is	re-
classified	from	Other	comprehensive	income	to	Investment	income	is	the	difference	between	the	cost	and	the	current	fair	
value	less	any	impairment	loss	recognised	previously	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	
Impairment	losses	on	available-for-sale	equity	securities	are	not	reversed.

2.7.1	(c)	 investment	in	associates

When	 there	 is	 objective	 evidence	 that	 an	 Investment	 in	 an	 associate	 is	 impaired,	 an	 impairment	 loss	 is	 measured	 by	
comparing	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	investment	with	its	carrying	value.	The	recoverable	amount	is	determined	in	
accordance	with	Note	2.7.2.

an	impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	Share	of	earnings/(loss)	of	associates	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	
Reversal	of	a	previously	recognised	impairment	loss	is	made	if	there	has	been	a	favourable	change	in	the	estimates	used	
to	determine	the	recoverable	amount.

2.7.2		 impairment	of	non-financial	assets

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	Group’s	non-financial	assets	comprising	of	Investment	properties,	Property	and	equipment	
and	 Intangible	 assets	 are	 reviewed	 at	 each	 reporting	 date	 to	 determine	 if	 there	 is	 objective	 evidence	 of	 impairment.																																																																																	
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Objective	factors	that	are	considered	when	determining	whether	a	non-financial	asset	may	be	impaired	include,	but	are	
not	limited	to,	the	following:	
•		 adverse	 economic,	 regulatory	 or	 environmental	 conditions	 that	 may	 restrict	 future	 cash	 flows	 and	 asset	 usage																																							

and/or	recoverability;	
•		 the	likelihood	of	accelerated	obsolescence	arising	from	the	development	of	new	technologies	and	products;	and
•		 the	disintegration	of	the	active	market(s)	to	which	the	asset	is	related.

If	objective	evidence	of	impairment	exists,	then	the	asset’s	recoverable	amount	is	estimated.	an	impairment	loss	is	recog-
nised	in	amortisation,	depreciation	and	impairment	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	if	the	carrying	amount	
of	an	asset	exceeds	its	estimated	recoverable	amount.	The	recoverable	amount	of	an	asset	is	the	greater	of	its	value-in-use	
and	its	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell.	In	assessing	value-in-use,	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	pres-
ent	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	
specific	to	the	asset.	assets	which	cannot	be	tested	individually	are	grouped	together	into	the	smallest	group	of	assets	that	
generates	cash	inflows	from	continuing	use	that	are	largely	independent	of	the	cash	inflows	of	other	assets.	

2.8   investment pRopeRties

Investment	properties	are	real	estate	and	real	estate	fractional	units	primarily	held	to	earn	rental	income	or	held	for	capital	
appreciation.	Rental	income	from	investment	properties	is	recognised	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	term	of	the	lease.	
Properties	that	do	not	meet	these	criteria	are	classified	as	Property	and	equipment.	Expenditures	related	to	ongoing	main-
tenance	of	properties	incurred	subsequent	to	acquisition	are	expensed.	Investment	properties	are	initially	recognised	at	the	
transaction	price	including	acquisition	costs	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	These	properties	are	subsequently	mea-
sured	at	fair	value	with	changes	in	values	recorded	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

Fair	values	are	evaluated	regularly	by	an	accredited	independent	valuation	specialist	to	reflect	market	conditions	at	the	
reporting	date.	

2.9   insuRAnCe ContRACts And investment ContRACts

2.9.1		 insurance	contracts

Insurance	contracts	are	those	contracts	where	the	Group	has	accepted	significant	insurance	risk	from	the	policyholders	
by	agreeing	to	compensate	the	policyholders	if	a	specified	uncertain	future	event	(the	insured	event)	adversely	affects	the	
policyholders.

2.9.1(a)	 premiums	and	acquisition	costs

Premiums	written	from	the	Group’s	Property	and	casualty	and	Group	insurance	operating	segments	as	defined	in	Note	
2.18	are	recognised	as	revenue	over	the	terms	of	the	policies.	The	reserve	for	Unearned	premiums	represents	that	por-
tion	 of	 premiums	 written	 that	 relates	 to	 the	 unexpired	 terms	 of	 the	 policies	 and	 are	 included	 in	 Insurance	 contract	
liabilities	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	Life	and	annuity	premiums	are	recognised	as	income	when	due.

costs	related	to	the	acquisition	of	Property	and	casualty	and	Group	insurance	premiums	are	charged	to	income	over	the	
period	of	the	policy.	acquisition	costs	are	comprised	of	commissions	and	those	associated	with	unearned	premiums	are	
deferred	and	are	amortised	to	 income	over	the	periods	 in	which	the	premiums	are	earned.	This	 is	shown	as	Deferred	
policy	acquisition	costs	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	Policy	acquisition	costs	related	to	unearned	premiums	are	only	
deferred	to	the	extent	that	they	can	be	expected	to	be	recovered	from	the	unearned	premiums.	If	the	unearned	premiums	
are	insufficient	to	pay	expected	claims	and	expenses,	a	premium	deficiency	is	recognised	by	writing	down	the	deferred	
acquisition	cost	asset.

2.9.1(b)	 receivables	and	payables	related	to	insurance	contracts

Receivables	and	payables	related	to	insurance	contracts	are	recognised	when	due	and	measured	on	initial	recognition	at	
the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	receivable	or	payable.	Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	Insurance	balances	receivable	
and	Insurance	balances	payable	are	measured	at	amortised	cost.	The	carrying	value	of	Insurance	balances	receivable	is	
reviewed	for	impairment	whenever	events	or	circumstances	indicate	that	the	carrying	amount	may	not	be	recoverable,	
with	the	impairment	loss	recorded	in	Operating	expenses	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

Insurance	balances	receivable	and	Insurance	balances	payable	are	derecognised	when	the	derecognition	criteria	for	finan-
cial	assets	and	financial	liabilities,	as	described	in	Note	2.6	have	been	met.	

2.9.1(c)	 reinsurance

Reinsurance	ceded	premiums	comprise	the	cost	of	reinsurance	contracts	into	which	the	Group	has	entered.	Reinsurance	
premiums	are	recognised	from	the	date	the	reinsurer	has	contracted	to	accept	the	risks	and	the	amount	of	premium	can	
be	measured	reliably.	The	Reinsurers’	share	of	unearned	premiums	represents	that	part	of	reinsurance	premiums	ceded	
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which	are	estimated	 to	be	earned	 in	 future	 financial	periods.	Unearned	 reinsurance	 commissions	are	 recognised	as	a		
liability	using	the	same	principles	and	are	shown	under	Insurance	balances	payable	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	
The	Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions	is	estimated	using	the	same	methodology	as	the	underlying	losses.	These	rep-
resent	the	benefit	derived	from	reinsurance	agreements	in	force	at	the	date	of	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	amounts	
due	to	or	from	reinsurers	with	respect	to	premiums	or	claims	are	 included	 in	 Insurance	balances	payable	or	 Insurance																																	
balances	receivable	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.

The	Group	constantly	monitors	the	credit	worthiness	of	the	reinsurance	companies	to	which	it	cedes	and	assesses	any	
reinsurance	 assets	 for	 impairment,	 with	 any	 impairment	 loss	 recognised	 in	 Operating	 expense	 on	 the	 consolidated																																		
Statement	of	Operations	in	the	period	in	which	any	impairment	is	determined.

2.9.1(d)	 Insurance	contract	liabilities

Insurance	contract	liabilities	shown	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet	include	(i)	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	and	(ii)	
Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims.

(i)		 life	and	annuity	policy	reserves

	 Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	are	determined	by	the	Group’s	actuaries	and	represent	the	amounts	which,	
together	with	future	premiums	and	investment	income,	are	required	to	discharge	the	obligations	under	life	
and	annuity	contracts	and	to	pay	expenses	related	to	the	administration	of	these	contracts.	These	reserves	are	
determined	using	generally	accepted	actuarial	practices	according	to	standards	established	by	the	canadian	
Institute	of	actuaries	(cIa).	The	cIa	requires	the	use	of	the	canadian	asset	Liability	Method	(caLM)	for	the	
valuation	of	actuarial	liabilities	for	all	lines	of	business.	The	policy	actuarial	liability	reserves	under	caLM	are	cal-
culated	by	projecting	asset	and	liability	cash	flows	under	a	variety	of	interest	rate	scenarios	using	best-estimate	
assumptions,	together	with	margins	for	adverse	deviations	with	respect	to	other	contingencies	pertinent	to	
the	valuation.	The	policy	actuarial	liability	reserves	make	provision	for	the	expected	experience	scenario	and	for	
adverse	deviations	in	experience.

(ii)		provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims

	 Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	represents	the	best	estimate	of	the	ultimate	costs	of	claims	in	the	
course	of	settlement	and	claims	incurred	but	not	yet	reported.	The	provision	is	continually	reviewed	and	up-
dated	by	management	and	the	Group’s	actuaries.	any	adjustments	resulting	from	the	review	process,	as	well	
as	differences	between	estimates	and	ultimate	payments,	are	reflected	in	claims	and	adjustment	expenses	and	
Gross	change	in	contract	liabilities	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	in	the	year	in	which	they	are	
determined.	

	 Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	are	not	discounted.

2.9.2		 investment	contracts

contracts	 issued	that	do	not	transfer	significant	 insurance	risk,	but	do	transfer	financial	risk	from	the	policyholder,	are	
financial	liabilities	and	are	accounted	for	as	investment	contracts.	Service	components	of	investment	contracts	are	treated	
as	service	contracts.	Fees	earned	from	the	service	components	of	investment	contracts	are	included	on	the	consolidated	
Statement	of	Operations	under	commissions,	management	fees	and	other.

Liabilities	for	investment	contracts	are	measured	at	FVTPL	or	amortised	cost	(Note	2.6.2).	

The	following	contracts	are	the	investment	contract	liabilities	of	the	Group:

(i)			 Deposit	administration	pension	plans	are	plans	where	the	Group’s	liability	is	linked	to	contributions	received,	plus	a	
predetermined	and	guaranteed	return.	The	liability	related	to	these	plans	is	carried	at	amortised	cost.

(ii)		 Self-funded	group	health	policies	are	refund	accounting	agreements	which	provide	for	the	retroactive	adjustment	
of	premiums	based	upon	 the	claims	experience	of	 the	policyholder.	Under	 these	agreements,	any	 surplus	arising	
is	set	off	against	future	deficits	or	returned	to	the	policyholder.	any	deficit	that	may	arise	is	set	off	against	future																																																																
surpluses	or	may	be	recovered	in	full,	or	in	part,	by	lump	sum	payments	from	policyholders.	as	these	agreements	do	
not	transfer	insurance	risk,	funds	received	under	these	agreements	are	accounted	for	as	investment	contracts.	assets	
and	liabilities	arising	from	this	type	of	policies	are	measured	at	amortised	cost.

(iii)		 Deposit	accounted	annuity	policies	relate	to	policies	which	do	not	transfer	significant	insurance	risk	but	do	transfer	
financial	risk	from	the	policyholders.	These	are	measured	at	FVTPL.

(noTe	2	conTinued)
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2.10   pRopeRty And equipment

Owner-occupied	properties	and	all	other	assets	classified	as	Property	and	equipment	are	stated	at	cost	less	accumulated	
depreciation	and	impairment.	Subsequent	costs	are	included	in	the	assets’	carrying	amount	only	when	it	is	probable	that	
future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	Group	and	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.	
The	costs	of	the	day-to-day	servicing	of	Property	and	equipment	are	recognised	as	incurred	in	Operating	expenses	on	the	
consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

Depreciation	is	calculated	so	as	to	write	the	assets	off	over	their	estimated	useful	lives	at	the	following	rates	per	annum:
	 Buildings		 2.5%
	 computer	equipment		 20%	–	33%
	 Furniture,	equipment	and	leasehold	improvements		 10%	–	15%

The	assets’	residual	values,	useful	lives	and	method	of	depreciation	are	reviewed	regularly,	at	a	minimum	at	the	end	of	each	
fiscal	year,	and	adjusted	if	appropriate.	Where	the	carrying	amount	of	an	asset	is	greater	than	its	estimated	recoverable	
amount,	it	is	considered	to	be	impaired	and	it	is	written	down	immediately	to	its	recoverable	amount.	In	the	event	of	an	
improvement	in	the	estimated	recoverable	amount,	the	related	impairment	may	be	reversed.	Gains	and	losses	on	disposal	
of	property	and	equipment	are	determined	by	reference	to	their	carrying	amount,	and	are	recognised	in	commissions,	
management	fees	and	other	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

2.11   intAngible Assets

Intangible	assets	refer	to	customer	lists	which	are	initially	measured	at	fair	value	by	estimating	the	net	present	value	of	
future	cash	flows	from	the	contracts	in	force	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	These	are	amortised	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	
their	estimated	useful	lives,	which	range	between	10	to	16	years.

Subsequent	expenditures	are	capitalised	only	when	they	increase	the	future	economic	benefits	embodied	in	the	specific	
asset	to	which	they	relate.	all	other	expenditures	are	recognised	in	Operating	expenses	on	the	consolidated	Statement	
of	Operations	as	incurred.

Management	reviews	annually	the	remaining	portion	of	Intangible	assets	based	upon	estimates	of	future	earnings	and	
recognises	any	permanent	impairment	in	amortisation,	depreciation	and	impairment	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
Operations	in	the	year	in	which	it	is	identified.

2.12  segRegAted Funds

Segregated	funds	are	lines	of	business	in	which	the	Group	issues	a	contract	where	the	benefit	amount	is	directly	linked	to	
the	fair	value	of	the	investments	held	in	the	particular	segregated	fund.	although	the	underlying	assets	are	registered	in	the	
name	of	the	Group	and	the	segregated	fund	policyholder	has	no	direct	access	to	the	specific	assets,	the	contractual	arrange-
ments	are	such	that	the	segregated	fund	policyholder	bears	the	risks	and	rewards	of	the	fund’s	investment	performance.

Effective	March	31,	2012,	certain	policies	previously	held	under	Deposit	administration	pension	plans	were	amended	such	
that	the	related	assets	and	liabilities	could	be	included	in	Segregated	funds.	These	pension	plans	offer	a	guaranteed	rate	
of	return	and	the	risks	and	rewards	of	the	Fund’s	investment	performance	are	borne	by	the	Group.	The	primary	reason	for	
the	amendment	was	to	afford	the	policyholders	certain	protection	from	creditors	of	the	Group.	as	a	result	of	the	transfer,	
the	Group	has	two	types	of	Segregated	fund	products:	(1)	Segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	and	(2)	Segregated	
funds	without	a	guaranteed	return.

Segregated	 funds	are	 carried	at	 fair	 value	except	 for	mortgages	and	policy	 loans	which	are	 carried	at	amortised	cost	
and	unpaid	balance	respectively.	Fair	values	are	determined	using	quoted	market	values	or,	where	quoted	market	values	
are	not	available,	estimated	fair	values	as	determined	by	the	Group.	Segregated	fund	assets	may	not	be	applied	against		
liabilities	that	arise	from	any	other	business	of	the	Group.	The	investment	results	of	the	Segregated	funds	are	reflected	
directly	in	Segregated	fund	liabilities	except	for	Segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	where	the	excess	or	deficiency	
of	the	return	on	the	assets	over	the	guaranteed	return	is	reflected	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
Operations.	For	the	Segregated	funds	where	the	benefit	amount	is	directly	linked	to	the	fair	value	of	the	investments,	the	
Group	derives	only	fee	income	which	is	included	within	commissions,	management	fees	and	other	on	the	consolidated	
Statement	of	Operations.	Deposits	to	segregated	funds	are	reported	as	increases	in	Segregated	funds	liabilities	and	are	not	
reported	as	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	

2.13  employee beneFits

post-employment	benefits		

The	 Group	 operates	 a	 post-employment	 medical	 benefit	 plan.	 The	 Group	 accrues	 the	 cost	 of	 these	 defined	 benefits	
over	the	periods	in	which	the	employees	earn	the	benefits.	The	post-employment	benefit	liability	is	calculated	using	the		
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projected	unit	credit	actuarial	cost	method.	The	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	liability	is	determined	by	discount-
ing	the	estimate	of	future	cash	flows	using	interest	rates	of	aa	rated	corporate	bonds	that	have	terms	to	maturity	that																															
approximate	the	terms	of	the	related	post-employment	benefit	liability.

Remeasurements	of	the	net	defined	benefit	liability,	which	comprise	actuarial	gains	and	losses,	are	recognised	in	Other	
comprehensive	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	comprehensive	Income.	Interest	expense	and	other	expenses	
related	to	the	post-employment	medical	benefit	plan	are	recognised	in	Operating	expenses	on	the	consolidated	Statement	
of	Operations.

pensions

The	Group	operates	a	defined	contribution	plan.	On	payment	of	contributions	to	the	plan	there	 is	no	further	 legal	or	
constructive	obligation	to	the	Group.	contributions	are	recognised	as	employee	benefits	on	the	consolidated	Statement	
of	Operations	under	Operating	expenses	in	the	period	to	which	they	relate.

stock-based	compensation

The	 Group	 has	 two	 stock-based	 compensation	 plans	 for	 eligible	 employees,	 namely	 the	 Stock	 Option	 Plan	 and	 the		
Restricted	Stock	Plan.

The	 Stock	 Option	 Plan	 is	 accounted	 for	 under	 the	 fair	 value	 method.	 The	 fair	 value	 of	 stock-based	 awards	 is	 deter-
mined	using	the	Black-Scholes	option	pricing	model	and	is	amortised	over	the	applicable	vesting	period	as	compensation		
expense	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	under	Operating	expenses	and	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
changes	in	Equity	under	contributed	surplus.

The	Restricted	Stock	Plan	is	accounted	for	under	the	fair	value	method.	The	fair	value	of	each	share	granted	under	the	
Restricted	Stock	Plan	is	based	upon	the	market	price	at	the	date	of	grant.	The	estimated	fair	value	is	recognised	as	an	
expense	pro-rata	over	the	vesting	period,	adjusted	for	the	impact	of	any	non-market	vesting	conditions.	

at	each	reporting	date,	the	Group	reviews	its	estimate	of	the	number	of	shares	that	are	expected	to	become	exercisable.	
It	recognises	the	impact	of	the	revision	of	original	estimates,	if	any,	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations,	and	a	
corresponding	adjustment	is	made	to	contributed	surplus	over	the	remaining	vesting	period.	On	exercise,	the	differences	
between	the	expense	charged	to	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	and	the	actual	cost	to	the	Group	is	transferred	
to	contributed	surplus.	

2.14  tAxAtion

current	and	deferred	taxes	are	recognised	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations,	except	when	they	relate	to	items	
recognised	in	Other	comprehensive	income,	in	which	case	the	current	and	deferred	taxes	are	also	recognised	in	Other	
comprehensive	income.

current	taxes	are	based	on	the	taxable	result	for	the	period.	The	taxable	result	for	the	period	differs	from	the	result	as	
reported	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	because	it	excludes	items	which	are	non-assessable	or	disallowed	
and	it	further	excludes	items	that	are	taxable	or	deductible	in	other	periods.	It	is	calculated	using	tax	rates	that	have	been	
enacted	or	substantively	enacted	by	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

Deferred	taxes	are	generally	 recognised	for	all	 temporary	differences.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	recognised	to	the	extent	
that	it	is	probable	that	taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	deductible	temporary	differences	can	be	utilised.	The	
carrying	amount	of	deferred	tax	assets	is	reviewed	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period	and	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	
is	no	longer	probable	that	sufficient	taxable	profit	will	be	available	to	allow	all	or	part	of	the	asset	to	be	utilised.	Deferred	
tax	is	calculated	at	the	tax	rates	that	are	expected	to	apply	to	the	period	when	the	asset	is	realised	or	the	liability	is	settled,	
based	on	tax	rates	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	by	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

current	 tax	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	 offset	 when	 the	 Group	 has	 a	 legally	 enforceable	 right	 to	 set	 off	 the	 recognised	
amounts	and	intends	either	to	settle	on	a	net	basis,	or	to	realise	the	asset	and	settle	the	liability	simultaneously.	Deferred	
tax	assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	offset	when	 the	Group	has	a	 legally	 enforceable	 right	 to	 settle	 its	 current	 tax	assets	 and																												
liabilities	on	a	net	basis.

2.15  shARe CApitAl

common	shares

common	shares	are	classified	as	equity.	Incremental	costs	directly	attributable	to	the	issue	of	common	shares	are	recog-
nised	as	a	deduction	from	equity,	net	of	any	tax	effects.

(noTe	2	conTinued)
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Treasury	shares

When	 share	 capital	 recognised	as	equity	 is	 repurchased,	 the	amount	of	 the	 consideration	paid,	which	 includes	direct		
attributable	costs,	net	of	any	tax	effects,	is	recognised	as	a	deduction	from	equity.	Repurchased	shares	are	classified	and	
presented	under	Treasury	Shares	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	changes	in	Equity.	When	Treasury	Shares	are	sold	or	
reissued	subsequently,	the	amount	received	is	recognised	as	an	increase	in	equity,	and	the	resulting	surplus	or	deficit	on	
the	transaction	is	presented	in	contributed	surplus	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	changes	in	Equity.

2.16  leAses

The	Group	is	a	lessor	and	a	lessee	of	assets,	primarily	in	connection	with	office	space	leases.	Transactions	where	substan-
tially	all	risks	and	rewards	incidental	to	ownership	are	transferred	from	the	lessor	to	the	lessee	are	accounted	for	as	finance	
leases.	all	other	leases	are	accounted	for	as	operating	leases.	The	Group’s	leases	are	all	accounted	for	as	operating	leases.

The	Group’s	assets	held	for	leasing	are	included	in	Property	and	equipment	and	Investment	properties.	Rental	income	from	
operating	leases	is	recorded	as	revenue	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	term	of	the	lease.	This	is	shown	under	Investment	
income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

For	leases	where	the	Group	is	the	lessee,	payments	are	charged	to	Operating	expenses	on	the	consolidated	Statement																																										
of	Operations	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	period	of	the	lease.

2.17   eARnings peR shARe

Basic	 earnings	per	 share	 is	 presented	on	 the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	 and	 is	 calculated	by	dividing	net		
earnings	by	the	time-weighted	average	number	of	shares	in	issue	during	the	year.

For	the	purpose	of	calculating	fully	diluted	earnings	per	share,	the	time-weighted	average	number	of	shares	in	issue	has	
been	adjusted	to	reflect	the	additional	shares	that	would	have	resulted	had	all	stock	options	outstanding	been	exercised	
and	in	issue	throughout	the	year.	When	there	is	a	loss,	no	potential	common	shares	are	included	in	the	computation	of	
fully	diluted	earnings	per	share.

2.18  segment RepoRting

an	operating	segment	is	a	component	of	the	Group	that	engages	in	business	activities	from	which	it	may	earn	revenues	
and	incur	expenses,	including	revenues	and	expenses	that	relate	to	transactions	with	any	of	the	Group’s	other	compo-
nents.	The	Group	is	organised	into	operating	segments	based	on	their	products,	services	and	location.	These	operating	
segments	mainly	operate	 in	the	financial	services	 industry	and	reflect	the	management	structure	and	internal	financial	
reporting	of	the	Group.	all	operating	segments’	results	are	reviewed	regularly	by	the	Group’s	chief	Executive	Officer	(cEO)	
to	make	decisions	about	resources	to	be	allocated	to	the	segment	and	to	assess	its	performance,	and	for	which	discrete	
financial	information	is	available.

Segment	results	that	are	reported	to	the	cEO	include	items	directly	attributable	to	a	segment	as	well	as	those	that	can	be	
allocated	on	a	reasonable	basis.	Revenue	from	the	operating	segments	is	derived	primarily	from	insurance	premium,	fees	
and	commission	income,	investment	income	and	fair	value	gains	and	losses	on	investments.

The	Group	has	four	reportable	segments	as	follows:

(i)	 Group	 Insurance	–	 comprised	of	 insured	employee	benefits;	 group	health,	 life,	 long-term	disability	 and	employer’s												
indemnity	coverage;

(ii)	 Life	and	pensions	–	including	individual	life	insurance,	annuities	and	group	retirement	income	plans;

(iii)	 Property	and	casualty	–	including	fire	and	windstorm	(home	and	commercial	property),	all	risks,	liability,	marine	and	
motor	coverage	in	Bermuda,	Gibraltar	and	Malta;	and

(iv)	 all	 other	 –	 representing	 the	 combined	 operations	 of	 the	 remaining	 components	 of	 the	 Group	 comprising	 two																																																														
management	companies,	a	holding	company	and	an	investment	management	services	company.

2.19    AppliCAtion oF new And Revised ACCounting stAndARds

The	Group	has	applied	the	following	new	and	revised	accounting	standards	 issued	by	the	IaSB	that	were	mandatorily																															
effective	for	the	accounting	period	beginning	april	1,	2013.

2.19.1	 amendments	to	ias	19,	employee	benefits	(ias	19)

The	Group	amended	its	accounting	policy	to	fully	recognise	all	actuarial	gains	and	losses	in	Other	comprehensive	income.	
The	actuarial	gains	and	losses	arise	from	the	Group’s	post-employment	benefit	liability	and	an	associate’s	defined	benefit	
pension	plans.
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The	following	tables	summarise	the	impact	of	the	retrospective	application	of	the	amendments	to	IaS	19.

2.19.1(a)			Consolidated	Balance	Sheet

March	31,	2013	 	 amendments	
			 	 	 as	reported			 to	ias	19			 restated

General	Fund	assets
	 Investment	in	associates			 11,918			 (1,088)			 10,830
equity
	 Retained	earnings			 28,085			 2,382			 30,467
	 accumulated	other	comprehensive	loss			 (1,963)	 	(3,470)		 	(5,433)

aPRIL	1,	2012	 	 amendments
	 		 as	reported			 to	IaS	19			 Restated

General	Fund	assets
	 Investment	in	associates			 11,404			 (780)			 10,624
equity
	 Retained	earnings			 15,913			 2,119			 18,032
	 accumulated	other	comprehensive	loss			 (1,289)	 	(2,899)			 (4,188)

2.19.1(b)		Consolidated	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income

For	The	year	ended	March	31,	2013	 	 amendments	
		 	 as	reported			 to	ias	19			 restated

Operating	expenses			 	 43,992			 (263)			 43,729

Net	earnings	for	the	year	attributable	to	Shareholders	of	the	company	 	 12,576	 263	 12,839

Other	comprehensive	loss
	 Remeasurement	of	post-employment	medical	benefit	obligation			 	 -			 (263)			 (263)
	 Share	of	other	comprehensive	income/(loss)	of	associates			 	 -			 (308)		 	(308)

comprehensive	income	for	the	year	attributable	to
	 Shareholders	of	the	company			 	 11,902			 (308)			 11,594

earnings	per	share:
basic  	 	 0.60			 0.01			 0.61
fully diluted			 	 0.60			 0.01			 0.61

2.19.2			 iFrs	13,	Fair	value	Measurement	(iFrs	13)

Effective	april	1,	2013,	the	company	adopted	IFRS	13	as	issued	by	the	IaSB	in	May	2011.	IFRS	13	defines	fair	value	and	
provides	guidance	on	how	to	determine	fair	value,	but	does	not	change	the	requirements	regarding	which	items	should	
be	measured	or	disclosed	at	fair	value.	The	adoption	of	this	standard	resulted	in	additional	financial	statement	disclosures	
in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	the	Group.	

The	standard	requires	additional	disclosures	for	both	financial	and	non-financial	assets	and	liabilities	measured	at,	or	based	
on,	fair	value	and	for	 items	not	measured	at	fair	value	but	for	which	fair	value	 is	disclosed.	The	additional	disclosures	
include	a	description	of	the	valuation	technique	used	for	each	of	the	Group’s	major	categories	of	assets	and	 liabilities	
measured	or	disclosed	at	fair	value.	The	standard	also	requires	more	disclosures	around	inputs	and	sensitivities	for	Level	3	
fair	values	for	those	items	measured	at	fair	value	on	a	recurring	basis,	along	with	expanded	disclosures	around	transfers	
between	levels	in	the	fair	value	hierarchy.	These	new	disclosure	requirements	are	included	in	Note	4.

2.19.3		 new	standards	on	consolidation	and	other	interests

Effective	april	1,	2013,	the	company	adopted	four	new	related	standards	issued	by	the	IaSB:	
•	 IFRS	10,	consolidated	Financial	Statements	(IFRS	10);
•	 IFRS	12,	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities	(IFRS	12);

(noTe	2	conTinued)
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•	 amendments	to	IaS	27,	Separate	Financial	Statements	(IaS	27R);	and	
•	 amendments	to	IaS	28,	Investments	in	associates	and	Joint	Ventures	(IaS	28R).

IFRS	10	replaces	the	consolidation	guidance	in	IaS	27	and	Standing	Interpretations	committee	12,	consolidation	–	Special	
Purpose	Entities,	by	introducing	a	single	consolidation	model	for	all	entities	based	on	control,	irrespective	of	the	nature	of	
the	investee.	Under	IFRS	10,	control	is	based	on	whether	an	investor	has	1)	power	over	the	investee;	2)	exposure,	or	rights,	
to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and	3)	the	ability	to	use	its	power	over	the	investee	to	affect	
the	amount	of	the	returns.	The	adoption	of	IFRS	10	did	not	result	in	the	consolidation	or	deconsolidation	of	any	additional	
investments	and	segregated	funds.

IFRS	 12	 requires	 enhanced	 disclosures	 about	 both	 consolidated	 and	 unconsolidated	 entities	 in	 which	 an	 entity	 has																																	
involvement.	The	objective	of	IFRS	12	is	to	present	information	so	that	financial	statement	users	may	evaluate	the	basis	of	
control,	any	restrictions	on	consolidated	assets	and	liabilities,	risk	exposures	arising	from	involvement	with	unconsolidated	
structured	entities	and	non-controlling	interest	holders’	involvement	in	the	activities	of	consolidated	entities.	The	adoption	
of	IFRS	12	resulted	in	additional	financial	statement	disclosures	which	are	included	in	Notes	5	and	17.

IaS	27R	was	amended	to	remove	principles	of	control	over	another	entity,	as	these	principles	are	now	presented	within	
IFRS	10.	IaS	28R	was	also	amended	to	require	the	equity	method	for	joint	ventures	where	joint	control	is	present.	The	
adoption	of	these	amendments	had	no	effect	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	the	Group.

2.19.4		 amendments	to	ias	1,	presentation	of	Financial	statements	(ias	1r)

an	amendment	to	IaS	1	was	issued	in	June	2011	requiring	changes	to	the	presentation	of	items	within	Other	comprehen-
sive	income.	Under	the	amendments,	presentation	of	items	within	Other	comprehensive	income	will	be	separately	pre-
sented	based	on	whether	or	not	the	item	will	be	subsequently	reclassified	into	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	
The	new	presentation	was	adopted	as	shown	in	the	consolidated	Statement	of	comprehensive	Income.

2.19.5		 amendments	to	iFrs	7,	Financial	instruments:	disclosure

These	amendments	require	an	entity	to	disclose	information	about	rights	to	set-off	and	related	arrangements	(e.g.	collat-
eral	agreements).	The	disclosures	provide	users	with	information	that	is	useful	in	evaluating	the	effect	of	netting	arrange-
ments	on	the	entity’s	financial	position.	The	new	disclosures	are	required	for	all	recognised	financial	instruments	that	are	
set-off	in	accordance	with	IaS	32,	Financial	Instruments:	Presentation.	The	disclosures	also	apply	to	recognised	financial	
instruments	that	are	subject	to	an	enforceable	master	netting	arrangement	or	similar	agreement,	irrespective	of	whether	
they	are	set-off	in	accordance	with	IaS	32.	These	new	disclosure	requirements	are	included	in	Note	14.3.5.

2.20  FutuRe ACCounting ChAnges

There	are	a	number	of	accounting	and	reporting	changes	issued	under	IFRS	including	those	still	under	development	by	
the	IaSB.	a	summary	of	the	recently	issued	new	accounting	standards	that	will	impact	the	Group	in	2015	and	beyond	is	
as	follows:

	 Topic		 eFFecTive	daTe	For	The	Group			 expecTed	iMpacT	

amendments	to	IaS	32,							 april	1,	2014									 No	significant	impact		
Financial	Instruments:	Presentation	 	 	

amendments	to	IaS	36,	Impairment	of	assets						 april	1,	2014									 No	significant	impact		

IFRS	9,	Financial	Instruments													 Expected	to	be	effective												 Impact	assessment		 	
	 not	earlier	than	2018	 in	progress	

amendments	to	IFRS	10,	IFRS	12	and	 	april	1,	2014	 No	significant	impact	
IaS	27,	Investment	Entities			 	 	

annual	Improvements	2010	–	2012	 april	1,	2015	 No	significant	impact	 	
and	2011	–	2013	cycles	 	 	

amendments	to	IaS	19,	Employee	Benefits	 april	1,	2015	 No	significant	impact	

IFRS	4,	Insurance	contracts	(Phase	II)									 Expected	to	be	effective				 Impact	assessment
	 not	earlier	than	2018	 in	progress	
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2.20.1		 amendments	to	ias	32,	Financial	instruments:	presentation	(ias	32)

The	amendments	to	IaS	32,	issued	in	December	2011,	clarify	the	basis	for	offsetting	financial	instruments	presented	on	
the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	The	amendments	to	IaS	32	are	effective	for	fiscal	years	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	
2014.	Upon	adoption,	derivatives	will	be	shown	gross	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	adoption	of	these	amendments	
is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

2.20.2		 amendments	to	ias	36,	impairment	of	assets	(ias	36)

These	 amendments	 reduce	 the	 circumstances	 in	 which	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 assets	 or	 cash-generating	 units	 is																											
required	to	be	disclosed,	clarify	the	disclosures	required,	and	to	introduce	an	explicit	requirement	to	disclose	the	discount	
rate	used	in	determining	impairment	(or	reversals)	where	the	recoverable	amount	(based	on	fair	value	less	costs	of	dis-
posal)	is	determined	using	a	present	value	technique.	The	amendments	to	IaS	36	are	effective	for	fiscal	years	beginning	
on	or	after	January	1,	2014.	adoption	of	these	amendments	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Group’s	
consolidated	financial	statements.

2.20.3		 iFrs	9,	Financial	instruments	(iFrs	9)

IFRS	9	was	issued	in	November	2009	and	subsequently	amended	in	October	2010	and	November	2013,	and	is	intended	
to	replace	IaS	39,	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement.	The	project	has	been	divided	into	three	phases:	
classification	 and	measurement,	 impairment	of	 financial	 assets,	 and	hedge	 accounting.	 IFRS	9	 currently	 provides	 that																																																												
financial	assets	are	classified	and	measured	on	the	basis	of	the	entity’s	business	model	for	managing	the	financial	assets	
and	 the	 contractual	 cash	 flow	 characteristics	 of	 the	 financial	 assets.	 The	 classification	 and	 measurement	 for	 financial														
liabilities	remains	generally	unchanged.	however,	revisions	have	been	made	to	the	accounting	for	changes	in	fair	value	of	
a	financial	liability	attributable	to	changes	in	the	credit	risk	of	that	liability.	The	other	phases	of	this	project,	which	include	
impairment	of	financial	assets	and	hedge	accounting,	are	currently	under	development.

In	November	2013,	the	 IaSB	removed	the	mandatory	effective	date	of	april	1,	2015.	The	 IaSB	has	stated	that	a	new		
effective	date	will	 be	determined	when	all	 three	phases	of	 the	 IFRS	9	project	 are	 closer	 to	 completion.	 The	Group	 is		
currently	monitoring	the	developments	of	this	standard	and	assessing	the	impact	of	these	changes.

2.20.4		 amendments	to	iFrs	10,	iFrs	12	and	ias	27,	investment	entities

The	amendments	 to	 IFRS	10,	 IFRS	12	and	 IaS	27,	 Investment	Entities	were	 issued	 in	October	2012.	The	amendments																																																
require	 investment	entities	to	use	fair	value	accounting	for	all	of	their	 investments,	 including	those	which	they	control	
or	have	significant	influence	over.	The	amendments	provide	an	exception	to	entities	that	meet	the	“investment	entity”																																														
definition	and	which	display	particular	characteristics.	

IFRS	12	was	amended	to	introduce	disclosures	specific	to	investment	entities.	The	amendments	for	these	standards	are	
effective	for	fiscal	years	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2014.	adoption	of	these	amendments	is	not	expected	to	have	a	
significant	impact	on	the	Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

2.20.5		 annual	improvements	2010-2012	and	2011-2013	cycles

annual	Improvements	2010-2012	and	2011-2013	cycles	were	issued	in	December	2013,	resulting	in	minor	amendments	
to	ten	standards.	The	improvements	for	these	standards	have	an	anticipated	effective	date	of	July	1,	2014.	adoption	of	
these	amendments	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

2.20.6		 amendments	to	ias	19,	employee	benefits

The	amendments	to	IaS	19,	Employee	Benefits	were	issued	in	November	2013.	The	amendments	clarify	the	accounting																																									
for	contributions	by	employees	or	third	parties	to	defined	benefit	plans.	The	amendments	to	this	standard	have	an	antici-
pated	effective	date	of	July	1,	2014.	adoption	of	these	amendments	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	
Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

2.20.7		 iFrs	4,	insurance	contracts	(iFrs	4)

IFRS	4,	issued	in	March	2004,	specifies	the	financial	reporting	for	insurance	contracts	by	an	insurer.	The	current	standard	
is	 Phase	 I	of	 the	 IaSB’s	 insurance	 contract	project	 and	does	not	 specify	 the	 recognition	or	measurement	of	 insurance	
contracts.	This	will	be	addressed	in	Phase	II	of	the	IaSB’s	and	the	U.S.	Financial	accounting	Standards	Board’s	(FaSB)	joint	
project.

In	July	2010	the	IaSB	issued	its	Insurance	contracts	(Phase	II)	Exposure	Draft	and	the	FaSB	issued	its	Insurance	contract	
Discussion	paper.	The	insurance	contract	project	is	considered	a	“joint	project”	whereby	the	IaSB	and	FaSB	(the	Boards)	
discuss	common	research	papers.	a	due	process	step	for	joint	projects	also	involves	assessing	differences	recognised	by	the	
Boards	and	determining	if	they	can	be	resolved.

(noTe	2	conTinued)
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In	June	2013,	the	IaSB	issued	a	revised	exposure	draft	of	its	proposals,	with	a	120	day	comment	period.	Since	publishing	
its	first	exposure	draft	in	July	2010,	the	IaSB	has	undertaken	extensive	outreach	activities	with	a	broad	range	of	stake-
holders.	Industry	concerns	that	the	proposed	measurement	model	would	increase	the	volatility	of	reported	results	when	
compared	with	most	current	models	have	been	a	central	theme	for	the	IaSB’s	discussions.

Redeliberations	on	the	standard	are	planned	for	completion	in	2014	and	publication	of	a	final	standard	is	not	likely	to	be	
issued	until	2015	and	is	not	expected	to	be	effective	before	January	1,	2018.

The	draft	proposals	include	a	number	of	significant	changes	in	the	measurement	and	disclosure	of	insurance	contracts.	
The	Group	will	continue	to	monitor	the	progress	of	the	project	in	order	to	assess	the	potential	impact	the	new	standard	
will	have	on	its	results	and	the	presentation	and	disclosure	thereof.

3 inVEStMEntS

3.1  CARRying vAlues And estimAted FAiR vAlues oF investments	are	as	follows:

	 	 	 March	31,	2014	 MaRch	31,	2013		

	 	 	 carrying	 Fair	 carrying		 Fair
	 	 	 value	 value	 Value		 Value

Investments	at	FVTPL	 	 	 	
	 Bonds		 	 159,687	 159,687	 151,248		 151,248
	 Equities	 	 47,565	 47,565	 49,049	 49,049			

	 		 	 	 	 207,252	 207,252	 200,297	 		200,297						

held-to-maturity
	 Bonds	 	 4,159	 4,136	 5,237	 5,340

	 		 	 	 	 4,159	 4,136	 5,237	 		5,340

available-for-sale
	 Equities	 	 2,966	 2,966	 3,704	 3,704

	 		 	 	 	 2,966	 2,966	 3,704	 		3,704

Loans	and	receivables
	 Mortgages	and	loans	 	 41,485	 42,112	 41,236		 41,835
	 Policy	loans	 	 73	 73	 66	 66

						 	 	 41,558	 42,185	 41,302	 		41,901

Derivatives	 	 	 	
	 Interest	rate	swaps		 	 33	 33	 5		 5
	 Foreign	currency	forward	contracts	 	 (16)	 (16)	 (27)	 (27)	

	 		 	 	 	 17	 17	 (22)	 		(22)

ToTal	invesTMenTs	 	 255,952	 256,556	 250,518	 		251,220

3.2  deRivAtive FinAnCiAl instRuments

The	Group’s	 investment	guidelines	permit	 the	 investment	managers	 to	utilise	derivative	 financial	 instruments	 such	 as	
foreign	currency	futures,	 interest	 rate	swaps	and	foreign	currency	forwards	for	yield	enhancement,	duration	manage-
ment,	interest	rate	and	foreign	currency	exposure	management	or	to	obtain	an	exposure	to	a	particular	financial	market.	
These	positions	are	monitored	regularly.	The	Group	principally	has	exposure	to	derivatives	related	to	foreign	currency	risk,	
interest	rate	risk	and	credit	risk.
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The	net	(losses)/income	arising	from	the	Group’s	derivative	financial	instruments	recognised	as	Investment	income	on	the	
consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 Note	 2014			 2013

Derivative	financial	instruments	 	 	 	
	 Interest	rate	swaps		 		 	 	 	 (87)	 160
	 Foreign	currency	forward	receivable	 	 	 	 	 5		 237

ToTal	neT	(losses)/incoMe	FroM	derivaTive	Financial	insTruMenTs	 3.3	 	(82)	 397

3.2.1		 Money	Market	Futures

Futures	provide	the	Group	with	participation	in	market	movements,	determined	by	the	underlying	instrument	on	which	
the	futures	contract	is	based,	without	holding	the	instrument	itself	or	the	individual	securities.	This	approach	allows	the	
Group	more	efficient	and	less	costly	access	to	the	exposure	than	would	be	available	by	the	exclusive	use	of	 individual	
fixed	income	and	money	market	securities.	Futures	contracts	may	also	be	used	as	substitutes	for	ownership	of	the	physical	
securities.	all	futures	contracts	are	held	on	a	non-leveraged	basis.	an	initial	margin	is	provided,	which	is	a	deposit	of	cash	
and/or	securities	in	an	amount	equal	to	a	prescribed	percentage	of	the	contract	value.	The	fair	value	of	futures	contracts	
is	estimated	daily	and	the	margin	is	adjusted	accordingly	with	unrealised	gains	and/or	losses	settled	daily	in	cash	and/or	
securities.	a	realised	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	when	the	contract	is	closed.

Futures	contracts	expose	the	Group	to	credit,	market	and	liquidity	risks.	The	Group	is	exposed	to	credit	risks	to	the	extent	
that	the	counterparties	are	not	able	to	perform	under	the	terms	of	the	contract.	Market	risk	arises	when	adverse	changes	
occur	in	the	estimated	fair	values	of	the	underlying	securities.

Liquidity	risk	represents	the	possibility	that	the	Group	may	not	be	able	to	adjust	rapidly	the	size	of	its	forward	positions	
at	a	reasonable	price	in	times	of	high	volatility	and	financial	stress.	Exchange-traded	futures	are,	however,	subject	to	a	
number	of	safeguards	to	ensure	that	obligations	are	met,	including	the	use	of	clearing	houses,	the	posting	of	margins	
and	the	daily	settlement	of	unrealised	gains	and	losses	and	counterparty	credit	risk	evaluation.	credit,	market	and	liquidity	
risks	and	how	these	risks	are	mitigated	are	disclosed	in	Note	14.3.

at	March	31,	2014,	the	notional	amount	of	outstanding	money	market	futures	amounted	to	$nil	(2013	–	$2.5	million).

3.2.2		 interest	rate	swaps

Swaps	 are	 used	 to	 manage	 interest	 rate	 exposure,	 portfolio	 duration	 or	 capitalise	 on	 anticipated	 changes	 in	 interest	
rate	volatility	without	 investing	directly	 in	the	underlying	securities.	Swaps	are	recorded	at	estimated	fair	values	at	the	
end	of	each	period	with	unrealised	gains	and	losses	recorded	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
Operations.

Interest	rate	swap	agreements	entail	the	exchange	of	commitments	to	pay	or	receive	interest,	such	as	an	exchange	of	
floating	rate	payments	for	fixed	rate	payments,	with	respect	to	a	notional	amount	of	principal.	These	agreements	involve	
elements	of	credit	and	market	risk.	Such	risks	include	the	possibility	that	there	may	not	be	a	liquid	market,	that	the	coun-
terparty	may	default	on	its	obligation	to	perform	or	that	there	may	be	unfavourable	movements	in	interest	rates.	credit	
risk	is	mitigated	by	making	collateral	calls	to	mitigate	exposure	and	counterparty	credit	risk	evaluation.	credit,	market	and	
liquidity	risks	and	how	these	risks	are	mitigated	are	disclosed	in	Note	14.3.

at	March	31,	2014,	the	Group	has	open	interest	rate	swaps	with	long	positions	of	$11.8	million	and	short	positions	of	
$9.9	million	(2013	–	long	positions	of	$500,000	and	short	positions	of	$3.0	million).

3.2.3		 Foreign	currency	Forwards

a	foreign	currency	forward	contract	is	a	commitment	to	purchase	or	sell	a	foreign	currency	at	a	future	date	at	a	defined	
rate.	The	Group	may	utilise	foreign	currency	forward	contracts	to	manage	the	impact	of	fluctuations	in	foreign	curren-
cies	on	the	value	of	its	foreign	currency	denominated	investments	or	to	gain	exposure	to	a	certain	currency	or	market	
rate.	Forward	contracts	may	expose	the	Group	to	credit,	market	and	liquidity	risks.	credit	risk	arises	from	the	potential	
inability	of	counterparties	to	perform	under	the	terms	of	the	contract.	The	Group	is	exposed	to	market	risk	to	the	extent	
that	adverse	changes	occur	in	the	exchange	rate	of	the	underlying	foreign	currency.	Liquidity	risk	represents	the	possibility	
that	the	Group	may	not	be	able	rapidly	to	adjust	the	size	of	its	forward	positions	at	a	reasonable	price	in	times	of	high	
volatility	and	financial	stress.	credit	risk	is	mitigated	by	making	collateral	calls	to	mitigate	exposure	and	counterparty	credit	
risk	evaluation.	credit,	market	and	liquidity	risks	and	how	these	risks	are	mitigated	are	disclosed	in	Note	14.3.

(noTe	3	conTinued)
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The	Group	had	the	following	open	foreign	currency	forward	contracts	expressed	in	originating	currency:

	 	 	
March	31,	2014	 	 	 	 notional		 notional
	 	 	 	 	 receivable	 	payable

Japanese	yen	 	 	 	 	 134,160	 -
australian	dollar	 	 	 	 	 3,694	 1,847
Mexican	peso	 	 	 	 	 -	 3,986
Brazilian	real	 	 	 	 	 498	 995
Euro	 	 	 	 	 748	 374
Sterling	 	 	 	 	 161	 -

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 	 	 	 Notional		 Notional
	 	 	 	 	 	 receivable			 payable

australian	dollar	 	 	 	 	 1,847	 -
canadian	dollar	 	 	 	 	 1,096	 -
Euro	 	 	 	 	 1,113	 545

at	March	31,	2014,	the	U.S.	dollar	equivalent	of	outstanding	foreign	currency	forward	contracts	with	long	positions	and	
short	positions	amounted	to	$6.2	million	and	$3.0	million	respectively	(2013	–	$4.4	million	and	$700,000).	
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3.3  investment inCome

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014	 2013

interest	income	 	 			
	 Bonds	–	at	FVTPL	 8,457		 6,505
	 Bonds	–	held-to-maturity	 255		 344	
		 Mortgages	and	loans	 2,579		 2,680	
	 cash	and	other	 97	 195		

	 		 	 11,388	 9,724

dividend	income		 	 			
	 Equities	–	at	FVTPL		 1,452	 1,380
	 Equities	–	available-for-sale	 345	 322

	 		 	 1,797	 1,702

net	realised	and	unrealised	gains/(losses)	on	investments		 	 			
	 Bonds	–	at	FVTPL		 (4,981)	 6,135
	 Equities	–	at	FVTPL		 2,557	 4,103
	 Derivative	financial	instruments		 (82)	 397
	 Investment	properties	 (140)	 (24)

	 		 	 (2,646)	 10,611

other
	 amortisation	of	premium	on	bonds		 (1,848)	 (1,160)
	 Rental	income	and	other	 1,258	 884
	 (Impairment	loss)/Recovery	of	previously	recognised	impairment	loss		 	
	 		 Bonds	–	held-to-maturity	 101		 208
	 		 Mortgages	and	loans	 (398)	 (2,823)

	 		 	 (887)	 (2,891)

invesTMenT	incoMe	beFore	deducTions	 9,652	 19,146

deductions		 	 		
	 Investment	income	relating	to	Deposit	administration	pension	plans		 (705)	 (830)
	 Investment	income	relating	to	Segregated	funds	with	guaranteed	return	 (2,060)	 (2,517)

	 		 	 (2,765)	 (3,347)

invesTMenT	incoMe	 6,887	 15,799

(noTe	3	conTinued)
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4 fAiR VALuE MEASuREMEnt	

a	number	of	the	Group’s	accounting	policies	and	disclosures	require	the	measurement	of	fair	values,	for	both	financial	
and	non-financial	assets	and	liabilities.

Fair	value	is	defined	as	the	price	that	would	be	received	to	sell	an	asset	or	paid	to	transfer	a	liability	in	an	orderly	transac-
tion	between	market	participants	at	the	measurement	date.

The	Group	categorises	 its	fair	value	measurements	according	to	a	three-level	hierarchy.	The	hierarchy	prioritises	the																										
inputs	by	the	Group’s	valuation	techniques.	a	level	is	assigned	to	each	fair	value	measurement	based	on	the	lowest		
level	input	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	in	its	entirety.	The	three	levels	of	the	fair	value	hierarchy	are	defined	
as	follows:

Level	1	–	Fair	value	is	based	on	unadjusted	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities.

Level	2	–	Fair	value	is	based	on	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	 included	within	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the		
assets	 or	 liability,	 either	 directly	 or	 indirectly.	 These	 include	 quoted	 prices	 for	 similar	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 in	 active		
markets,	quoted	prices	for	identical	or	similar	assets	and	liabilities	in	inactive	markets,	inputs	that	are	observable	that	
are	not	prices	such	as	interest	rates	and	credit	risks.		

Level	3	–	Fair	value	is	based	on	valuation	techniques	that	require	one	or	more	significant	inputs	that	are	not	based	on	
observable	market	 inputs.	 These	unobservable	 inputs	 reflect	 the	Group’s	 assumptions	about	market	participants	 in		
pricing	the	assets	and	liabilities.	

When	available,	quoted	market	prices	are	used	to	determine	fair	value	for	bonds,	equities	and	derivatives.	 If	quot-
ed	market	prices	are	not	available,	fair	value	is	typically	based	upon	alternative	valuation	techniques	such	as	matrix																																																						
pricing,	net	asset	valuation	and	discounted	cash	flow	modelling.	Broker	quotes	are	used	only	when	external	public	
vendor	prices	are	not	available.

The	Group	has	an	established	control	 framework	with	 respect	 to	 the	measurement	of	 fair	values.	This	 included	an		
investment	 validation	 team	 that	 has	 overall	 responsibility	 for	 overseeing	 all	 significant	 fair	 value	 measurements,																																											
including	 level	 3	 fair	 values,	 and	 reports	 directly	 to	 the	 chief	 Financial	 Officer.	 The	 Group’s	 investment	 validation		
process	includes	a	review	of	price	movements	relative	to	the	market.	any	significant	discrepancies	are	investigated	and	
discussed	with	investment	managers	and	a	valuation	specialist.	The	process	also	includes	regular	reviews	of	significant	
observable	inputs	and	valuation	adjustments.	Significant	valuation	issues	are	reported	to	the	Risk	committee.
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4.1  Assets And liAbilities meAsuRed At FAiR vAlue

The	following	table	presents	fair	value	of	the	company’s	assets	and	liabilities	measured	at	fair	value	in	the	consolidated	
Balance	Sheet,	categorised	by	level	under	the	fair	value	hierarchy.

March	31,	2014	 	 	 	 Total
	 		 	 level	1		 level	2		 level	3		 fair	value

Assets

investments	at	FvTpl	 	
	 Bonds	 	
					 US	government	and	agency	 42,788	 14,320	 -	 57,108	
	 		 Other	government	and	agency	 -	 4,599	 -	 4,599
	 		 corporate	 -	 69,259	 -	 69,259
	 		 Mortgage/asset-backed	securities	 -	 6,559	 -	 6,559
	 		 Other	(1)	 -	 22,162	 -	 22,162
	 Equities	 	
	 		 Bermuda	listed	equities	 21,087	 32	 -	 21,119
	 		 Non-Bermuda	listed	equities	 5,688	 -	 -	 5,688
	 		 Investment	in	hedge	funds	and	mutual	funds	 -	 20,436	 -	 20,436
	 		 Private	equity	funds	and	unquoted	equities	 -	 -	 322	 322

	 		 	 69,563	 137,367	 322	 207,252

available-for-sale	–	equities	 	
	 		 Private	equity	funds	and	unquoted	equities	 -	 -	 2,966	 2,966
derivatives	 -	 17	 -	 17
investment	properties	 -	 5,885	 -	 5,885

segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	 	
	 Bonds	 	
					 US	government	and	agency	 21,257	 -	 -	 21,257	
	 		 Other	government	and	agency	 -	 8,366	 -	 8,366
	 		 corporate	 -	 117,000	 -	 117,000
	 		 Mortgage/asset-backed	securities	 -	 14,571	 -	 14,571
	 		 Payable	arising	from	securities	repurchase	transaction		 (17,624)	 -	 -	 (17,624)

	 		 	 3,633	 139,937	 -	 143,570

ToTal	asseTs	aT	Fair	value	 	73,196	 283,206	 3,288	 359,690

LiAbiLities

Investment	contract	liabilities	 -	 3,222	 -	 3,222
Segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	 3,633	 139,937	 -	 143,570			

ToTal	liabiliTies	aT	Fair	value	 	3,633	 143,159	 -	 146,792
(1)	Investment	in	bond	funds	

(noTe	4	conTinued)
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MaRch	31,	2013	 	 	 	 Total
	 		 	 Level	1		 Level	2		 Level	3		 fair	value

Investments	at	FVTPL	 	 	 	 	
	 Bonds	 	
				 US	government	and	agency	 30,583				 16,171	 -	 46,754
	 	 Other	government	and	agency	 -				 8,413	 -	 8,413
	 	 corporate	 -				 63,415	 -	 63,415
	 	 Mortgage/asset-backed	securities	 -				 13,291	 -	 13,291
	 	 Other	(1)	 -				 19,375	 -	 19,375
	 Equities	 	
	 	 Bermuda	listed	equities	 22,176	 -	 -	 22,176
	 	 Non-Bermuda	listed	equities	 6,104	 -	 -	 6,104
	 	 Investment	in	hedge	funds	and	mutual	funds	 -	 20,589	 -	 20,589
	 	 Private	equity	funds	and	unquoted	equities	 -	 -	 180	 180

	 	 	 58,863	 141,254	 180	 200,297

available-for-sale	–	Equities	 	
	 		 Private	equity	funds	and	unquoted	equities	 -	 -	 3,704	 3,704
Derivatives	 	 (22)	 -	 (22)
Investment	properties	 -	 6,936	 -	 6,936

Segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	 	
	 Bonds	 4,432	 36,468	 -	 40,900
					 US	government	and	agency	 -	 7,020	 -	 7,020	
	 		 Other	government	and	agency	 -	 73,655	 -	 73,655
	 		 corporate	 -	 19,000	 -	 19,000	

	 		 	 4,432	 136,143	 -	 140,575

TOTaL	aSSETS	aT	FaIR	VaLUE	 	63,295	 284,311	 3,884	 351,490

LiAbiLities

Investment	contract	liabilities	 -	 2,787	 -	 2,787
Segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	 4,432	 136,143	 -	 140,575			

TOTaL	LIaBILITIES	aT	FaIR	VaLUE	 	4,432	 138,930	 -	 143,362

(1)	Investment	in	bond	funds

Valuation	techniques	used	to	measure	fair	value	of	the	financial	assets	and	liabilities	on	a	recurring	basis	are:

•	 bonds	–	These	are	generally	valued	by	third	party	independent	pricing	sources	using	pricing	models.	The	sig-
nificant	inputs	include,	but	are	not	limited	to,	yield	curves,	credit	risks	and	spreads	and	measures	of	volatility.		
The	Group	considers	these	Level	2	inputs	as	they	are	corroborated	with	other	externally	obtained	information.		
Bonds	are	classified	under	Level	2	except	U.S.	Treasury	securities	which	are	classified	as	Level	1.

•	 equities	–	These	consist	of	listed	equities,	unquoted	equities	and	investments	in	mutual	funds,	hedge	funds	and	
private	equity	funds.

	 Fair	values	of	listed	equities	are	based	on	quoted	prices	from	the	exchange	where	it	is	principally	traded.	These	
are	classified	under	Level	1.	certain	equities	are	unquoted	and	are	classified	as	Level	3,	as	valuation	is	based	on	
cost	which	approximates	fair	value.

	 Investments	in	mutual	funds	and	hedge	funds	are	valued	using	published	net	asset	values	provided	by	third	par-
ties	such	as	investment	managers	and	administrators.	The	Group	can	redeem	a	portion	of	these	investments	on	a	
regular	basis	and	is	not	subject	to	lock-up	provisions.	accordingly,	these	investments	are	classified	under	Level	2.

	 Investments	 in	 private	 equity	 funds	 are	 valued	 using	 net	 asset	 values	 obtained	 from	 investment	 managers	
and	general	partners.	These	investments	may	be	subject	to	certain	lock-up	provisions.	The	type	of	underlying		
investments	held	by	the	investee	which	form	the	basis	of	the	net	asset	valuation	include	assets	such	as	private	
business	ventures,	to	which	the	Group	does	not	have	access.	The	Group	considers	net	asset	values	as	a	reason-
able	approximation	of	fair	values.	accordingly,	these	investments	are	classified	under	Level	3.
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•	 included	within	bonds	–	Other	and	Equities	–	Investments	in	mutual	funds	and	hedge	funds	are	$28.3	million	
(2013	–	$25.3	million)	of	 investments	 in	argus	 Investment	Strategies	Fund	Ltd.	This	fund	has	been	classified	
between	Bonds	and	Equities	based	on	the	underlying	securities	held.	Net	assets	valuation	 is	performed	on	a	
weekly	basis	and	investors	are	able	to	redeem	the	shares	weekly,	unless	the	value	of	redemption	is	more	than	10	
percent	of	the	net	asset	value	of	the	fund,	when	the	amount	of	the	redemption	is	at	the	fund’s	discretion.		This	
investment	is	classified	as	Level	2.

•	 derivatives	–	Valuation	 is	derived	 from	the	underlying	 instrument.	Derivatives	are	 subject	 to	 the	 same	 risks	
as	that	underlying	instrument	including	liquidity,	credit	and	market	risk.	Fair	values	are	based	on	exchange	or																													
broker–dealer	 quotations,	 where	 available,	 or	 discounted	 cash	 flows,	 which	 incorporate	 the	 pricing	 of	 the		
underlying	instrument,	yield	curves	and	other	factors.	These	investments	are	classified	as	Level	2.

•	 investment	properties	–	The	fair	value	of	investment	properties	was	determined	by	external	independent	prop-
erty	valuers,	having	appropriate	recognised	professional	qualifications	and	recent	experience	in	the	location	and	
category	of	the	property	being	valued.	The	independent	valuers	provide	the	fair	value	of	the	Group’s	investment	
properties	annually.	Fair	value	is	based	on	market	data	from	recent	comparable	transactions.

•	 investment	contract	liabilities	–	Fair	value	of	the	Deposit	accounted	annuity	policies	is	determined	by	using	
valuation	techniques,	such	as	discounted	cash	flow	methods.	a	variety	of	factors	are	considered	in	the	valuation	
techniques,	including	yield	curve,	credit	spread	and	default	assumptions,	which	have	market	observable	inputs.	

The	table	below	provides	a	fair	value	roll	forward	for	the	assets	and	liabilities	measured	at	fair	value	for	which	significant	
unobservable	inputs	(Level	3)	are	used	in	the	fair	value	measurement	for	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014.	

	
For	The	year	ended	March	31,	2014	 	 invesTMenTs	 	 seGreGaTed		

	 	 	 available-	 	
Funds

	 	
	 at	FvTpl		 for-sale	 	

	 	 equities	 equities	 Total

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 180				 3,704	 3,884	 -		
Included	in	Other	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 (20)	 (20)	 -
Transfers	from	Level	1	to	Level	3	(1)	 	 306	 -	 306	 -	
Sales	 	 (164)	 (718)	 (882)	 -

asseTs	based	on	level	3	inpuTs		 		 322				 	2,966		 	3,288		 	-	

(1)	The	Group	reclassified	certain	equities	from	Level	1	to	Level	3	during	the	year.	This	was	due	to	lack	of	recent	and	observable	arm’s	length	transactions	in	these	equities.	

FOR	ThE	yEaR	ENDED	MaRch	31,	2013	 	 INVESTMENTS	 	 SEGREGaTED		

	 	 	 available-	 	
FUNDS

	 	
	 	 at	FVTPL	 for-sale	 	

	 	 Equities	 Equities	 Total	

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 1,340	 4,177	 5,517	 918		
Included	in	Other	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 24	 24	 -
Sales	 	 (1,160)	 (497)	 (1,657)	 (918)

aSSETS	BaSED	ON	LEVEL	3	INPUTS	 			 180		 	3,704		 3,884	 -

(noTe	4	conTinued)
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4.2 Assets And liAbilities not meAsuRed At FAiR vAlue

For	assets	and	liabilities	not	measured	at	fair	value	in	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet,	the	following	table	discloses	
summarised	fair	value	information	categorised	by	the	level	in	the	preceding	hierarchy,	together	with	the	related	carry-
ing	values.

March	31,	2014	 	 	 Total	 carrying
	 		 	 level	1		 level	2		 level	3		 fair	value	 value

Assets

held-to-maturity	bonds	(1)	 -	 4,136	 -	 4,136	 4,159
Mortgages	and	loans	(2)	 -	 42,112	 -	 42,112	 41,485
Policy	loans	 -	 73	 -	 73	 73
Investment	in	Bermuda	aviation	Services	(BaS)	(3)	 4,831	 -	 -	 4,831	 7,167			

ToTal	asseTs	disclosed	aT	Fair	value	 	4,831	 46,321	 -	 51,152	 52,884

LiAbiLities

Investment	contract	liabilities	(4)	 -	 80,329	 -	 80,329	 83,191

ToTal	liabiliTies	disclosed	aT	Fair	value	 -	 80,329	 -	 80,329	 83,191	

	
MaRch	31,	2013	 	 	 	 Total	 carrying
	 		 	 Level	1		 Level	2		 Level	3		 fair	value	 value

Assets

held-to-maturity	bonds	(1)	 -	 5,340	 -	 5,340	 5,237
Mortgages	and	loans	(2)	 -	 41,835	 -	 41,835	 41,236
Policy	loans	 -	 66	 -	 66	 66
Investment	in	BaS	(3)	 4,486	 -	 -	 4,486	 7,225			

TOTaL	aSSETS	DIScLOSED	aT	FaIR	VaLUE	 	4,486	 47,241	 -	 51,727	 53,764

LiAbiLities

Investment	contract	liabilities	(4)	 -	 79,934	 -	 79,934	 81,145

TOTaL	LIaBILITIES	DIScLOSED	aT	FaIR	VaLUE	 -	 79,934	 -	 79,934	 81,145

(1)		Fair	value	of	bonds	–	see	Note	4.1	for	valuation	techniques	used	to	measure	fair	value.
(2)		Fair	value	of	mortgages	and	loans	is	determined	by	discounting	expected	future	cash	flows	using	current	market	rates.
(3)		Fair	value	of	investment	in	BaS	is	based	on	bid	price	as	quoted	in	the	Bermuda	Stock	Exchange.
(4)		Fair	value	of	Investment	contract	liabilities	is	based	on	the	following	methods:	

•	 Deposit	administration	pension	plans	–	based	on	a	discounted	cash	flow	method.	Factors	considered	in	the	valuation	include	current	yield	curve,	plus	appropriate	
spreads	which	have	market	observable	inputs;	and

•	 Self-funded	group	health	policies	–	the	carrying	value	approximates	the	fair	value	due	to	the	short-term	nature	of	these	investment	contract	liabilities.

The	carrying	value	of	the	following	short-term	assets	and	liabilities	approximate	fair	value	and	are	categorised	as	Level	2.
•	 cash	and	short-term	investments;
•	 Interest	and	dividends	receivable;
•	 Other	financial	assets;
•	 Payable	for	investments	purchased;	and
•	 accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities.

4.3  tRAnsFeRs oF level 1 And level 2 Assets And liAbilities

The	Group’s	policy	is	to	record	transfers	of	assets	and	liabilities	between	Level	1	and	Level	2	at	their	fair	values	as	at	
the	end	of	each	reporting	period,	consistent	with	the	date	of	determination	of	fair	value.	assets	are	transferred	out	of	
Level	1	when	they	are	no	longer	transacted	with	sufficient	frequency	and	volume	in	an	active	market.	During	the	year	
ended	March	31,	2014,	the	Group	transferred	$31,900	of	assets	measured	at	fair	value	from	Level	1	to	Level	2	(2013	
–	nil	transfers).	conversely,	assets	are	transferred	from	Level	2	to	Level	1	when	transaction	volume	and	frequency	are	
indicative	of	an	active	market.	During	the	years	ended	March	31,	2014	and	2013,	there	were	no	transfers	from	Level	
2	to	Level	1.
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5 inVEStMEnt in ASSoCiAtES	

The	Group	holds	equity	 interests	 in	certain	companies	 incorporated	 in	Bermuda	and	has	significant	 influence	over	the	
operational	and	financial	policies	of	these	companies.	

Investment	in	associates	is	comprised	of:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014			 2013

Investment	in	BaS				 7,167	 				7,225
Investment	in	other	associates					 	 4,125	 				3,605		

ToTal	invesTMenT	in	associaTes					 11,292	 				10,830
	

The	proportionate	share	of	the	comprehensive	income/(loss)	of	associates	for	the	year	is	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014			 2013

Investment	in	BaS					 217	 				412
Investment	in	other	associates					 	 517	 				302		

share	oF	earninGs	oF	associaTes					 734	 				714

Investment	in	BaS					 (2)	 				(308)
Investment	in	other	associates					 	 -	 				-		

share	oF	oTher	coMprehensive	incoMe/(loss)	oF	associaTes					 (2)	 				(308)

Investment	in	BaS					 215	 				104
Investment	in	other	associates					 	 517	 				302		

share	oF	ToTal	coMprehensive	incoMe	oF	associaTes					 732	 			406

5.1      investment in bAs

BaS	is	a	public	company	traded	on	the	Bermuda	Stock	Exchange.	It	is	a	well-diversified	company	engaged	in	the	provision	
of	aircraft,	passenger	and	cargo	handling	services;	distribution	of	automotive	parts	and	provision	of	automotive	services;	
provision	of	facilities	management	and	courier	services;	provision	of	customised	energy	solutions	and	provision	of	cabling,	
networking	and	telephony	services	and	maintenance.	BaS	is	a	material	associate	to	the	Group.

The	share	capital	of	BaS	consists	of	ordinary	shares,	which	are	held	directly	by	the	Group.	The	principal	place	of	business,	
as	shown	below,	is	also	the	place	of	incorporation	and	registration,	and	the	proportion	of	ownership	interest	is	the	same	
as	the	proportion	of	voting	rights	held.

principal	place	of	business				 Measurement	method				 	 Fair	value	 carrying	value	–	at	equity
	 	 	 	 2014				 2013				 2014				 2013

Bermuda						 Equity					 	 4,831					 4,486		 		7,167				 7,225

as	the	fair	value	is	lower	than	the	equity	of	the	Investment	in	BaS,	an	impairment	review	and	evaluation	on	the	going	
concern	basis	was	performed.	The	Group	believes	that	the	recoverable	amount	using	the	value-in-use	method	is	higher	
than	the	published	fair	value	because	the	market	price	continues	to	reflect	ongoing	uncertainty	and	volatility	in	the	local	
economy	as	opposed	to	the	fundamental	long-term	value	of	this	investment.	The	recoverable	amount	under	the	value-
in-use	method	is	also	higher	than	the	equity	of	the	Investment	in	BaS.

Transactions	arising	from	contracts	entered	into	between	the	Group	and	BaS	are	disclosed	in	Note	26.1.



Argus group Holdings limited          2014 AnnuAl RepoRt          47

Set	out	below	is	the	summarised	financial	information	of	BaS:

	 	 	 bas	
	 	 	 2014	 2013

summarised	balance	sheet
	 current	assets				 22,826	 20,676
	 Non-current	assets				 23,748	 25,743
	 current	liabilities			 (13,351)	 (10,221)
	 Non-current	liabilities	 (5,742)	 (8,903)
	 Non-controlling	interests		 (1,065)		 (654)

net	assets			 26,416			 26,641
Percentage	of	Group’s	ownership	interest			 27.13%	 27.12%

invesTMenT	in	bas			 7,167	 7,225

summarised	statement	of	comprehensive	income
Revenue				 56,237	 44,362

Net	earnings	from	continuing	operations			 809	 1,195
Net	(loss)/earnings	from	discontinued	operations	 (9)	 324
Other	comprehensive	income			 (7)	 (1,136)

ToTal	coMprehensive	incoMe			 793	 			383

dividends	received	FroM	bas			 273			 273

5.2  ContingenCies And RestRiCtions

Included	in	Investment	in	other	associates	is	a	35.3	percent	interest	in	a	local	private	company	that	built	an	office	building	
in	hamilton,	Bermuda.	The	Group	has	issued	a	guarantee	in	respect	of	its	proportionate	share	of	a	term	bank	loan	facility	
totalling	$7.8	million	(2013	–	$8.4	million)	for	this	office	building.

This	company	also	secured	a	letter	of	credit	in	order	to	finance	the	purchase	of	another	property.	Under	the	terms	of	the	
letter	of	credit,	an	amount	of	$235,000	(2013	–	$225,000),	which	is	equivalent	to	one	annual	installment	payment,	is	
required	to	be	held	in	escrow	until	the	final	payment	has	been	made.	The	final	payment	is	scheduled	on	January	31,	2018.

5.3  otheR

Whilst	the	Group	has	40	percent	ownership	of	a	private	local	reinsurance	company,	it	has	no	significant	influence	over	the	
company’s	operational	and	financial	policies	due	to	restrictive	voting	rights.	This	investment	is	included	in	Note	3	under	
available-for-sale	equities	and	is	recorded	at	cost.

6  inSuRAnCE BALAnCES RECEiVABLE

Insurance	balances	receivable	is	comprised	of:

March	31,	2014	 	 insured	 		 property		 	
	 	 employee	 	life	and	 and	 	
	 	 benefits	 pensions	 casualty	 Total

Due	from	policyholders,	agents	and	brokers	 	 2,784	 1,073	 6,366	 10,223
Due	from	reinsurers	 	 2,834	 -	 -	 2,834

ToTal	insurance	balances	receivable	 	 5,618	 1,073	 6,366	 13,057

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 Insured	 		 Property		 	
	 	 Employee	 	Life	and	 and	 	
	 	 Benefits	 Pensions	 casualty	 Total

Due	from	policyholders,	agents	and	brokers	 	 8,948	 1,062	 6,687	 16,697
Due	from	reinsurers	 	 1,772	 -	 -	 1,772

TOTaL	INSURaNcE	BaLaNcES	REcEIVaBLE	 	 10,720	 1,062	 6,687	 18,469
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7  inVEStMEnt PRoPERtiES

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 Fair	value

Balance,	March	31,	2012	 	 	 	 7,010
Fair	value	losses	 	 	 	 (24)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 	 	 	 (50)

Balance,	March	31,	2013	 		 	 	 6,936	
Sale	of	investment	property	 	 	 	 (925)
Fair	value	losses	 	 	 	 (140)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 	 	 	 14

balance,	March	31,	2014	 		 	 	 5,885

The	Group’s	investment	properties	consist	of	a	residential	apartment	and	condominium	fractional	units	which	are	held	for	
rental	income.	Investment	properties	are	stated	at	fair	value.	During	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	the	Group	sold	the	
residential	apartment.

The	Group	has	entered	into	operating	leases	for	certain	investment	properties.	The	rental	income	arising	during	the	year	
amounted	to	$157,000	(2013	–	$152,000),	which	is	included	in	Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
Operations.	Direct	operating	expenses	included	within	Investment	income	arising	in	respect	of	such	properties	during	the	
year	were	$281,000	(2013	–	$251,000).

There	are	no	restrictions	on	the	realisability	of	investment	properties	or	the	remittance	of	income	and	proceeds	of	disposal.	
The	Group	has	no	contractual	obligations	to	purchase,	construct	or	develop	the	investment	properties	other	than	normal	
service	charge	arrangements.

 
8 otHER ASSEtS

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

other	financial	assets	 	 	 	 	
Fees	receivable	 	 	 	 1,801	 1,559	
Receivable	from	self-funded	group	health	policies	 	 	 	 1,152	 2,653
Receivable	for	investments	sold	 	 	 	 508	 366
Notes	and	other	receivables	 	 	 	 3,207	 1,465

ToTal	oTher	Financial	asseTs	 	 	 		 6,668	 6,043	
Income	taxes	receivable	 	 	 	 248	 230
Prepaid	expenses	 	 	 	 2,103	 1,709

ToTal	oTher	asseTs	 	 	 	 9,019	 7,982	

9  DEfERRED PoLiCY ACQuiSition CoStS	

	The	reconciliation	between	opening	and	closing	Deferred	policy	acquisition	costs	is	shown	below:

	 	 	 	
FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 2,182	 2,295
Deferral	during	the	year	 	 4,158	 3,873
Expense	for	the	year	 	 (4,200)	 (3,885)	
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 	 139	 (101)

balance,	end	oF	year	 	 2,279	 2,182
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10 PRoPERtY AnD EQuiPMEnt
	 	 	 	
	 		 	 	 Furniture	
	 	 land	and	 computer	 and	other	 	
	 	 buildings		 equipment		 equipment	 	Total

Gross	carrying	amount	 	 	 	 			
Balance,	March	31,	2012	 78,567	 27,448	 6,946	 112,961				
additions	 556	 1,117	 66	 1,739
Retirements				 -	 (38)	 (43)	 (81)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 (38)	 (34)	 (29)	 (101)			

Balance,	March	31,	2013	 	79,085	 28,493	 6,940	 114,518			
additions	 597	 2,505	 46	 3,148
Retirements	 (501)	 (322)	 (55)	 (878)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 72	 47	 47	 166

balance,	March	31,	2014	 79,253	 30,723	 6,978	 116,954	

accumulated	depreciation	 	 	 	
Balance,	March	31,	2012	 12,100	 19,585	 5,628	 37,313	
Depreciation	charge	for	the	year	 2,715	 2,741	 182	 5,638
Retirements	 -	 (38)	 (43)	 (81)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 (26)	 (31)	 (14)	 (71)					

Balance,	March	31,	2013	 14,789	 22,257	 5,753	 42,799		
Depreciation	charge	for	the	year	 2,803	 2,651	 202	 5,656			
Retirements	 (501)	 (322)	 (55)	 (878)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 27	 37	 31	 95			

balance,	March	31,	2014	 17,118	 24,623	 5,931	 47,672			

Net	carrying	amount,	end	of	year	 	 	 	
as	at	March	31,	2013	 64,296	 6,236	 1,187	 71,719

balance,	March	31,	2014	 62,135	 6,100	 1,047	 69,282
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11  intAngiBLE ASSEtS

	 		 	 	 	 	 	 Total

Gross	carrying	amount	 	 	
Balance,	March	31,	2012	 	 	 	 24,651	
additions		 	 	 	 66
Foreign	exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 (217)

Balance,	March	31,	2013	 		 	 		 24,500
Foreign	exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 354

balance,	March	31,	2014	 		 	 	 24,854

accumulated	amortisation	and	impairment	losses	
Balance,	March	31,	2012	 	 	 	 17,864
amortisation	charge	for	the	year	 	 	 	 1,031
Impairment	loss	 	 	 	 158
Foreign	exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 (73)

Balance,	March	31,	2013	 	 	 	 18,980
amortisation	charge	for	the	year	 	 	 	 1,071
Foreign	exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 163

balance,	March	31,	2014	 	 		 	 20,214

Net	carrying	amount,	end	of	year	 	 	 	 	
as	at	March	31,	2013	 	 	 	 5,520

balance,	March	31,	2014	 	 	 	 4,640

	 The	remaining	useful	lives	of	the	customer	lists	range	from	four	to	10	years.

12  inSuRAnCE ContRACt LiABiLitiES

	 The	Group’s	 Insurance	contract	 liabilities	and	Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions	and	unearned	premiums	are	com-
prised	of:

March	31,	2014	 Note	 	 Gross	 ceded		 net

Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	 12.1	 	 149,366	 (7,332)	 142,034	
Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	 12.2	 	 33,933	 (6,660)	 27,273

	 	 	 	 	 	 183,299	 (13,992)	 169,307
Unearned	premiums	 12.3	 	 17,611	 (9,422)	 8,189

ToTal	insurance	conTracT	liabiliTies	 	 	 200,910	 (23,414)	 177,496

MaRch	31,	2013	 Note	 	 Gross	 ceded		 Net

Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	 12.1	 	 146,731	 (7,942)	 138,789	
Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	 12.2	 	 33,722	 (6,059)	 27,663

	 	 	 	 	 	 180,453	 (14,001)	 166,452
Unearned	premiums	 12.3	 	 17,691	 (10,202)	 7,489

TOTaL	INSURaNcE	cONTRacT	LIaBILITIES	 	 	 198,144	 (24,203)	 173,941
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12.1  liFe And Annuity poliCy ReseRves	 	 	 	 	

The	table	below	sets	out	the	Group’s	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	shown	by	type	of	product	and	by	reportable	segment:

March	31,	2014	 	 insured	 	
	 	 	 employee	 life	and	
	 	 	 benefits	 pensions	 Total

annuities	 	 	 	 -			 		124,154	 124,154
Long-term	disability	 	 	 	 7,003	 -	 7,003
Life	 	 	 	 	 -			 		18,209	 18,209

Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	 	 	 	 7,003	 142,363	 149,366
Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions		 	 	 	 (5,261)	 (2,071)	 (7,332)

liFe	and	annuiTy	policy	reserves,	neT	oF	reinsurance	 	 	 1,742	 140,292	 142,034

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 Insured	
	 	 	 employee	 Life	and	
	 	 	 benefits	 pensions	 Total

annuities	 	 	 	 -			 		120,977	 	120,977
Long-term	disability	 	 	 	 6,498			 		-	 6,498
Life	 	 	 	 	 -			 		19,256	 19,256

Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	 	 	 	 6,498			 		140,233	 146,731
Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions		 	 	 	 (4,790)			 (3,152)	 (7,942)

LIFE	aND	aNNUITy	POLIcy	RESERVES,	NET	OF	REINSURaNcE	 1,708			 		137,081	 138,789	

	
The	majority	of	the	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	relate	to	policies	issued	to	individuals	domiciled	in	Bermuda.
The	Reinsurer’s	share	of	claims	provisions	are	not	considered	impaired	as	at	year	end.

The	composition	of	the	assets	supporting	the	net	liabilities	is	as	follows:

March	31,	2014	 	 	 Mortgage	 	 land	and	
	 cash		 bonds		 and	loans		 equities(1)	 	buildings			 Total	

annuities	 108	 67,524	 6,836	 33,063	 16,623	 124,154
Long-term	disability	 -	 -	 1,742	 -	 -	 1,742	
Life	 431	 5,542	 7,044	 3,121	 -	 16,138

liFe	and	annuiTy	policy	reserves,		
neT	oF	reinsurance	 539	 73,066	 15,622	 36,184	 16,623	 142,034

(1)	Includes	Investment	in	associates

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 	 Mortgage	 	 Land	and
	 cash		 Bonds		 and	loans		 Equities(1)	 	buildings			 Total	

annuities	 340	 56,633	 9,572	 35,682	 18,750	 120,977
Long-term	disability	 -	 -	 1,708	 -	 -	 1,708	
Life	 3,118	 6,632	 3,047	 3,307	 -	 16,104

LIFE	aND	aNNUITy	POLIcy	RESERVES,		
NET	OF	REINSURaNcE	 3,458	 63,265	 14,327	 38,989	 18,750	 138,789

(1)	Includes	Investment	in	associates

The	Group	examines	the	assumptions	used	in	determining	the	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	on	an	ongoing	basis	to	
ensure	they	appropriately	reflect	emerging	experience	and	changes	in	risk	profile.	annually	the	Group	conducts	a	com-
prehensive	 review	of	 all	 actuarial	methods	 and	assumptions.	changes	 to	 actuarial	methods	 and	assumptions	used	 in	
determining	Insurance	contract	liabilities	will	result	in	a	change	to	the	projected	value	of	policy	cash	flows	and	therefore,	
to	the	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves.	The	net	impact	of	changes	in	actuarial	methods	and	assumptions	was	an	increase	
in	reserves	backing	policyholder	liabilities	of	$2.1	million	(2013	–	$3.5	million).	These	amounts	are	net	of	the	impact	of	the	
reinsurance	assets	on	policyholder	liabilities	of	$7.3	million	(2013	–	$7.9	million).
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(noTe	12	conTinued)

The	changes	in	the	net	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	for	the	year	are	as	follows:

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 	 	 	 138,789	 135,144	
changes	due	to:
	 Issuance	of	new	policies	 	 	 	 	 3,810	 5,700
	 Normal	in-force	movement	 	 	 	 	 (2,709)	 (5,520)
	 Interest	rate	assumptions	 	 	 	 	 1,661	 3,159			
	 Expense	assumptions	 	 	 	 	 483	 306

balance,	end	oF	year	 					 					 				 		 142,034				 	138,789		

12.1.1		 Key	assumptions	–	life	and	annuity	policy	reserves

 ASSuMPtion, MEtHoDoLogY AnD SEnSitiVitiES   RiSK MAnAgEMEnt

The	 Group	 maintains	 underwriting	 stan-
dards	 to	 determine	 the	 insurability	 of		
applicants.	claim	trends	are	monitored	on	
an	 ongoing	 basis.	 To	 offset	 some	 of	 the	
mortality	 risk,	 the	Group	cedes	a	propor-
tion	of	the	risk	with	reinsurers.	

Mortality	 and	 morbidity	 are	 monitored	
regularly.	

The	risks	associated	with	insurance	contracts	and	in	particular	
with	 Life	 and	annuity	 insurance	 contracts	 are	 complex	 and	
subject	to	a	number	of	variables	that	complicate	quantitative	
sensitivity	analysis.	

To	 recognise	 the	 uncertainty	 involved	 in	 determining	 the	
best	estimate	assumptions	a	Provision	for	adverse	Deviation	
(PfaD)	is	established.	The	PfaD	is	determined	by	including	a	
margin	for	conservatism	for	each	key	assumption	to	allow	for	
possible	deterioration	 in	experience	and	 to	help	ensure	 the	
policy	 reserves	will	 be	 adequate	 to	pay	 for	 future	benefits.	
The	PfaD	assumptions	tend	to	be	in	the	conservative	end	of	
the	ranges	suggested	by	the	cIa.	

In	 conjunction	 with	 prudent	 business	 practices	 to	 manage	
both	business	and	investment	risks,	the	selection	and	moni-
toring	of	appropriate	assumptions	are	designed	to	minimise	
the	Group’s	exposure	to	measurement	uncertainty.	

(a)		Mortality	and	morbidity	risk	

Mortality	 refers	 to	 the	 likelihood	 of	 death.	 The	 mortality																																																															
assumption	is	based	on	industry	standard	life	insurance	and	
standard	annuity	past	and	emerging	experience.	The	Group’s	
life	 insurance	 and	 annuity	 business	 is	 not	 sufficient	 to	 use	
company	specific	mortality	tables.

a	five	percent	decrease	 in	the	best	estimate	assumption	for	
annuitant	mortality	would	increase	the	policy	reserves	by	$2.13	
million,	1.67	percent	(2013	–	$2.07	million,	1.68	percent).	

Morbidity	refers	to	the	incidence	of	accident	and	sickness	as	
well	 as	 the	 recovery	 from	 the	 incidence.	 The	 morbidity	 as-
sumptions	 are	 based	 on	 the	 industry	 standard	 morbidity	
tables	for	the	long-term	disability	business.	The	frequency	of	
claims	is	low	and	the	risk	is	substantially	reinsured.	
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 ASSuMPtion, MEtHoDoLogY AnD SEnSitiVitiES   RiSK MAnAgEMEnt

The	 Group’s	 policy	 of	 closely	 matching		
the	cash	flows	of	assets	with	those	of	the	
corresponding	 liabilities	 is	 designed	 to	
mitigate	 the	 Group’s	 exposure	 to	 future	
changes	in	interest	rates.	The	interest	rate	
risk	 positions	 in	 business	 segments	 are	
monitored	 on	 an	 ongoing	 basis.	 Under	
caLM,	the	re-investment	rate	is	developed	
using	 interest	 rate	 scenario	 testing	 and		
reflects	the	interest	rate	risk	positions.

Bonds,	 equities,	 real	 estate	 and	 other	
non-fixed	 income	 assets	 are	 used	 to	 sup-
port	 long-dated	obligations	 in	 the	Group’s		
annuity	 and	 pensions	 businesses,	 and	 for	
long-dated	 insurance	 obligations	 on	 con-
tracts	 where	 the	 investment	 return	 risk	 is	
borne	by	the	Group.

For	certain	policies,	the	premiums	and	ben-
efits	 reflect	 the	 Group’s	 assumed	 level	 of	
future	credit	losses	at	contract	inception	or	
most	recent	contract	adjustment	date.	The	
Group	holds	 explicit	 provisions	 in	 actuarial	
liabilities	for	credit	risk	including	PfaD.

The	Group	prices	 its	products	 to	cover	 the	
expected	 costs	 of	 servicing	 and	 maintain-
ing	them.	 In	addition,	 the	Group	monitors	
expenses	 quarterly,	 including	 comparisons	
of	 actual	 expenses	 to	 expense	 allowances		
used	in	pricing	and	valuation.

(b)		investment	returns	and	interest	rate	risk	

	 assets	are	allocated	to	the	different	business	segments.	
For	each	 significant	operating	 segment,	caLM	 is	used	
to	project	the	cash	flows	from	the	supporting	assets	and	
the	 cash	flows	 from	 the	 liabilities.	 The	projected	asset	
cash	flows	are	combined	with	the	projected	cash	flows	
from	future	asset	sales	and	purchases	to	determine	the	
expected	investment	returns	for	all	future	years.

	 The	 cIa	 prescribes	 several	 representative	 reinvestment	
scenarios	 for	use	 in	caLM	to	determine	 the	sensitivity	
of	 the	 Group’s	 business	 to	 possible	 reinvestment	 risk.	
These	represent	a	wide	variety	of	interest	rate	scenarios.	
To	provide	 a	 representative	 example	 a	one	percent	 in-
crease	 in	 the	best	estimate	 investment	 return	assump-
tion	decreases	the	total	Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves	
by	$11.5	million	(2013	–	$11.3	million).	a	one	percent	
decrease	in	the	best	estimate	assumption	increases	the	
total	 Life	 and	 annuity	 policy	 reserves	 by	 $13.5	 million	
(2013	–	$13.3	million).	

(c)			credit	risk

	 credit	 risk	 is	provided	for	by	 reducing	 investment	yields	
assumed	 in	 the	 calculation	 of	 the	 policy	 reserves.	 Past	
Group	 and	 industry	 experience	 over	 the	 long	 term,	 in	
addition	to	ongoing	reviews	of	the	current	portfolio,	are	
used	to	project	credit	losses.	In	addition	to	the	allowances	
for	losses	on	invested	assets	due	to	interest	rate	risk,	the	
policy	reserves	include	a	provision	of	$1.7	million	(2013	–	
$1.6	million)	to	provide	for	future	asset	defaults	and	loss	
of	asset	value	on	current	assets	and	future	purchases.

(d)		expenses	

	 Operating	 expense	 assumptions	 reflect	 the	 projected	
costs	of	servicing	and	maintaining	the	in-force	policies.	

	 The	 assumptions	 are	 derived	 from	 internal	 reviews	 of																																				
operating	costs	and	include	an	allowance	for	inflation.

	 a	 ten	percent	 increase	 in	 the	best	 estimate	assumption	
for	 unit	 expenses	 would	 increase	 the	 policy	 reserves	 by	
approximately	$0.8	million	(2013	–	$0.7	million).
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12.2  pRovision FoR unpAid And unRepoRted ClAims													 	 	

The	table	below	sets	out	the	Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	shown	by	type	of	product	and	by	reportable		
segment.	The	majority	of	these	insurance	contracts	are	of	a	short-term	nature.

March	31,	2014	 	 insured		 property		
	 	 employee		 and
	 	 benefits	 casualty		 Total

healthcare	 	 15,759	 -	 15,759	
Fire	 	 -	 851	 851	
Motor	 	 -	 15,567	 15,567
accident	and	liability	 	 -	 1,577	 1,577
Marine	 	 -	 179	 179

Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	 	 15,759	 18,174	 33,933
Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions		 	 (442)	 (6,218)	 (6,660)

provision	For	unpaid	and	unreporTed	claiMs,	
neT	oF	reinsurance	 	 15,317	 11,956	 27,273
	 	 	

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 Insured		 Property		
	 	 employee		 and
	 	 benefits	 casualty		 Total

healthcare	 	 14,873	 -	 14,873	
Fire	 	 -	 945	 945	
Motor	 	 -	 14,873	 14,873
accident	and	liability	 	 -	 2,968	 2,968
Marine	 	 -	 63	 63

Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	 	 14,873	 18,849	 33,722
Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions		 	 (442)	 (5,617)	 (6,059)

PROVISION	FOR	UNPaID	aND	UNREPORTED	cLaIMS,	
NET	OF	REINSURaNcE	 	 14,431	 13,232	 27,663
	 	 	
The	reconciliation	of	the	Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims	is	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 2014	 2013	

	 			 	 	 provisions	for	 reinsurers’	 	 Provisions	for	 Reinsurers’	
	 			 	 	 unpaid	and	 share	of	 	 unpaid	and	 share	of
	 			 	 	 unreported	 claims	 	 unreported	 claims
	 			 	 	 claims	 provisions	 net	 claims	 provisions	 Net

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 33,722	 (6,059)	 27,663	 29,048	 (4,392)	 24,656	

claims	and	adjustment	expenses	incurred	 	
			current	year	 91,513	 (8,487)	 83,026	 95,156	 (6,104)	 89,052
			Prior	years	 (1,331)	 (954)	 (2,285)	 (1,575)	 (217)	 (1,792)
			Foreign	exchange	adjustments	 1,131	 (329)	 802	 (656)	 167	 (489)

Total	claims	and	adjustment		
	 expenses	incurred	 91,313	 (9,770)	 81,543	 92,925	 (6,154)	 86,771

claims	and	adjustment	expenses	paid	 	
			current	year	 (70,633)	 6,516	 (64,117)	 (72,105)	 3,317	 (68,788)
			Prior	years	 (20,469)	 2,653	 (17,816)	 (16,146)	 1,170	 (14,976)

Total	claims	and	adjustment	
	 	expenses	paid	 (91,102)	 9,169	 (81,933)	 (88,251)	 4,487	 (83,764)

balance,	end	oF	year	 33,933	 (6,660)	 27,273	 33,722	 (6,059)	 27,663

(noTe	12	conTinued)
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The	Group	has	policies	and	procedures	 in	
place	 to	 reduce	 the	 risk	 exposure,	 which	
includes	 strict	 claims	 review	 policies	 to		
assess	all	new	and	ongoing	claims,	regular	
detailed	 review	of	 claims	handling	proce-
dures	 and	 frequent	 investigation	 of	 pos-
sible	fraudulent	claims.	Further,	the	Group	
enforces	a	policy	of	actively	managing	and	
promptly	 pursuing	 claims,	 in	 order	 to	 re-
duce	 its	 exposure	 to	unpredictable	 future	
developments	 that	 can	 negatively	 impact	
the	business.

The	 Group	 has	 also	 limited	 its	 exposure	
by	 imposing	maximum	claim	amounts	on	
certain	contracts	as	well	as	the	use	of	re-
insurance	 arrangements	 in	 order	 to	 limit	
exposure	to	catastrophic	events	(e.g.,	hur-
ricanes,	 earthquakes	 and	 flood	 damage).	
The	 purpose	 of	 these	 underwriting	 and	
reinsurance	 strategies	 is	 to	 limit	 exposure	
to	catastrophes	based	on	the	Group’s	risk	
appetite	as	determined	by	management.

Estimates	of	losses	are	continually	reviewed	
and	modified	to	reflect	current	conditions.	
although	management	believes,	based	on	
the	recommendations	of	the	Group’s	actu-
aries,	that	the	Provision	for	unpaid	and	un-
reported	claims	will	be	adequate	to	cover	
the	ultimate	cost	of	 losses	to	the	balance	
sheet	date,	 the	provision	 is	necessarily	an	
estimate	 and	 claims	 may	 ultimately	 be	
settled	for	greater	or	 lesser	amounts.	 It	 is	
reasonably	possible	that	management	will	
revise	this	estimate	significantly	in	the	near	
term.	 any	 subsequent	 differences	 are	 re-
corded	in	the	Gross	change	in	contract	li-
abilities	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	
Operations	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	
determined.

The	risks	associated	with	 insurance	contracts	are	complex	and	
subject	 to	 a	 number	 of	 variables	 that	 complicate	 quantitative	
sensitivity	analysis.	Uncertainty	over	the	timing	and	amount	of	
future	 claim	 payments	 necessitate	 the	 holding	 of	 significant																																
reserves	 for	 liabilities	 that	 may	 only	 emerge	 a	 number	 of		
accounting	periods	later.

The	 key	 assumptions	 underlying	 the	 application	 of	 the	 ac-
tuarial	 methods	 and	 the	 estimate	 of	 unpaid	 claim	 liabilities	
are	 the	 expected	 development	 of	 paid	 and	 reported	 losses	
and	 the	 derivation	 of	 initial	 expected	 losses.	 Paid	 and	 report-
ed	 loss	 development	 patterns	 are	 based	 on	 the	 Group’s	 his-
torical	 claims	 experience.	 These	 patterns	 are	 updated	 as	 of	
each	 annual	 evaluation	 to	 incorporate	 and	 reflect	 the	 most	
recent	 claims	 experience.	 The	 estimate	 of	 initial	 expected	
losses	 is	 most	 significant	 for	 immature	 policy	 periods,	 where	
it	 is	 given	 the	 greatest	 weight	 in	 determining	 unpaid	 claim		
liabilities.	Initial	expected	losses	are	derived	based	on	the	Group’s	
historical	 experience	 adjusted	 for	 the	 impact	 of	 inflationary	
trends	on	loss	costs	and	the	impact	of	historical	changes	in	rates	
charged	to	policyholders.	as	the	experience	in	each	policy	year	
matures,	the	weight	assigned	to	the	initial	expected	losses	de-
creases	with	greater	weight	assigned	to	actual	loss	experience.

The	actuarial	 analysis	performed	by	 the	Group’s	actuaries	em-
ploys	 commonly	 used	 actuarial	 techniques	 for	 estimating	 the	
Group’s	Provision	 for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims.	These	 in-
clude	the	Paid	Loss	Development	Method,	Reported	Loss	Devel-
opment	Method,	the	Bornhuetter-Ferguson	Method	(applied	to	
both	paid	and	reported	losses),	and	the	case	Reserve	Develop-
ment	Method.	The	particular	methods	employed	in	the	analysis	
of	each	reserve	segment	are	judgmentally	selected	based	on	the	
applicability	of	each	method	and	the	availability	of	data	to	use	
each	particular	method.

There	 have	 been	 no	 material	 changes	 in	 the	 assumptions	 or	
methodology	underlying	the	actuarial	analysis	in	the	year	under	
review.

12.2.1		 Key	assumptions	–	provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims
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12.2.2		 claims	development	Table

The	following	tables	show	the	estimates	of	cumulative	incurred	claims,	including	both	claims	notified	and	incurred	but	
not	reported	(IBNR)	reserves	for	each	successive	accident	year	at	each	reporting	date,	together	with	cumulative	payments	
to	date.	

The	Group	has	availed	itself	of	the	transitional	rules	of	IFRS	4	that	permit	a	first-time	adopter	to	not	disclose	information	
about	claims	development	that	occurred	earlier	than	five	years	before	the	end	of	the	financial	year	in	which	it	applies	IFRS	
4.	This	will	be	developed	in	each	succeeding	additional	year,	until	ten	years	of	information	is	included.

Gross	claims:

	 			 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 Total
accident	year:	 and	prior	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Estimate	of	ultimate	liability	(1)	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 as	at	end	of	accident	year	 86,146	 20,484	 24,211	 26,640	 27,060	 30,719	 30,746	 -		
	 one	year	later	 93,266	 23,307	 23,984	 26,322	 27,042	 28,045	 -	 -		
			two	years	later	 92,759	 24,842	 23,654	 26,603	 26,848	 -	 -	 -			
	 three	years	later	 93,600		 24,397		 	23,669		 	26,501		 -	 -	 -	 -		
	 four	years	later	 93,973	 24,213	 23,958		 	-		 -	 -	 -	 -		
	 five	years	later	 94,564	 25,077		 	-		 	-		 -	 -	 -	 -
	 six	years	later	 94,287		 -		 	-		 	-		 -	 -	 -	 -	

current	estimate	of	cumulative	liability	 94,287		 25,077		 	23,958		 	26,501		 26,848	 28,045		 30,746	 255,462	
cumulative	payments	to	date	 (93,453)		 (24,423)		 (22,328)			(25,309)		 (24,354)	 (22,621)	 (9,041)	(221,529)

ToTal	Gross	liabiliTy	 834	 654	 1,630	 1,192	 2,494	 5,424	 21,705	 33,933	

net	claims:

	 			 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 Total
accident	year:	 and	prior	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Estimate	of	net	ultimate	liability	(1)	 	 	 	 	 	 	
			as	at	end	of	accident	year	 52,720	 17,672	 21,657	 22,844	 23,691	 26,450	 24,927	 -
	 one	year	later	 60,797	 20,625	 21,330	 22,564	 23,440	 24,022		 -	 -
			two	years	later	 60,361	 20,448	 20,607	 22,916	 23,205	 -	 -	 -	
	 three	years	later	 60,612	 20,311	 20,607	 22,778		 -		 -	 -	 -
	 four	years	later	 60,745	 20,364	 	20,887		 	-		 -	 -	 -		
	 five	years	later	 61,202	 20,459	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 six	years	later	 61,226		 -		 	-		 	-		 -	 -	 -	 -

current	estimate	of	net	
	 cumulative	liability	 61,226	 20,459	 20,887	 22,778	 23,205	 24,022	 24,927	 197,504	
cumulative	payments	to	date	 (60,871)		 (20,178)		 (19,994)			(21,906)		 (21,267)		(20,357)	 (5,658)	(170,231)

ToTal	neT	liabiliTy	 355	 281	 893	 872	 1,938	 3,665	 19,269	 27,273

(1)	adjusted	for	revaluation	of	foreign	currencies	at	the	exchange	rate	as	at	year	end.

12.3  uneARned pRemiums	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 	 	 2013	

	 	 	 reinsurer’s	 	 	 Reinsurer’s	 	
	 	 	 share	of	 	 	 share	of	 	
	 	 unearned	 unearned	 	 Unearned	 Unearned
	 	 premiums	 premiums	 net	 premiums	 premiums	 Net

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 17,691	 10,202	 7,489		 	19,559	 10,860	 8,699	
Premiums	written	during	the	year	 	166,885	 41,871	 125,014	 162,167	 40,179	 121,988	
Premiums	earned	during	the	year	 (166,965)	 (42,651)	 (124,314)	 (164,035)	 (40,837)	 (123,198)

balance,	end	oF	year	 17,611	 9,422	 8,189		 	17,691	 10,202	 7,489	

(noTe	12	conTinued)
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The	Group	is	exposed	to	a	pricing	risk	to	the	extent	that	unearned	premiums	are	insufficient	to	meet	the	related	future	
policy	cost.	Evaluations	are	performed	regularly	to	estimate	future	claim	costs,	related	expenses,	and	expected	profit	in	
relation	to	unearned	premiums.	There	was	no	premium	deficiency	at	March	31,	2014	or	2013.	

13 inVEStMEnt ContRACt LiABiLitiES	 	 	 	 	

carrying	values	and	estimated	fair	values	of	the	Investment	contract	liabilities	are	as	follows:	 	 	 	
	

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 2014	 2013	
	 carrying	value	 Fair	value	 carrying	value	 Fair	value

at	amortised	cost:	 	 	 	 	 	
Deposit	administration	pension	plans	 	 71,740	 68,878	 72,522	 71,311	
Self-funded	group	health	policies	 	 11,451	 11,451	 8,623	 8,623

	 	 83,191	 80,329	 81,145	 79,934	
at	FVTPL:	 	 	 	 	
Deposit	accounted	annuity	policies	 	 3,222	 3,222	 2,787	 2,787		

ToTal	invesTMenT	conTracT	liabiliTies	 	 86,413	 83,551	 83,932	 82,721	

13.1  investment ContRACt liAbilities At AmoRtised Cost

The	change	in	Investment	contract	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost	is	a	result	of	the	following:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 	 	 81,145	 66,902	
Deposits	 	 	 	 69,717	 68,954
Withdrawals	 	 	 	 (61,569)	 (54,072)
Fees	deducted	 	 	 	 (4,333)	 (4,165)
Interest	 	 	 	 784	 838
Other	 	 	 	 (2,553)	 2,688

balance,	end	oF	year	 	 	 	 83,191	 81,145

For	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	the	net	loss	relating	to	investment	contracts	measured	at	amortised	cost	is	$242,000	
(2013	–	net	loss	of	$177,000).

13.2  investment ContRACt liAbilities At Fvtpl

The	change	in	investment	contract	liabilities	at	FVTPL	is	a	result	of	the	following:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 	 	 2,787	 2,862
Included	in	net	income	(1)	 	 	 	 (137)	 (82)
Deposits	 	 	 	 3,085	 2,695
Withdrawals	 	 	 	 (2,513)	 (2,688)

balance,	end	oF	year	 	 	 	 3,222	 2,787

(1)	amount	is	recorded	under	change	in	contract	liabilities	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.

For	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	the	net	gain	relating	to	Investment	contract	liabilities	at	FVTPL	is	$137,000	(2013	
–	gain	of	$82,000)	and	is	recorded	in	Gross	change	in	contract	liabilities	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations.	
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14  RiSK MAnAgEMEnt

14.1  goveRnAnCe FRAmewoRK

The	primary	objective	of	the	Group’s	risk	and	financial	management	framework	is	to	protect	the	Group’s	Shareholders	
from	 events	 that	 hinder	 the	 sustainable	 achievement	 of	 financial	 performance	 objectives,	 including	 failing	 to	 exploit																						
opportunities.	Management	recognises	the	critical	importance	of	having	efficient	and	effective	risk	management	systems	
in	place.	

The	Group	has	an	established	risk	management	function	with	clear	terms	of	reference	from	the	Board	of	Directors,	its	
committees	and	the	associated	executive	management	committees.	This	is	supplemented	by	a	clear	organisational	struc-
ture	with	documented	delegated	authorities	and	responsibilities	from	the	Board	of	Directors	to	executive	management	
committees	and	vice	presidents.	In	addition,	a	Group	policy	framework	which	sets	out	the	risk	profiles	for	the	Group,	risk	
management,	control	and	business	conduct	standards	for	the	Group’s	operations	is	in	place.	Each	policy	has	a	member	of	
senior	management	charged	with	overseeing	compliance	with	the	policy	throughout	the	Group.	

The	Board	of	Directors	approves	the	Group’s	risk	management	policies	and	meets	regularly	to	approve	any	commercial,	
regulatory	and	organisational	requirements	of	such	policies.	These	policies	define	the	Group’s	identification	of	risk	and	its	
interpretation,	limit	structure	to	ensure	the	appropriate	quality	and	diversification	of	assets,	align	underwriting	and	reinsur-
ance	strategy	to	the	corporate	goals,	and	specify	reporting	requirements.	

14.2  opeRAtionAl RisK And CApitAl mAnAgement 

14.2.1		 operational	risk

The	Group	adopted	the	Bermuda	Solvency	capital	Requirement	(BScR)’s	definition	of	operational	risk.	It	is	defined	as	the	
risk	of	 loss	or	reputation	damage	resulting	from	inadequate	or	failed	processes	or	systems,	people	 (human	factors)	or	
external	events.	Sub-categories	of	operational	risk	include:

•	 people:	human	errors,	internal	or	external	fraud,	breaches	of	employment	law,	unauthorised	activity,	loss	or	lack	
of	key	personnel,	inadequate	training,	inadequate	supervision;

•	 process:	 Lack	 of	 internal	 control	 procedures,	 project	 management	 failures,	 ineffective	 change	 management,																																						
payment	 or	 settlement	 failures,	 inadequate	 process	 documentation,	 errors	 in	 valuation	 and/or	 pricing	 models,																															
accounting	errors,	internal	or	external	reporting	and	distribution	channels;

•	 systems:		Failure	of	systems	or	application	software	that	supports	daily	execution	of	business	units,	lack	of	systems	
development	and	 implementation	documentation,	systems	security	breaches,	 integrity	of	data,	unavailability	of	
systems	due	to	computer	hacking,	virus	attacks	or	denial	of	services;	and

•	 external	events:	Inadequate	third-party/vendor	management,	undocumented	outsourcing	process,	non-compli-
ance	with	regulatory	requirements,	natural	and	other	disasters,	political	risks.

This	definition	excludes	strategic	risk	and	legal/litigation	risk.

The	Group	developed	an	operational	risk	management	system	to	capture,	analyse	and	report	on	causes	of	control	break-
downs	and	operational	risk	events	including	customer	complaints.	Details	and	resolution	of	these	events	are	reported	to	
the	Risk	Management	committee	monthly	and	highlights	of	the	events	are	reported	to	the	Risk	committee	on	a	quarterly	
basis.

14.2.2		 capital	Management

The	Group’s	capital	base	is	structured	to	exceed	regulatory	targets	and	desired	capital	ratios,	maintain	satisfactory	credit	
ratings,	align	the	profile	of	assets	and	liabilities	taking	account	of	risks	inherent	in	the	businesses,	provide	flexibility	to	take	
advantage	of	growth	opportunities	and	provide	an	adequate	return	to	shareholders.	capital	is	managed	on	a	consolidated	
basis	under	principles	that	consider	all	the	risks	associated	with	the	businesses.	It	is	also	managed	at	the	operating	segment	
level	under	the	principles	appropriate	to	the	jurisdiction	in	which	it	operates.

Management	 monitors	 the	 adequacy	 of	 the	 Group	 and	 its	 operating	 subsidiaries’	 capital	 from	 the	 perspective	 of		
Bermuda,	Gibraltar	and	Malta	statutory	requirements.	The	Group	maintained	levels	above	the	minimum	local	regulatory	
requirements	at	March	31,	2014	and	2013	as	further	described	below.	The	Group’s	capital	base	consists	of	Share	capital,	
contributed	 surplus,	 Retained	 earnings	 and	accumulated	other	 comprehensive	 loss	 as	 disclosed	on	 the	consolidated																																					
Balance	Sheet.

The	operations	of	the	Group	are	also	subject	to	regulatory	requirements	within	the	jurisdictions	in	which	they	operate.	
Such	regulations	not	only	prescribe	approval	and	monitoring	of	activities,	but	also	 impose	certain	restrictive	provisions	
(e.g.,	capital	adequacy)	to	minimise	the	risk	of	default	and	insolvency	on	the	part	of	the	regulated	entities	and	to	meet	
unforeseen	liabilities	as	these	arise.
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The	Bermuda	Insurance	act	1978	and	Related	Regulations,	the	Gibraltar	Insurance	companies	act	1987	and	the	Malta	
Insurance	Intermediaries	act	2006	(the	acts)	require	the	Group’s	insurance	subsidiaries	to	file	an	annual	statutory	financial	
return	and	meet	minimum	solvency	margins	and	minimum	liquidity	ratios.

The	statutory	capital	and	surplus	and	minimum	solvency	margin	of	the	Group’s	insurance	subsidiaries	are	shown	below.	
The	significant	increase	in	the	minimum	solvency	margin	during	the	year	is	a	result	of	the	change	in	the	registration	of	
Bermuda	Life	Insurance	company	Limited	from	class	D	Long	term	licence	to	composite	class	3B	General	and	class	c	
Long	term	licence.

March	31,	2014	 	 	 	 bermuda	 europe	 Total

Statutory	capital	and	surplus	 	 	 	 116,077	 9,237	 125,314
Minimum	solvency	margin	 	 	 	 27,836	 5,245	 33,081

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 	 	 Bermuda	 Europe	 Total

Statutory	capital	and	surplus	 	 	 	 99,226	 8,425	 107,651
Minimum	solvency	margin	 	 	 	 6,960	 4,532	 11,492

The	prescribed	form	of	capital	and	solvency	return	in	Bermuda,	which	was	revised	under	new	legislation	enacted	in	2008,	
comprises	the	BScR	model,	a	schedule	of	fixed	income	investments	by	rating	category,	a	schedule	of	net	loss	and	loss	
expense	provision	by	line	of	business,	a	schedule	of	premiums	written	by	line	of	business,	a	schedule	of	risk	management	
and	a	schedule	of	fixed	income	securities	by	security	type.	The	BScR	includes	a	standardised	model	used	to	measure	the	
risk	associated	with	an	insurance	subsidiary’s	assets,	liabilities	and	premiums,	and	a	formula	to	take	account	of	catastrophe	
risk	exposure.	The	Bermuda	Monetary	authority	(BMa)	requires	all	class	3a,	3B	and	4	insurers	to	maintain	their	capital	at	
a	target	level	which	is	120	percent	of	the	amount	calculated	in	accordance	with	the	BScR.	

In	addition,	minimum	liquidity	ratios	must	be	maintained	whereby	relevant	assets,	as	defined	by	the	acts,	must	exceed	75	
percent	of	relevant	liabilities.	The	Bermuda	Insurance	act	1978	and	Related	Regulations	limits	the	maximum	amount	of	
annual	dividends	and	distributions	that	may	be	paid	by	the	Group’s	insurance	subsidiaries.	Before	reducing	by	15	percent	
or	more	of	its	statutory	capital,	as	set	out	in	the	prior	year’s	financial	statements,	these	insurance	subsidiaries	shall	request	
the	approval	of	the	BMa.	In	addition,	the	Bermuda	companies	act	1981	limits	the	Group’s	ability	to	pay	dividends	and	
distributions	 to	 shareholders	 if	 there	are	 reasonable	grounds	 for	believing	 that	 the	Group	would	be	unable	 to	pay	 its		
liabilities	as	they	become	due,	or	if	the	realisable	value	of	its	assets	would	be	less	than	the	aggregate	of	its	liabilities,	issued	
share	capital	and	contributed	surplus	accounts.

Each	one	of	the	Group’s	insurance	subsidiaries	meets	all	requirements	of	the	acts	and	there	are	no	additional	restrictions	
on	the	distribution	of	Retained	earnings.

14.3  FinAnCiAl instRument RisK mAnAgement

The	Group	has	policies	relating	to	the	identification,	measurement,	monitoring,	mitigation,	and	control	of	risks	associated	
with	financial	instruments.	The	key	risks	related	to	financial	instruments	are	credit	risk,	liquidity	risk	and	market	risks	which	
include	currency,	interest	rate	and	other	price	risks	including	equity	risks.	The	following	describe	how	the	Group	manages	
these	risks:
•		 Investment	portfolios	are	monitored	and	reviewed	regularly	for	investment	quality	with	the	Board	of	Directors	and	the	

Risk	committee	of	the	Board;
•		 credit	ratings	as	determined	by	recognised	external	credit	rating	agencies	are	regularly	monitored	to	ensure	these	meet	

the	Group’s	Investment	Policy;
•			 collateral	requirements	and	concentration	limits	are	specified	in	the	Group’s	Investment	Policy;	and
•			 Reinsurance	 is	 placed	 with	 counterparties	 that	 have	 a	 strong	 credit	 rating.	 Management	 regularly	 monitors	 and																																																																																																																																									

performs	an	assessment	of	creditworthiness	of	reinsurers.

14.3.1	 credit	risk

The	Group	has	exposure	to	credit	risk,	which	is	the	risk	that	a	counterparty	will	suffer	a	deterioration	in	perceived	financial	
strength	or	be	unable	to	pay	amounts	in	full	when	due.

The	concentration	of	credit	risk	exposures	held	by	insurers	may	be	expected	to	be	greater	than	those	associated	with	other	
industries,	due	to	the	specific	nature	of	reinsurance	markets	and	the	extent	of	investments	held	in	financial	markets.	By	
the	nature	of	the	business,	reinsurers	interact	with	similar	customers	in	similar	markets.	however,	the	Group	uses	a	panel	
of	reinsurers	with	global	operations	and	diversified	portfolios	and	limits	its	exposure	to	any	one	reinsurer.
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(noTe	14	conTinued)

14.3.1(a)	 Maximum	Exposure	to	Credit	Risk

The	following	table	summarises	the	Group’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	related	to	financial	instruments	and	insur-
ance	contracts.	The	maximum	credit	exposure	is	the	carrying	value	of	the	financial	assets	and	insurance	assets	net	of	any	
allowances	for	losses.

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 Note	 	 2014	 2013

cash	and	short-term	investments	 	 	 	 31,340	 	30,326			
Interest	and	dividends	receivable	 	 	 	 3,930		 2,706		
Bonds	–	at	FVTPL	and	held-to-maturity	 	 3.1	 	 163,846			 156,485		
Mortgages	and	loans	 	 3.1	 	 41,485			 41,236		
Policy	loans	 	 3.1	 	 73			 66
Derivative	financial	instruments	 	 3.1	 	 17		 (22)
Other	financial	assets	included	in	Other	assets		 	 8	 	 6,668		 6,043	
Insurance	balances	receivable	 	 6	 	 13,057		 18,469			
Reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions	 	 12	 	 13,992		 14,001		

ToTal	consolidaTed	balance	sheeT	MaxiMuM	crediT	exposure	 	 	 274,408				 	269,310		

credit	risk	is	mitigated	by	entering	into	collateral	agreements	for	mortgages	and	loans.	The	amount	and	type	of	collateral	
required	depends	on	an	assessment	of	the	credit	risk	of	the	counterparty.	Management	monitors	the	value	of	the	col-
lateral,	requests	additional	collateral	when	needed	and	performs	an	impairment	evaluation	on	a	regular	basis.	The	Group	
manages	credit	risk	by	its	specific	investment	diversification	requirements	such	as	investing	by	asset	class,	geography	and	
industry,	review	of	credit	quality	ratings	for	portfolio	investments	and	an	active	credit	risk	governance,	including	indepen-
dent	monitoring	and	review	and	reporting	to	senior	management	and	the	Board.

14.3.1(b)	 Concentration	of	Credit	Risk

concentrations	of	credit	 risk	arise	from	exposures	to	a	single	debtor,	a	group	of	related	debtors	or	groups	of	debtors	
that	have	similar	credit	risk	characteristics	in	that	they	operate	in	the	same	geographic	region	or	in	similar	industries.	The		
characteristics	are	similar	in	that	changes	in	economic	or	political	environments	may	impact	their	ability	to	meet	obligations	
as	they	come	due.

The	following	tables	provide	details	of	the	carrying	value	of	bonds	and	derivative	financial	instruments	by	industry	sector	
and	geographic	distribution.

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Bonds	issued	or	guaranteed	by:	 	 		 	
Government	and	agency	 	 		 	 		 47,403	 34,856
Banking	and	finance	 		 		 	 		 32,662	 32,051	
asset-backed	securities	 	 		 	 		 6,559		 13,331
communications	 	 		 	 		 8,397		 5,831
Oil	and	gas	 	 		 	 		 7,050	 5,353
Utilities	and	energy	 	 		 	 		 5,156	 	4,820
Manufacturing	 	 		 	 		 2,586	 4,695
Pharmaceutical	 	 		 	 		 4,769	 	3,429
Transportation	 	 		 	 		 3,566	 2,970	
Mining	 	 		 	 		 1,786		 2,559
Insurance	 	 		 	 		 252		 1,862			
agency	 	 		 	 		 -		 1,525		
Supra	National	 	 		 	 		 915	 890
Other	(1)	 	 		 	 		 42,745	 42,313		

ToTal	bonds	 	 		 	 		 163,846				 	156,485		

Derivative	financial	instruments	issued	or	guaranteed	by:	 	 	 	
U.S.	federal	government	 	 	 33	 5			
Other	 	 	 (16)		 (27)			

ToTal	derivaTive	Financial	insTruMenTs	 	 	 17				 	(22)			

(1)	Includes	Investment	in	bond	funds	of	$20.9	million	(2013	–	$19.4	million).
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FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Geographical	distribution	of	bonds	is	as	follows:	 	 	 	 	
United	States	of	america	 	 	 109,463		 108,026	
United	Kingdom	 	 	 7,726		 7,168
australia	 	 	 2,403		 2,724
Bermuda	 	 	 2,518		 2,495		
France	 	 	 1,973	 2,014	
Netherlands	 	 	 1,016		 1,806
Luxembourg	 	 	 2,907		 1,760
canada	 	 	 1,221		 1,703
Sweden	 	 	 646		 1,682
Brazil	 	 	 1,444		 1,307	
Russia	 	 	 1,060		 1,163
Norway	 	 	 1,093		 1,137
cayman	Islands	 	 	 1,036	 405
Other	(1)	 	 	 29,340	 23,095	

ToTal	bonds	 	 		 163,846				 	156,485		

Geographical	distribution	of	derivative	financial	instruments	is	as	follows:	 	 	 	
United	States	of	america	 	 	 17	 (22)

ToTal	derivaTive	Financial	insTruMenTs	 	 		 17				 	(22)	

(1)	Includes	Investment	in	bond	funds	of	$20.9	million	(2013	–	$19.4	million).

Mortgages	comprise	 first	mortgages	on	real	property	situated	 in	Bermuda.	The	following	table	provides	details	of	 the																				
carrying	 value	 split	 into	 residential	 and	 non-residential.	 Residential	 mortgages	 include	 mortgages	 for	 both	 single	 and	
multiple	family	dwellings.		

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Residential	 10,808	 	9,489	
Non-residential	 30,677	 31,747

ToTal	MorTGaGes	and	loans	 41,485				 	41,236
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14.3.1(c)		 Asset	Quality

14.3.1(c)(i)	Bonds	and	derivative	financial	instruments	by	credit	rating

The	following	table	provides	an	analysis	of	the	carrying	value	of	bonds	and	derivative	financial	instruments	by	rating.

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Bond	portfolio	quality:	 	 	 	 	
aaa	 	 		 	 	 54,574	 49,331	
aa	 	 	 		 	 22,151	 24,664		
a+	 	 	 		 	 8,459	 10,472
a	 	 	 	 	 38,731	 40,542	
BBB	 	 	 	 	 27,193	 22,382		
BB	 	 	 		 	 7,436	 5,804	
B	 	 	 		 	 539	 556	
Not	rated	 	 	 		 	 4,763	 2,734

ToTal	bonds	 	 	 	 	 163,846				 	156,485

Derivative	financial	instruments	quality:	 	 	 	 	
aaa	 	 	 	 	 -	 (5)
a+	 	 	 		 	 347	 -
a	 	 	 	 	 (93)	 -	
Baa+	 	 	 	 	 (221)	 -
Not	rated	 	 	 		 	 (16)	 (27)

ToTal	derivaTive	Financial	insTruMenTs	 	 		 	 	 17				 	(22)	

14.3.1(c)(ii)	Allowance	for	credit	losses	on	impaired	investments

Mortgage	and	loans	

changes	in	the	allowance	for	credit	losses	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 		 		 	3,374		 	25,458	
Net	provision	made	in	year	–	Mortgages	 		 		 398				 	2,823	
Write-off	of	unrecoverable	provision	 		 		 -				 	(24,907)

balance,	end	oF	year	 						 		 3,772		 	3,374

a	write-off	of	the	unrecoverable	provision	of	$nil	(2013	–	$24.9	million)	was	made	during	the	year	due	to	the	absence	of	
any	realistic	prospect	of	recovery.

held-to-maturity	bonds

During	the	year,	the	Group	recognised	$101,000	of	recovery	of	previously	recognised	impairment	loss	(2013	–	$208,000	
of	recovery)	on	a	bond	portfolio	classified	as	held-to-maturity.

14.3.1(c)(iii)		Age	analysis	of	financial	assets	past	due	but	not	impaired	and	impaired
	 	

March	31,	2014	 	 	 past	due	but	not	impaired	 	

		 less	than	 90	to	 180	days	 	 Total	
	 90	days	 179	days		 or	more	 Total	 impaired

Mortgage	and	loans			 410	 484	 605	 1,499	 398

Other	receivables	included	in	Other	assets		 47	 22	 495	 564	 -

ToTal	 457	 506	 1,100	 2,063	 398

(noTe	14	conTinued)
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MaRch	31,	2013	 	 	 Past	due	but	not	impaired	 	

		 Less	than	 90	to	 180	days	 	 Total	
	 90	days	 179	days		 or	more	 Total	 impaired

Mortgage	and	loans			 13	 23	 24	 60	 3,374

Other	receivables	included	in	Other	assets		 53	 42	 23	 118	 25

TOTaL	 66	 65	 47	 178	 3,399

Past	due	 financial	 assets	of	$2.1	million	at	March	31,	2014,	 (2013	–	$178,000)	do	not	have	an	allowance	 for	 losses																																		
because	at	a	minimum,	either	the	fair	value	of	the	collateral	or	the	expected	future	cash	flows	exceed	the	carrying	value	
of	these	financial	assets.

14.3.2		 liquidity	risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Group	will	not	be	able	to	meet	all	cash	outflow	obligations	as	they	come	due.	The	Group’s	
asset-liability	 management	 process	 allows	 it	 to	 maintain	 its	 good	 financial	 position	 by	 ensuring	 that	 sufficient	 liquid		
assets	are	available	to	cover	its	potential	funding	requirements.	The	Group	invests	in	various	types	of	assets	with	a	view	to	
matching	them	with	its	liabilities.	To	strengthen	its	liquidity	further,	the	Group	actively	manages	and	monitors	its	capital	
and	asset	levels,	diversification	and	credit	quality	of	its	investments	and	cash	forecasts	and	actual	amounts	against	estab-
lished	targets.	

The	short-term	(less	 than	one	year)	 liquidity	needs	are	more	than	adequately	met	by	maturing	bonds,	mortgages	and	
loans,	the	sale	of	equities,	as	well	as	by	current	operating	cash	flows.	historically,	the	Deposit	administration	pension	plan	
liabilities	renew	for	further	periods	upon	maturity	and	remain	with	the	Group.	Longer	duration	cash	flows	are	also	backed	
by	a	broader	range	of	asset	classes	including	equity	and	other	non-fixed	income	assets.	

Reinvestment	strategies	and	policies	are	in	place	for	maturing	assets	backing	longer-term	liabilities	and	are	reflected	in	the	
Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves.	Based	on	the	Group’s	historical	cash	flows	and	current	financial	performance,	manage-
ment	believes	that	the	cash	flow	from	the	Group’s	operating	activities	will	continue	to	provide	sufficient	liquidity	for	the	
Group	to	meet	its	contractual	obligations	and	to	pay	other	expenses,	as	they	fall	due.

liability	maturity	profile:

The	following	is	an	analysis	by	liability	type	of	the	estimated	timing	of	net	cash	flows	based	on	the	Group’s	liabilities.	The	
settlement	profile	is	based	on	current	estimates	and	historical	trends	and	the	actual	timing	of	future	cash	flows	may	differ	
materially	from	the	disclosure	below.
	 	 	 	

March	31,	2014	 	Within	1	year	 2-5	years	 6-10	years	 over	10	years	 Total

Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves
	 –	net	of	reinsurance	 	 	11,392	 43,305	 46,790	 105,695	 207,182(1)

Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims
	 –	net	of	reinsurance	 	 27,273	 -	 -	 -	 27,273
Insurance	balances	payable	 	 14,185	 -	 -	 -	 14,185
Payable	for	Investments	purchased	 	 558	 -	 -	 -	 558
Investment	contract	liabilities	 	 	3,993	 17,238	 8,542	 56,773	 86,546(1)

		

Tax	payable	 	 	66	 -	 -	 -	 66
accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 	15,444	 -	 -	 -	 15,444
Post-employment	benefit	liability	 	 	128	 632	 950	 2,971	 4,681(1)

ToTal	FroM	General	Fund	liabiliTies	 	 73,039	 61,175	 56,282	 165,439	 355,935

(1)		The	amounts	shown	above	are	based	on	estimated	net	cash	flows	which	differ	from	the	amounts	shown	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet	which	are	based	on														
discounted	cash	flows.
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MaRch	31,	2013	 	 Within	1	year	 2-5	years	 6-10	years	 Over	10	years	 Total

Life	and	annuity	policy	reserves
	 –	net	of	reinsurance	 	 	11,043	 42,154	 45,986	 106,835	 206,018(1)

Provision	for	unpaid	and	unreported	claims
	 –	net	of	reinsurance	 	 27,663	 -	 -	 -	 27,663
Insurance	balances	payable	 	 10,772	 -	 -	 -	 10,772
Payable	for	Investments	purchased	 	 	21,530	 -	 -	 -	 21,530
Investment	contract	liabilities	 	 	4,105	 15,120	 9,516	 55,318	 84,059(1)

		

Tax	payable	 	 	61	 -	 -	 -	 61
accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 	16,580	 -	 -	 -	 	16,580
Post-employment	benefit	liability	 	 	120	 609	 984	 3,231	 4,944(1)

TOTaL	FROM	GENERaL	FUND	LIaBILITIES	 	 91,874	 57,883	 56,486	 165,384	 371,627

(1)		The	amounts	shown	above	are	based	on	estimated	net	cash	flows	which	differ	from	the	amounts	shown	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet	which	are	based	on																																									
discounted	cash	flows.

14.3.3	 Market	risk

Market	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	as	a	result	of	changes	
in	market	factors.	Market	factors	include	three	types	of	risk:	currency	risk,	interest	rate	risk	and	equity	risk.

14.3.3(a)	 Currency	Risk

currency	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	of	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	because	of	changes	
in	foreign	exchange	rates.	The	following	policies	and	procedures	are	in	place	to	mitigate	the	Group’s	exposure	to	currency	
risk.
•		 The	Group	regularly	monitors	the	effect	of	currency	translation	fluctuations;
•		 Investments	are	normally	made	in	the	same	currency	as	the	liabilities	supported	by	those	investments;
•		 The	majority	of	the	Group’s	assets,	liabilities	and	earnings	are	denominated	in	Bermuda	or	U.S.	dollars;	and
•		 The	assets	and	liabilities	of	the	foreign	operations	are	held	in	the	functional	currency.	The	net	currency	exposure	arising	

from	the	net	equity	within	these	operations	amounts	to	£10.1	million	and	a1.5	million		(2013	–	£9.7	million	and	a1.2	
million).

The	analysis	that	follows,	showing	the	impact	on	equity	due	to	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	currency	sensitive	monetary	
assets	and	liabilities	including	insurance	contract	liabilities	is	performed	for	reasonably	possible	movements	in	key	variables	
with	all	other	variables	held	constant.	The	correlation	of	variables	will	have	a	significant	effect	in	determining	the	ultimate	
impact	on	market	risk,	but	to	demonstrate	the	impact	due	to	changes	in	variables,	variables	had	to	be	changed	on	an	
individual	basis.	

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

	 change	in	 impact	on	 Impact	on
currency	 variables	 equity			 equity

Sterling	 +/-	10%	 	 1,005	 +/-		969	
Euro	 +/-	10%	 	 147	 -/+		116
	 	

14.3.3(b)	 Interest	Rate	Risk

Interest	rate	risk	is	the	potential	for	financial	loss	arising	from	changes	in	interest	rates.	changes	in	market	interest	rates	
can	impact	the	reinvestment	of	matured	investments,	as	the	returns	available	on	the	new	investment	may	be	significantly	
different	from	the	returns	previously	achieved.	The	Group	manages	these	risks	through:
•		 asset	allocation	and	diversification	of	the	investment	portfolio;
•		 Investing	in	fixed	income	assets	that	closely	match	the	life	liability	product	cash	flows	for	products	with	fixed	and	highly	

predictable	benefit	payments;	and
•		 Quantifying	and	reviewing	regularly	the	risk	associated	with	the	mismatch	in	portfolio	duration	and	cash	flow.

The	impact	of	interest	rate	risk	for	the	Group’s	actuarial	liabilities	and	the	assets	supporting	those	liabilities	is	included	in	
Note	12.	

(noTe	14	conTinued)
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The	Group	issues	unit-linked	investment	policies	with	and	without	a	guaranteed	return	in	a	number	of	its	operations.	For	
unit-linked	policies	without	a	guaranteed	return	under	Segregated	Funds,	the	policyholder	bears	the	investment	risk	on	
the	assets	held	in	the	unit-linked	fund.	The	value	of	the	policy	benefits	is	directly	linked	to	the	value	of	the	assets	in	the	
fund.	The	Group’s	exposure	to	market	risk	on	this	business	is	limited	to	the	extent	that	income	arising	from	asset	manage-
ment	charges	is	based	on	the	value	of	assets	in	the	fund.	

For	unit-linked	policies	with	a	guaranteed	return	under	the	General	Funds	and	Segregated	Funds,	the	Group	bears	the	in-
vestment	risk	to	the	extent	that	the	actual	rate	of	return	of	the	unit-linked	funds	falls	below	the	guaranteed	rate	of	return.	
If	the	interest	yield	on	the	assets	supporting	the	unit-linked	funds	with	guaranteed	return	was	one	percent	higher,	profit	
would	have	been	$6.9	million	lower	(2013	–	$6.3	million	lower)	and	if	one	percent	lower,	profit	would	have	been	$7.2	
million	higher	(2013	–	$6.6	million	higher).	For	these	types	of	policies,	the	Group	ensures	that	(i)	the	liabilities	and	asset	
cash	flows	are	closely	matched	and	(ii)	the	valuation	of	the	liabilities	and	assets	are	monitored	regularly.

14.3.3(c)	 Equity	Risk

The	majority	of	the	equities	are	held	to	back	long-term	liabilities	or	those	where	it	is	expected	that	the	liabilities	will	renew	
at	maturity	at	then	current	market	rates.	Equity	risk	is	the	uncertainty	associated	with	the	valuation	of	assets	arising	from	
changes	in	equity	markets.	If	actual	returns	are	lower	than	the	expected	returns,	the	Group’s	Life	and		annuity	policy	re-
serves	will	increase	and	will	reduce	the	Group’s	net	earnings.	Overall,	it	is	expected	that	the	impact	of	an	immediate	ten	
percent	increase	in	value	across	all	equity	markets	would	be	an	increase	in	Net	Earnings	and	Other	comprehensive	income	
of	$5.1	million	(2013	–	$5.1	million);	conversely	the	impact	of	a	ten	percent	decrease	would	have	an	equal	but	opposite	
effect.	The	direct	exposure	to	equity	markets	generally	falls	within	the	risk-taking	philosophy	of	the	Group’s	Investment	
Policy	and	is	regularly	monitored	by	management.

14.3.4			 limitations	of	sensitivity	analysis

The	sensitivity	 information	given	 in	Note	14.3	above	and	 in	Note	12	demonstrates	 the	estimated	 impact	of	a	change		
in	a	major	input	assumption	while	other	assumptions	remain	unchanged.	In	reality,	there	are	normally	significant	levels	
of	correlation	between	the	assumptions	and	other	factors.	It	should	also	be	noted	that	these	sensitivities	are	non-linear																																			
and	larger	or	smaller	 impacts	should	not	be	interpolated	or	extrapolated	from	these	results.	Furthermore,	estimates	of	
sensitivity	may	become	less	reliable	in	unusual	market	conditions	such	as	instances	when	risk	free	interest	rates	fall	towards	
zero.

14.3.5			 Master	netting	or	similar	agreements

The	following	financial	assets	are	subject	to	offsetting,	enforceable	master	netting	arrangements	and	similar	agreements.

March	31,	2014	 	 Gross	amounts		 Gross	amounts	 Net	amounts
	 			 	 	 of	recognised	 of	recognised	 of	financial
	 			 	 	 financial	 financial	 assets	
	 			 	 	 assets	 liabilities	 presented	in	
	 			 	 	 	 offset	in	the	 the
	 			 	 	 	 consolidated		 consolidated
	 			 	 	 	 balance	sheet	 balance	sheet

cash	and	short-term	investments	 32,585	 (1,245)	 31,340
Derivative	financial	assets	 	 	 	 389	 (372)	 17

	 			 	 	 	 	 32,974	 (1,617)	 31,357

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 Gross	amounts		 Gross	amounts	 Net	amounts
	 			 	 	 of	recognised	 of	recognised	 of	financial
	 			 	 	 financial	 financial	 assets	
	 			 	 	 assets	 liabilities	 presented	in	
	 			 	 	 	 offset	in	the	 the
	 			 	 	 	 consolidated		 consolidated
	 			 	 	 	 balance	sheet	 balance	sheet

cash	and	short-term	investments	 32,427	 (2,101)	 30,326
Derivative	financial	assets	 	 	 	 25	 (47)	 (22)

	 			 	 	 	 	 32,452	 (2,148)	 30,304
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For	the	financial	assets	subject	to	enforceable	master	netting	arrangements	or	similar	arrangements	above,	each	agree-
ment	between	the	Group	and	the	counterparty	allows	for	net	settlement	of	the	relevant	financial	assets	when	both	elect	
to	settle	on	a	net	basis.	In	the	absence	of	such	an	election,	financial	assets	will	be	settled	on	a	gross	basis;	however,	each	
party	to	the	master	netting	agreement	or	similar	agreement	will	have	the	option	to	settle	all	such	amounts	on	a	net	basis	
in	the	event	of	default	of	the	other	party.	Per	the	terms	of	each	agreement,	an	event	of	default	includes	failure	by	a	party	
to	make	payment	when	due;	failure	by	a	party	to	perform	any	obligation	required	by	the	agreement	(other	than	payment);	
or	bankruptcy.

14.4   insuRAnCe RisK mAnAgement

The	principal	risk	the	Group	faces	under	insurance	contracts	is	that	the	actual	claims	and	benefit	payments	or	the	timing	
thereof,	differ	from	expectations.	This	is	influenced	by	the	frequency	of	claims,	severity	of	claims,	actual	benefits	paid	and	
subsequent	development	of	long-term	claims.	Therefore,	the	objective	of	the	Group	is	to	ensure	that	sufficient	reserves	
are	available	to	cover	these	liabilities.

The	risk	exposure	is	mitigated	by	diversification	across	a	large	portfolio	of	insurance	contracts.	The	variability	of	risks	is	
monitored	by	careful	selection	and	implementation	of	underwriting	strategy	guidelines,	as	well	as	the	use	of	reinsurance	
arrangements.

The	Group	purchases	reinsurance	as	part	of	its	risk	mitigation	programme.	Reinsurance	ceded	is	placed	on	both	a	propor-
tional	and	non-proportional	basis.	The	majority	of	proportional	reinsurance	is	quota-share	reinsurance	which	is	taken	out	
to	reduce	the	overall	exposure	to	mitigate	both	risk	frequency	and	risk	severity	of	the	Group	to	certain	classes	of	business.	
Non-proportional	 reinsurance	 is	 primarily	 excess-of-loss	 reinsurance	designed	 to	mitigate	 the	Group’s	net	 exposure	 to		
catastrophe	losses.	Retention	limits	for	the	excess-of-loss	reinsurance	vary	by	product	line	and	territory.

amounts	recoverable	from	reinsurers	are	estimated	in	a	manner	consistent	with	the	outstanding	claims	provisions	and	
are	in	accordance	with	the	reinsurance	contracts.	although	the	Group	has	reinsurance	arrangements,	it	is	not	relieved	of	
its	direct	obligations	to	its	policyholders	and	thus	a	credit	exposure	exists	with	respect	to	ceded	insurance	to	the	extent	
that	any	reinsurer	is	unable	to	meet	its	obligations	assumed	under	such	reinsurance	agreements.	The	Group’s	placement	
of	reinsurance	is	diversified	such	that	it	is	neither	dependent	on	a	single	reinsurer	nor	are	the	operations	of	the	Group	
substantially	dependent	upon	any	single	reinsurance	contract.	

For	details	on	insurance	risk	management	policies	of	the	Group’s	insurance	operating	segments,	see	Note	12.

(noTe	14	conTinued)
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 15  PoSt-EMPLoYMEnt BEnEfit LiABiLitY

The	Group	operates	 a	post-employment	medical	 benefit	plan	 in	Bermuda	which	provides	medical	 benefits	 to	 eligible		
retired	employees	and	their	spouses.	The	amount	of	benefits	provided	depends	on	future	cost	escalation	and	the	company	
meets	the	benefit	payment	obligation	as	it	falls	due.	actuarial	valuation	to	determine	the	defined	benefit	obligation	is	
performed	quarterly.

The	plan	exposes	the	Group	to	actuarial	risks,	such	as	longevity	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	market	risk	and	health	care	cost	
inflation	risks.

Responsibility	for	governance	of	the	plan	lies	with	the	company.	Risks	are	managed	through	plan	design	and	eligibility	
changes,	which	limit	the	size	and	growth	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation.	

The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	liability	is	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year					 4,524					 4,078

Movements	during	the	year	recognised	in	Operating	expense:
	 current	service	cost					 106					 126
	 Interest	cost	on	benefit	liability					 192					 159

	 	 	 298	 				285

Remeasurement	during	the	year	included	in	Other	comprehensive	income:
	 actuarial	(gain)/loss	arising	from
	 	 –	experience	adjustment								 (492)					 263
Benefit	payments	 (112)	 (102)

balance,	end	oF	year					 4,218					 4,524

as	at	March	31,	2014,	the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	was	comprised	of	$2.1	million	relating	to	active	
employees	and	$2.1	million	relating	to	members	in	retirement.

components	of	the	change	in	benefit	liabilities	year	on	year	and	other	employee	future	benefit	expense	are	as	follows:

(i)		 current	service	cost	represents	benefits	earned	in	the	current	year.	These	are	determined	with	reference	to	the	cur-
rent	workforce	eligible	for	benefits	and	the	amount	of	benefits	to	which	they	will	be	entitled	upon	retirement,	based	
on	the	provisions	of	the	Group’s	benefit	plan.

(ii)		 Interest	cost	on	the	benefit	liability	represents	the	increase	in	the	liability	that	results	from	the	passage	of	time.

(iii)		 Each	quarter	the	actuaries	recalculate	the	benefit	liability	and	compare	it	to	that	estimated	as	at	the	prior	period	end.	
any	differences	resulting	from	changes	in	assumptions,	or	from	plan	experience	being	different	from	expectations	of	
management	at	the	previous	year	end,	are	considered	actuarial	gains	or	losses.	

The	significant	actuarial	assumptions	in	measuring	the	Group’s	accrued	benefit	liability	are	estimated	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Discount	rate	 	 	 	 	 4.3%	 4.0%
healthcare	cost	trend	rate	 	 	 	 	 7.5%	 7.5%

The	discount	rate	assumption	has	a	significant	impact	on	the	value	of	the	obligation.	a	one	percent	increase	in	this	rate	
would	reduce	the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	by	$524,000	(2013	–	$600,000).
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healthcare	cost	calculations	are	based	on	trend	rate	assumptions	which	may	differ	from	actual	results.	changes	in	trend	
rate	assumptions	by	one	percent	in	either	direction	will	change	the	healthcare	cost	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 2014	 2013	

	 increase		 decrease	 Increase	 Decrease

aggregate	of	current	service	cost	and	interest	cost	 	 19	 (16)	 23	 (20)
accrued	benefit	liability	 	 626	 (504)	 693	 (575)

The	methods	and	types	of	assumptions	used	in	preparing	the	sensitivity	analysis	did	not	change	compared	to	the	previous	
year.

16  inSuRAnCE BALAnCES PAYABLE

Insurance	balances	payable	is	comprised	of:

March	31,	2014	 	 insured	 	 property		 		
	 	 employee	 life	and	 and	 		
	 	 benefits	 pensions	 casualty	 Total

Due	to	policyholders,	agents	and	brokers	 	 104	 3,916	 1,621	 5,641

Due	to	reinsurers	 	 2,073	 1,189	 2,360	 5,622

Deferred	commission	income	 	 -	 -	 2,922	 2,922

ToTal	insurance	balances	payable	 	 2,177	 5,105	 6,903	 14,185

MaRch	31,	2013	 	 Insured	 	 Property		 		
	 	 employee	 Life	and	 and	 		
	 	 benefits	 pensions	 casualty	 Total

Due	to	policyholders,	agents	and	brokers	 	 98	 1,045	 2,999	 4,142

Due	to	reinsurers	 	 758	 1,172	 2,265	 4,195

Deferred	commission	income	 	 -	 -	 2,435	 2,435

TOTaL	INSURaNcE	BaLaNcES	PayaBLE	 	 856	 2,217	 7,699	 10,772

a	reconciliation	of	the	change	in	deferred	commission	income	is	shown	below:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 	 	 2,435	 2,472
Deferral	during	the	year	 	 	 	 11,642	 11,520
Income	for	the	year	 	 	 	 (11,207)	 (11,531)
Foreign	exchange	rate	movements	 	 	 	 52	 (26)

balance,	end	oF	year	 	 	 	 2,922	 2,435
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17 gRouP CoMPoSition

17.1  list oF signiFiCAnt subsidiARies	 	 	 	 	

The	table	below	provides	details	of	the	major	operating	subsidiaries	which	are	directly	and	indirectly	held	by	the	company:
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 %	of	ownership
	 country	of		 	 	 interest	held	by
	 incorporation	and		 	 %	of	ownership	 non-controlling
name	 place	of	business	 nature	of	business	 interest	held		 interests	

	 2014	&	2013	 2014	&	2013

aFL	Investments	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Investment	management	services	 	 60%	 	 40%

argus	Insurance	company	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Property	and	casualty	insurance:	
	 	 	 	 home	and	commercial	property,		
	 	 	 	 contractors’	all	risks,	liability,	marine,		
	 	 	 	 motor	and	employer’s	indemnity		 	 100%	 		 -			

argus	Insurance	company	(Europe)	Limited	 	 Gibraltar	 Property	and	casualty	insurance:	
	 	 	 	 home	and	commercial	property,	
	 	 	 	 contractors’	all	risks,	liability,	
	 	 	 	 marine	and	motor	 	 100%	 		 -			

argus	International	Life	Bermuda	Limited	(1)	 	 Bermuda	 Individual	life	and	annuities	 	 100%	 	 	-			

argus	International	Life	Insurance	Limited	(1)	 	 Bermuda	 Individual	life	and	annuities	 	 74%	 	 26%

argus	International	Management	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 company	management	 	 100%	 		 -			

argus	Investment	Nominees	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Nominee	company	 	 60%	 		 40%			

argus	Management	Services	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Financial	and	general	
	 	 	 	 management	services	 	 100%	 		 -			

Bermuda	Life	Insurance	company	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Pensions,	group	life	and	long-term	
	 	 	 	 disability	insurance,	individual	life	
	 	 	 	 and	annuities,	group	and	individual	
	 	 	 	 health	insurance		 	 100%	 		 -			

Bermuda	Life	Worldwide	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Individual	life	and	annuities	 	 100%	 		 -			

centurion	Insurance	Services	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Insurance	agent	and	licensed	broker	 	 100%	 		 -			

argus	Insurance	agencies	Limited
(formerly	Fogg	Insurance	agencies	Limited)	 		 Malta	 Insurance	agency		 	 100%	 		 -			

Trott	Property	Limited	 	 Bermuda	 Property	holding	company	 	 100%	 		 -			

Westmed	Insurance	Services	Limited	 	 Gibraltar	 Insurance	agent	and	licensed	broker	 	 100%	 		 -

(1)	argus	International	Life	Bermuda	Limited	also	owns	100%	of	argus	International	Life	Insurance	Limited’s	preference	shares.	 	 	 	 	 	
	
all	subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	Group	consolidated	financial	statements.	The	Group’s	voting	rights	percentages	are	the	
same	as	the	ownership	percentages.

On	March	31,	2013,	Somers	Isles	Insurance	company	Limited	amalgamated	with	Bermuda	Life	Insurance	company	Limited.	

17.2  signiFiCAnt RestRiCtions

The	Group	does	not	have	significant	restrictions	on	its	ability	to	access	or	use	its	assets	and	settle	its	liabilities	other	than	
those	resulting	from	the	regulatory	requirements	within	the	jurisdiction	in	which	they	operate.	See	Note	14.2.2.

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	insurance	subsidiaries’	General	Fund	assets	and	General	Fund	Liabilities	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

General	fund	assets	 	 	 	 	 389,838	 389,673
General	fund	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 308,254	 319,320
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17.3  involvement with unConsolidAted stRuCtuRed entities

The	Group	acts	as	investment	manager	to	an	investment	fund	which	is	a	structured	entity	not	consolidated	by	the	Group	
(the	Fund).	a	structured	entity	is	an	entity	that	has	been	designed	so	that	voting	or	similar	rights	are	not	the	dominant																																	
factor	 in	deciding	who	controls	 the	entity,	 such	as	when	any	voting	rights	 relate	 to	administrative	 tasks	only,	and	the		
relevant	activities	are	directed	by	means	of	contractual	arrangements.	

In	its	capacity	as	investment	manager	to	the	Fund,	the	Group	earned	$3.7	million	of	investment	management	fees	income	
during	the	year	(2013	–	$3.0	million).	although	the	Group	has	power	to	govern	the	Fund’s	financial	and	operating	policies	
by	virtue	of	the	investment	management	contract,	it	does	not	have	significant	variable	returns	from	the	Fund.	accordingly,	
the	Fund	was	not	consolidated	as	part	of	the	Group.

The	table	below	presents	summary	financial	information	of	the	Fund	and	the	Group’s	investment	and	maximum	exposure	
to	loss	related	to	the	Fund	as	at	March	31,	2014:

	 	 	 	 argus		 Maximum
	 	 	 	 investments	 exposure
	 assets	 liabilities	 equity		 (1)	&	(3)	 to	loss	(2)

Investment	fund	 520,856		 1,103		 519,753	 	28,283		 	28,283	

(1)		These	investments	are	shown	under	Investment	at	FVTPL	in	Note	3.2.	 	 	 	 	
(2)		The	Group’s	maximum	exposure	to	loss	is	limited	to	amounts	invested	in	the	Fund.	The	maximum	loss	is	expected	to	occur	only	upon	bankruptcy	of	the	Fund.
(3)		The	following	amounts	are	excluded	from	the	above	table	as	the	Group	does	not	bear	the	risks	and	rewards	from	these	Funds:

				 •		Segregated	Funds	–	$465.1	million
	 	 The	contractual	arrangements	under	Segregated	Funds	are	such	that	the	Segregated	Fund	policyholder	bears	the	risk	and	rewards	of	the	Fund’s	investment	perfor-	
	 	 mance.	Refer	to	Note	28	for	Segregated	Funds	disclosures.

	·				•		Funds	held	by	third	parties	–	$26.4	million	

18 DiViDEnDS

FOR	ThE	yEaR	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014	

	 per	share	amount		 amount	of	dividends	 record	date	 payment	date

Interim	dividend	 0.06	 1,290	 July	15,	2013	 September	9,	2013
Final	dividend	 0.06	 1,290	 January	15,	2014	 February	28,	2014

	 0.12	 2,580	 	
	 	 	 	

at	the	company’s	annual	general	meeting	on	September	27,	2013,	shareholders	approved	the	introduction	of	a	Dividend	
Reinvestment	Plan	through	which	shareholders	can	make	a	revocable	election	to	reinvest	cash	dividends	by	purchasing	
additional	shares	on	the	dividend	payment	date.	

as	a	result	of	the	Dividend	Reinvestment	Plan,	the	company	issued	$13,996	of	share	capital	during	the	year.	The	cash	
value	of	residual	fractional	amounts	not	reinvested	is	$216	and	is	shown	under	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities.	
This	amount	will	be	carried	forward	and	combined	with	subsequent	dividend	payments.

19 EARningS PER SHARE

The	following	table	reflects	the	net	earnings	and	share	data	used	in	the	basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	computations:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 		 	2014	 2013

Net	earnings	for	the	year	 	 13,245					 	12,839

Weighted	average	outstanding	common	shares	 	 21,044				 	21,001

common	shares	and	common	share	equivalents	 	 21,056				 		21,001
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20  nEt CHAngE in unEARnED PREMiuMS

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Gross	change	in	unearned	premiums	 	 	 80	 	1,868
change	in	unearned	premiums	on	premiums	ceded	 	 	 (780)	 	(658)	

neT	chanGe	in	unearned	preMiuMs	 	 	 (700)				 1,210

21  REinSuRAnCE RECoVERiES

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

claims	and	adjustment	expenses	recovered	from	reinsurers	 	 	 9,078	 	4,487
Policy	benefits	recovered	from	reinsurers	 	 	 2,545	 	1,403

ToTal	reinsurance	recoveries	 	 	 11,623				 	5,890

 22 nEt CHAngE in ContRACt LiABiLitiES

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Gross	change	in	contract	liabilities:	 	 	 	
Insurance	contracts	 	 	 1,443	 9,731
Investment	contracts	 	 	 137	 (82)

	 	 	 	1,580				 9,649			
change	in	reinsurers’	share	of	claims	provisions:	 	 	 	
Insurance	contract	liabilities	 	 	 342	 (2,595)

neT	chanGe	in	conTracT	liabiliTies	 	 	 1,922				 7,054

 23 CoMMiSSionS, MAnAgEMEnt fEES AnD otHER

commissions,	management	fees	and	other	income	recognised	during	the	year	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Policyholder	administration	 	 	 16,607	 15,378
Investment	management	services	 	 	 4,802	 4,832
Reinsurance	commission	income	 	 	 9,641	 11,446
Other	income	 	 	 172	 207

ToTal	coMMissions,	ManaGeMenT	Fees	and	oTher	 	 	 31,222				 31,863	

 24 oPERAting ExPEnSES

Operating	expenses	incurred	during	the	year	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Employee	benefits	expense	(see	table	below)	 	 	 26,139	 25,477
Professional	fees	 	 	 3,814	 4,315
Marketing	expenses	 	 	 1,408	 1,100
IT	related	expenses	 	 	 2,444		 2,812
Building	related	expenses	 	 	 2,916	 2,874
General	and	corporate	expenses	 	 	 2,194	 3,364
Other	expenses	 	 	 3,664	 3,787

ToTal	operaTinG	expenses	 	 	 42,579				 43,729			
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Employee	benefits	expense	during	the	year	is	comprised	of:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 Note	 	 2014	 2013

Salaries	and	other	short-term	benefits	 	 	 24,520	 	24,014
Pension	costs	(1)		 	 	 1,346	 1,236
Post-employment	medical	benefits	 15	 	 186	 	183
Stock-based	compensation	 25	 	 87	 44

ToTal	eMployee	beneFiTs	expense	 	 	 26,139				 25,477

(1)		Pension	costs	arise	from	the	Group’s	defined	contribution	pension	plan	covering	all	full-time	employees	in	Bermuda	and	Gibraltar.

25 StoCK–BASED CoMPEnSAtion

as	at	March	31,	2014,	the	Group	has	two	stock-based	compensation	plans,	which	are	described	below.	

25.1  stoCK option plAn

Under	the	Group’s	2004	Stock	Option	Plan,	options	were	granted	to	key	management	employees	at	exercise	prices	not	
less	than	the	fair	market	value	of	the	Group’s	shares	on	the	date	the	option	was	granted.	Options	become	exercisable	at	
the	rate	of	25	percent	per	year	commencing	one	year	after	the	date	of	grant	and	options	not	exercised	lapse	ten	years	
after	the	date	of	grant.	The	consideration	paid	by	employees	on	exercise	of	share	options	is	credited	to	Share	capital	and	
contributed	surplus	on	the	consolidated	Balance	Sheet.	Shares	under	option	and	option	prices	per	share	are	adjusted	
for	all	stock	dividends	declared	subsequent	to	the	date	of	grant.	The	fair	value	of	these	awards	is	recognised	over	the	
applicable	vesting	period	as	Employee	benefits	expense	and	contributed	surplus.	The	fair	value	of	options	on	the	date	of	
grant	was	determined	using	the	Black-Scholes	option	pricing	model.

at	the	annual	General	Meeting	of	Shareholders	held	on	July	26,	2007,	the	Directors	were	granted	authority	to	cease	
issuing	further	stock	options	under	the	Group’s	2004	Stock	Option	Plan	and,	in	its	stead,	adopted	the	2007	Restricted	
Stock	Plan	as	described	 in	Note	25.2	below.	Stock	options	granted	prior	 to	 this	date	 remain	valid	and	the	 terms	and	
conditions	of	the	2004	Stock	Option	Plan	continue	to	apply	thereto	until	expiration.	There	have	been	no	stock	options	
granted	since	2007.

The	following	table	summarises	the	activity	under	the	Group’s	stock	option	plan:

	 FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013	

	 	 	 		Total	number		 Weighted		 Total	number		 Weighted
	 	 	 		 of	shares		 average		 of	shares	 	average

	 	 	 		under	option	 	exercise	price		 under	option	 	exercise	price

Outstanding,	beginning	of	year	 	 245,927	 $9.28		 362,952	 $8.90	
changes	during	the	year:	 	
Expired																												 	 (44,401)	 $5.95	 (59,617)	 $7.20
Forfeited	 	 -	 -	 (57,408)	 $12.06

ouTsTandinG	and	exercisable,	end	oF	year	 	 201,526	 $10.02	 245,927	 $9.28

The	weighted	average	remaining	contractual	 life	of	options	outstanding	 is	1.3	years	 (2013	–	1.9	years).	The	range	of	
fair	values	of	options	outstanding	is	$2.16	to	$5.17.	The	Groups’s	stock	options	were	fully	vested	on	March	31,	2011.	

The	characteristics	as	at	March	31,	2014,	of	options	granted	in	earlier	years	are	as	follows:

	 Number	of		Shares	
Fiscal	year	 Exercise	price	 Outstanding								Exercisable

2005	 									$8.95	 62,435	 62,435	
2006	 									$9.04	 65,030	 65,030	
2007	 									$11.78	 74,061	 74,061

	 $10.02	 201,526	 			201,526
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25.2  RestRiCted stoCK plAn	

The	2007	Restricted	Stock	Plan	expired	in	July	2012,	and	was	replaced	at	the	annual	General	Meeting	of	Shareholders	
held	on	September	7,	2012,	with	the	2012	Restricted	Stock	Plan.

The	purpose	of	the	Restricted	Stock	Plans	is	to	enhance	the	Group’s	ability	to	attract	and	retain	the	services	of	certain	key	
employees	and	to	incentivise	such	persons	to	devote	their	utmost	effort	and	skill	to	the	growth	of	the	Group	by	provid-
ing	them	with	an	interest	in	its	long-term	growth	and	stability.	Under	each	of	the	Restricted	Stock	Plans,	the	maximum	
number	of	shares	that	may	be	granted	is	250,000	over	the	five-year	life	of	each	plan.	

Shares	are	granted	unvested	and	vest	at	the	rate	of	33	1/3	percent	at	the	end	of	each	year	for	three	years	after	the	date	
of	grant.	The	fair	value	of	each	share	granted	is	based	upon	the	market	price	at	the	date	of	grant.

The	details	on	shares	granted	and	forfeited	during	the	year	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014	 2013

Number	of	shares	granted		 50,200		 	47,300
Fair	value	per	share	 $4.00		 	$3.75	
Number	of	shares	forfeited	 3,067	 900
	

The	following	table	summarises	information	about	the	outstanding	stock	grants:

Restricted	shares	vesting	 	 	 Number	of	shares

June	2014	 	 	 	 14,967
October	2014	 	 	 	 16,433
June	2015	 	 	 	 13,900
October	2015	 	 	 	 16,433
October	2016	 	 	 	 16,433

ToTal	 	 	 	 			78,166

 26 RELAtED PARtY tRAnSACtionS

all	related	party	transactions	were	conducted	in	the	normal	course	of	business.

26.1   tRAnsACtions with signiFiCAntly inFluenCed investees

26.1.1	 The	Group	provided	insurance-related	products	and	services	to	various	significantly	influenced	investees.	The	
premiums	and	 fees	 received	 from	these	 transactions	 totalled	$736,000	 in	 the	year	and	are	 shown	as	Gross	premium	
written	and	commission,	management	fees	and	other	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	(2013	–	$634,000).

Receivables	and	payables	arising	from	insurance	contracts	and	service	contracts	with	the	significantly	influenced	investees	
are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014	 2013

Insurance	balances	receivable	 25		 	31
(Payable	to)/Receivable	from	self-funded	group	health	policies	(1)	 (79)		 	279	
accounts	receivable/(payable)	arising	from	administration	of	the	defined	benefit	pension	plans	(2)	 58	 (5)

(1)	Included	in	Other	assets/(Investment	contract	liabilities)
(2)	Included	in	Other	assets/(accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities)

26.1.2	 	The	Group	rented	office	premises	from	a	significantly	influenced	investee	paying	a	total	of	$329,000	in	rent	
and	service	charges	 in	the	year	which	are	shown	 in	Operating	expenses	 in	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	
(2013	–	$329,000).

26.1.3	 	The	Group	received	facilities	management	services	from	a	significantly	 influenced	investee	for	the	consider-
ation	amount	of	$1.3	million	which	is	shown	net	of	 Investment	income	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	
(2013	–	$1.1	million).
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26.2  CompensAtion oF Key mAnAgement peRsonnel

Key	management	personnel	have	been	identified	as	the	Board	of	Directors	and	Officers	of	the	company.	These	individuals	
have	the	authority	and	responsibility	for	planning,	directing	and	controlling	the	activities	of	the	Group.	The	summary	of	
compensation	of	key	management	personnel	for	the	year	is	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Salaries	and	other	short-term	benefits	 	 	 2,270	 2,242
Post-employment	benefits	(1)	 	 	 113	 117
Stock-based	compensation	 	 	 12	 6

ToTal	Key	ManaGeMenT	personnel	coMpensaTion	 	 	 2,395	 				2,365	

(1)	Includes	pension	costs	and	post-employment	medical	benefits

26.3  diReCtoRs’ And oFFiCeRs’ shARe inteRests And seRviCe ContRACts

The	total	interests	of	all	Directors	and	Officers	of	the	company	in	the	shares	of	the	company	at	March	31,	2014,	was	
372,814	shares.

With	the	exception	of	the	employment	contract	with	the	chief	Executive	Officer,	Ms.	a.	S.	hill,	and	a	consultancy	agree-
ment	with	a	non-executive	director,	there	were	no	other	service	contracts	with	the	Directors	during	the	year.

27 inCoME tAxES

bermuda
Group	entities	domiciled	in	Bermuda	received	an	undertaking	from	the	Bermuda	government	exempting	these	companies	
from	all	Bermuda	local	income,	withholding	and	capital	gains	taxes	until	2016.	at	the	present	time	no	such	taxes	are	levied	
in	Bermuda.

europe
Subsidiaries	domiciled	in	Gibraltar	are	subject	to	normal	Gibraltar	corporation	tax	at	a	rate	of	10	percent	on	all	taxable	
profits.

The	subsidiary	domiciled	in	Malta	is	subject	to	normal	Malta	corporation	tax	at	a	rate	of	35	percent	on	all	taxable	profits.

u.s.
argus	International	Life	Insurance	Limited	(aILIL),	a	Bermuda	domiciled	subsidiary,	has	elected	under	section	953(d)	of	the	
U.S.	Internal	Revenue	code	(IRc)	to	be	taxed	as	a	U.S.	domestic	corporation.	aILIL	is	subject	to	the	U.S.	marginal	corporate	
income	tax	rate	of	34	percent.

27.1  inCome tAxes FoR the yeAR

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Income	taxes	for	the	year	 	 	 	 	 61	 8
adjustments	in	respect	of	prior	year	income	taxes	 	 	 	 	 (1)	 -

Total	current	income	taxes	 	 	 	 	 60	 8
Deferred	taxes		 	 	 	 	 -	 -

ToTal	incoMe	Taxes	 	 		 	 	 60				 	8			
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27.2  CuRRent inCome tAxes ReConCiliAtion	 	 	

Tax	applying	the	statutory	domestic	income	tax	rate	and	the	tax	charge	for	the	year	are	reconciled	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Earnings	before	income	taxes	 	 	 	 13,710	 13,197
Less:	Earnings	not	subject	to	taxes	 	 	 	 13,465	 16,234

earninGs/(loss)	subjecT	To	Taxes	 	 	 	 245				 (3,037)	

Income	taxes	at	the	application	rate	 	 	 	 (65)	 (379)
Tax	effect	of:	 	 	 	
	 Expenses	not	deductible	for	tax	purposes	 	 	 	 8	 20
	 Difference	between	depreciation	and	capital	allowances	 	 	 	 26	 30
	 Income	not	taxable	 	 	 	 (33)	 (140)
	 Effect	of	tax	losses	 	 	 	 -	 371
	 adjustments	to	tax	charge	in	respect	of	previous	period	 	 	 	 (1)	 -
	 Unrecognised	temporary	difference	 	 	 	 125	 106

ToTal	currenT	incoMe	Taxes	 	 	 	 60				 	8	
	 	
27.3  deFeRRed tAxes
	 	 	

	 	 	 Foreign		
	 	 March	31	 exchange	 MaRch	31
	 	 2014	 adjustment	 2013

Deferred	tax	liability	arising	on	Property	and	equipment	(1)	 (11)	 (1)	 (10)

neT	deFerred	Taxes	 (11)				 	(1)	 (10)	

(1)	Included	in	Taxes	payable	 	
	 	 Foreign		
	 	 	 March	31	 exchange	 March	31
	 	 	 2013	 adjustment	 2012

Deferred	tax	liability	arising	on	Property	and	equipment	(1)	 (10)	 1	 (11)

NET	DEFERRED	TaxES	 (10)				 	1	 (11)	

(1)	Included	in	Taxes	payable		
	 	
27.4  unReCognised deFeRRed tAx Assets	 	 	

as	at	March	31,	2014,	the	Group	has	net	operating	loss	carryforwards	of	$4.3	million	originating	in	2007	through	2014.	
Of	the	total	net	operating	loss	carryforwards	of	the	Group,	$724,000	is	subject	to	limitations	under	IRc	section	382.

$3.9	million	of	the	Group’s	net	operating	loss	carryforwards	will	expire	in	2027	through	2033	under	the	current	U.S.	tax	
legislation.	The	remaining	$443,000	do	not	expire	under	the	current	Malta	tax	legislation.

The	unrecognised	benefit	related	to	the	net	operating	loss	carryforwards,	capital	allowances	carried	forward	and	deduct-
ible	temporary	differences	are	included	in	the	table	below.

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 	 2014	 2013

Tax	losses	carried	forward	 1,473	 1,358
capital	allowances	carried	forward	 52	 23
Deductible	temporary	differences	 19	 29

neT	unrecoGnised	deFerred	Tax	asseTs	 1,544				 	1,410
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28 SEgREgAtED funDS AnD SEPARAtE ACCountS

The	 assets	 for	 contracts	 held	 under	 the	 Segregated	 Funds	 are	 allocated	 to	 Separate	 accounts	 as	 authorised	 by	 the	
Bermuda	Life	Insurance	company	Limited	(Separate	accounts)	consolidation	and	amendment	act	1998	and	the	argus	
International	Life	Insurance	Limited	consolidation	and	amendment	act	2008.

	 changes	to	Segregated	Funds	and	a	summary	of	the	investments	held	therein	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014	 2013

additions	to	segregated	Funds	 	
Premiums,	contributions	and	transfers			 						260,709	 238,200
Net	investment	income			 		5,326	 4,520
Net	increase/(decrease)	in	fair	value	of	investments			 	106,246	 146,986
Segregated	funds	acquired	 	472	 151

	 			 	 372,753							389,857	

deductions	from	segregated	Funds
Withdrawals,	benefit	payments	and	transfers	to	the	General	Fund	 	178,228	 234,276	
Operating	expenses			 	13,392		 13,589

	 			 	 191,620		 247,865

net	additions	to	segregated	Funds	for	the	year			 181,133		 141,992
segregated	Funds,	beginning	of	year		 1,476,685	 1,334,693

seGreGaTed	Funds,	end	oF	year			 1,657,818	 1,476,685

consisting	of:
	 segregated	funds	with	a	guaranteed	return	 	 		
			Bonds	 143,570	 140,575

ToTal	seGreGaTed	Funds	WiTh	a	GuaranTeed	reTurn	 143,570	 140,575

segregated	funds	without	a	guaranteed	return	 	 		
			Bonds	 89,559	 22,114
	 Stocks	and	other	investments	 1,251,409	 1,093,386
	 Policy	loans	 106,012	 106,931
	 cash	and	short-term	investments	 65,985		 111,865
	 Other	assets	 	1,283		 1,814

ToTal	seGreGaTed	Funds	WiThouT	a	GuaranTeed	reTurn	 1,514,248	 1,336,110

ToTal	seGreGaTed	Funds			 1,657,818	 1,476,685
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 29 oPERAting SEgMEntS	

Transactions	between	segments	are	executed	and	priced	on	an	arm’s-length	basis	in	a	manner	similar	to	transactions	with	
third	parties.	These	transactions	consist	primarily	of	rental	and	internal	financing	agreements	and	insurance	contracts.	
Inter-segment	income	has	been	omitted	in	the	following	table	as	immaterial.

29.1  Results by segment	 	

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 		 	 Property	 	 	
	 	 	 	 Group	 Life	and	 and	
	 	 	 	 insurance	 pensions	 casualty	 all	other		 	Total

Segment	operating	revenues		 2014	 103,017	 18,115	 29,733	 4,671	 155,536	
	 			 2013	 103,541	 15,954	 30,606	 4,960	 155,061

Investment	income	 2014	 306	 5,391	 1,151	 39	 6,887
	 			 2013	 1,265	 12,744	 3,083	 (1,293)	 15,799

Share	of	earnings	of	associates		 2014	 -	 218	 -	 516	 734
	 			 2013	 -	 413	 -	 301	 714

ToTal	seGMenT	revenues		 2014	 103,323	 23,724	 30,884	 5,226	 163,157
	 			 2013	 104,806	 29,111	 33,689	 3,968	 171,574

amortisation,		 2014	 555	 1,809	 2,257	 2,106	 6,727
depreciation	and	impairment	 2013	 1,189	 1,764	 2,312	 1,562	 6,827

Income	tax	expense	 2014	 -	 -	 60	 -	 60	
	 			 2013	 -	 -	 8	 -	 8

Reportable	segment
	 earnings/(loss)	attributable	 2014	 18,747	 (3,154)	 3,449	 (5,797)	 13,245
	 to	shareholders,	after	tax	 2013	 14,900	 969	 2,368	 (5,398)	 12,839

GeoGraphic	inForMaTion	on	seGMenT	revenues:

	 	 	 	 	 	

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 Bermuda	 Europe	 Total

Segment	revenues		 2014	 146,836	 16,321	 163,157
	 	 2013	 154,429	 17,145	 171,574	
	 	 	

	Management	considers	its	external	customers	to	be	the	individual	policyholders	and	as	such,	the	Group	is	not	reliant	on	
any	individual	customer.

29.2  Assets And liAbilities by segment:	 	 	

	 	 	 		 	 Property	 	 	
	 	 	 Group	 Life	and	 and	 	 		
	 	 	 insurance	 pensions	 casualty	 all	other	 Total

March	31,	2014:	
Total	General	Fund	assets	 	 	 19,626		 274,026			 96,186		 40,252	 430,090	
Segregated	Fund	assets	 	 	 -		 1,657,818			 -		 -	 1,657,818
Total	General	Fund	Liabilities	 	 	 26,676		 235,950			 45,628		 13,540	 321,794	
Segregated	Fund	Liabilities	 	 	 -		 1,657,818			 -		 -	 1,657,818

MaRch	31,	2013:	
Total	General	Fund	assets	 	 	 26,327		 295,162			 68,184		 41,718	 431,391
Segregated	Fund	assets	 	 	 -		 1,476,685			 -		 -	 1,476,685
Total	General	Fund	Liabilities	 	 	 22,570		 250,137			 46,613		 16,223	 335,543
Segregated	Fund	Liabilities	 	 	 -		 1,476,685			 -		 -	 1,476,685	
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30 CoMPonEntS of ACCuMuLAtED otHER CoMPREHEnSiVE LoSS

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 2014	 2013

Remeasurement	of	post-employment	medical	benefit	obligation	 (1,889)	 (225)
available-for-sale	investments	 249	 	(1,057)	
Investment	in	associates	 (1,090)	 (1,919)
Translation	of	financial	statements	of	foreign	operations	 (1,090)	 (2,232)	

ToTal	accuMulaTed	oTher	coMprehensive	loss	 (3,820)				 	(5,433)

	

31 CoMMitMEntS AnD ContingEnCiES

31.1  opeRAting leAses

31.1.1	 Group	as	a	lessor

The	Group	has	entered	into	non-cancellable	commercial	property	leases	on	several	floors	of	the	Group’s	office	buildings.	
These	leases	have	remaining	terms	of	between	one	and	four	years.	all	leases	include	a	clause	to	enable	upward	revision	of	
the	rental	charge	on	an	annual	basis	according	to	prevailing	market	conditions.

Future	annual	minimum	lease	rentals	receivable	under	non-cancellable	operating	leases	as	at	March	31,	2014,	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Within	one	year	 	 	 1,737	 1,660
after	one	year	but	not	more	than	five	years	 	 	 3,194	 2,019

31.1.2	 Group	as	a	lessee

The	Group	has	entered	into	commercial	leases	on	office	spaces.	These	leases	have	remaining	terms	of	between	one	and	
seven	years.	certain	leases	have	a	renewal	option	included	in	the	contracts.	There	are	no	restrictions	placed	upon	the	Group	
by	entering	into	the	leases.

During	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014	and	2013,	an	amount	of	$1.9	million	and	$1.8	million	respectively,	was	recognised	
in	Operating	expenses	on	the	consolidated	Statement	of	Operations	for	operating	leases.

Future	annual	minimum	rentals	payable	under	non-cancellable	operating	leases	as	at	March	31,	2014,	are	as	follows:

FOR	ThE	yEaRS	ENDED	MaRch	31	 	 	 2014	 2013

Within	one	year	 	 	 769	 722
after	one	year	but	not	more	than	five	years	 	 	 1,549	 1,687	
More	than	five	years	 	 	 399	 709

31.2   ContingenCies

(i)		 	In	May	2009,	the	Group,	Bermuda	Life	 Insurance	company	Limited	and	argus	International	Life	Bermuda	Limited	
(aILBL)	filed	with	the	Supreme	court	of	Bermuda	a	claim	against	Tremont	Group	holdings	Inc.	(Tremont	Group)	and	
Tremont	(Bermuda)	Limited.	The	Group	bought	Tremont	International	Insurance	Ltd	(TIIL),	from	the	Tremont	Group	
in	December	2006,	 and	 subsequently	 changed	 the	 company’s	name	 to	aILBL.	 The	Group	 continues	 to	pursue	 a	
number	of	claims,	amongst	them	a	claim	for	damages	for	breach	of	warranties	in	the	purchase	agreement	due	to	
the	overstatement	by	the	Tremont	Group	of	the	assets	of	TIIL.

(ii)		 	The	 Group	 is	 contingently	 liable	 with	 respect	 to	 certain	 litigation	 and	 claims	 that	 arise	 in	 the	 normal	 course	 of																										
business.	
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32 CoMPARAtiVE figuRES

certain	of	the	2013	comparative	figures	have	been	reclassified	to	conform	to	the	presentation	adopted	for	2014.

 33 SuBSEQuEnt EVEntS

Based	upon	the	audited	financial	results	of	the	Group	for	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	the	Group	has	declared	an	
interim	dividend	of	seven	cents	per	share	payable	on	September	15,	2014	for	shareholders	of	record	on	august	11,	2014.
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